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FRANCHISE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 
 

 

 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 

A Texas Limited Liability Company 
4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250 

Houston, Texas 77027 
(713) 266-2219 

info@sweetparis.com 
www.sweetparis.com 

 
As a franchisee, you will operate a crêperie & café featuring crêpes, waffles, coffees, and other specialty 
menu items under the name “Sweet Paris.” 

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a franchised Sweet Paris business ranges from 
$819,260928,100 to $1,217,550495,650.  This includes $6260,000 to $7068,300 that must be paid to the 
franchisor or an affiliate.  We may offer to enter into an area development agreement for two or more Sweet 
Paris franchises, under which you will pay us a development rights fee equal to 50% of the initial franchise 
fee due for each Sweet Paris franchise you are granted the right to develop. For each franchised Sweet Paris 
business developed under an area development agreement, the total investment necessary to begin operation 
of a franchised Sweet Paris business ranges from $819,260928,100 to $1,217,550495,650.  This includes 
$6260,000 to $7068,300 that must be paid to the franchisor or an affiliate. 

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information 
in plain English.  Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully.  You must 
receive this disclosure document at least 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or 
make any payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.  Note, 
however, that no governmental agency has verified the information contained in this document.  
 
You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you. To 
discuss the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Scott Haehnel, Sweet Paris Franchise, 
LLC, 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027, (713) 234-6855, scott@sweetparis.com. 
 
The terms of your contract will govern your franchise relationship. Don’t rely on the disclosure document 
alone to understand your contract.  Read all of your contract carefully.  Show your contract and this 
document to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.  
 
Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you 
make up your mind.  More information on franchising, such as ”A Consumer’s Guide to Buying a 
Franchise,” which can help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the 
Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”). You can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the 
FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, D.C. 20580.  You can also visit the FTC’s home page 
at www.ftc.gov for additional information.  Call your state agency or visit your public library for other 
sources of information on franchising.  
 
There may also be laws about franchising in your state.  Ask your state agencies about them.   
 

Issuance date:  April 13, 2023
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How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document 
 

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips on how to 
find more information: 
 

QUESTION WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION  

How much can I earn? Item 19 may give you information about outlet 
sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also try 
to obtain this information from others, like 
current and former franchisees. You can find 
their names and contact information in Item 20. 

How much will I need to invest? Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the 
franchisor or at the franchisor’s direction. Item 7 
lists the initial investment to open. Item 8 
describes the suppliers you must use. 

Does the franchisor have the 
financial ability to provide 
support to my business? 

Item 21 or Exhibit D includes financial 
statements. Review these statements carefully. 

Is the franchise system stable, 
growing, or shrinking? 

Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the 
number of company-owned and franchised 
outlets. 

Will my business be the only 
Sweet Paris business in my 
area? 

Item 12 and the “territory” provisions in the 
franchise agreement describe whether the 
franchisor and other franchisees can compete 
with you. 

Does the franchisor have a 
troubled legal history? 

Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or 
its management have been involved in material 
litigation or bankruptcy proceedings. 

What’s it like to be a Sweet 
Paris franchisee? 

Item 20 lists current and former franchisees. You 
can contact them to ask about their experiences. 

What else should I know? These questions are only a few things you should 
look for. Review all 23 Items and all Exhibits in 
this disclosure document to better understand this 
franchise opportunity. See the table of contents. 
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What You Need To Know About Franchising Generally 

 
Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other fees 
even if you are losing money.  
 
Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor to 
change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes may require 
you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may harm your 
franchise business.  
 
Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or a 
limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more expensive 
than similar items you could buy on your own.  
 
Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a 
similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other restrictions. 
Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to customers, what 
you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.  
 
Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a territory, the 
franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.  
 
Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does, you 
may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order to 
continue to operate your franchise business.  
 
When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating a 
similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obligations to your 
landlord or other creditors.  
 

Some States Require Registration 
 

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors to 
register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not mean that 
the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in this document. To 
find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact your state, use the 
agency information in Exhibit A.  

 
Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amendments be 

made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State Specific Addenda. 
See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific Addenda. 
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Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise 
 

Certain states require that the following risk(s) be highlighted:  
 

1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The franchise agreement requires you to 
resolve disputes with the franchisor by mediation, arbitration and/or 
litigation only in Texas. Out-of-state mediation, arbitration, or litigation 
may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for disputes. It may also 
cost more to mediate, arbitrate, or litigate with the franchisor in Texas than 
in your own state. 

 
2. Short Operating History. The franchisor is at an early stage of 

development and has a limited operating history. This franchise is likely to 
be a riskier investment than a franchise in a system with a longer operating 
history. 
 

3. Financial Condition. The franchisor’s financial condition, as reflected in 
its financial statements (see Item 21), calls into question the franchisor’s 
financial ability to provide services and support to you.   

 
 

Certain states may require other risks to be highlighted. Check the “State Specific 
Addenda” (if any) to see whether your state requires other risks to be highlighted. 
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Item 1 
 

THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES 

The Franchisor 

The franchisor is Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC.  For ease of reference Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 
will be referred to as "Sweet Paris," "we" or "us" in this Disclosure Document.    

We are a Texas limited liability company organized on September 1, 2015.  Except as discussed 
below, we do not have any predecessors.  Our, and our affiliates, principal business address is 4400 Post 
Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027. 

We began franchising Sweet Paris Crêperie & Cafés (each a “Sweet Paris Crêperie”) as of 
January 1, 2017.  We have not owned or operated a business of the type being franchised, although we 
have affiliates that do, as described below. 

 Our agent for service of process is Ivan Chavez with a principal business address of 4400 Post 
Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027.  If we have an agent for service of process in your 
state, we disclose that agent in Exhibit A. 

Parents, Predecessors, and Affiliates 

 We have no parents or predecessors to be disclosed in this Item. 

Our affiliate, Vaquero Foodie, LLC (a Texas limited liability company organized on April 11, 
2011), owns and operates the original Sweet Paris Crêperie located at 2420 Rice Boulevard, Houston, 
Texas 77005, which opened May 2012. 

Our affiliate, Sweet Paris CityCentre LLC (a Texas limited liability company organized on 
February 10, 2014), owns and operates a Sweet Paris Crêperie located at 797 Sorella Court, Houston, 
Texas 77024, which opened January 2015.   

Our affiliate, Sweet Paris College Station, LLC (a Texas limited liability company organized on 
May 8, 2017), owns and operates a Sweet Paris Crêperie located at 143 Century Square Dr, Suite 110, 
College Station, TX 77840, which opened July 13, 2018. 

Our affiliate, Sweet Paris Drexel LLC (a Texas limited liability company organized on November 
1, 2017), owns and operates a Sweet Paris Crêperie located at 2701 Drexel Dr., Houston, TX 77027, 
which opened on December 8, 2018.   

Our affiliate, Sweet Paris Coral Gables, LLC (a Florida limited liability company), owns and 
operates a Sweet Paris Crêperie located at 3005 Ponce de Leon, Suite 142, Coral Gables, Florida 33134, 
which opened on July 2023.   
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In addition, our concept has been licensed to Vidanta Resorts for the operation of a Sweet Paris 
Crêperie in Acapulco, Mexico and Nuevo Vallarta, Nayarit, Mexico. 

Our affiliate, Inverchavez Holding LLC, a Texas limited liability company formed April 9, 2015, 
owns the Marks (as described below) and the proprietary information associated with the Sweet Paris 
Crêperie concept.  This affiliate has licensed the Sweet Paris Marks and proprietary information to us so 
that we may sublicense them to our franchisees.  See Item 13 for additional details. 

 Neither we nor our affiliates have offered franchises in any other line of business or engage in any 
business activities other than those described in this Disclosure Document. 

The Franchise Offered 
 
 We are in the business of franchising Sweet Paris Crêperies.  Each Sweet Paris Crêperie is 
established and operated using the format and system we developed (the “System”), and operate at retail 
locations displaying our interior and exterior trade dress. Sweet Paris Crêperies feature and operate under 
the Marks (as described below), and offer crêpes, waffles, coffees, and other specialty menu items.  Each 
Sweet Paris Crêperie will offer dine-in and carry-out services.  You may offer catering or off-Premises 
services only upon our consent, and you must conduct such services only in accordance with the 
requirements of the Franchise Agreement and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations 
Manual, and only in geographical areas that we designate.  We currently require that you operate the 
Crêperie in accordance with our standards, policies and procedures for a period of 6 months prior to 
requesting our consent to operate a catering service or off-Premises business, provided this requirement is 
subject to modification.  Each Sweet Paris Crêperie is operated using our proprietary recipes, formulae 
and techniques, as well as a variety of non-proprietary food, beverage, and other compatible items that we 
designate from time to time.  All items offered for sale at a Sweet Paris Crêperie are subject to our 
approval.  
 
 Sweet Paris Crêperies are characterized by our System.  Some of the features of our System 
include (a) recipes, standards and specifications for products, equipment, materials, and supplies; (b) 
uniform standards, specifications, and procedures for operations; (c) training and operational assistance; 
and (d) marketing and promotional programs.  We may periodically change and improve the System. 
 
 You must operate your Sweet Paris Crêperie in accordance with our standards and procedures, as 
set out in our Confidential Operations Manual (collectively the “Operations Manual”).  We will lend you 
a copy of the Operations Manual for the duration of the Franchise Agreement (or, at our option, we may 
make these available to you electronically).  In addition, we will grant you the right to use certain marks, 
including the mark “Sweet Paris” and any other trade names and marks that we designate in writing for 
use with the System (the “Marks”).  We may modify the Marks or substitute new Marks.  See Items 13 
and 14 for additional information regarding the Marks and the Operations Manual. 
 
Franchise Agreement 
 

We offer to enter into franchise agreements (the “Franchise Agreement”) (included as Exhibit B 
to this Disclosure Document) with qualified legal entities and persons (“you”) that wish to establish and 
operate Sweet Paris Crêperies.  (In this Disclosure Document, “you” means the person or legal entity 
with whom we enter into an agreement.  The term “you” also refers to the direct and indirect owners of a 
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corporation, partnership, or limited liability company that signs a Franchise Agreement as the 
“franchisee”.)  If you are a corporation, partnership or limited liability company or if the franchise 
agreement is assigned to a corporation, partnership or limited liability company, your principal owners 
will have to guarantee and be bound by the terms of the franchise agreement (See Principal Owner’s 
Guaranty attached to the Franchise Agreement as Exhibit A). 

 Under a Franchise Agreement, we will grant you the right (and you will accept the obligation) to 
operate a Sweet Paris Crêperie at an agreed-upon specified location.  In this Disclosure Document the 
term “Crêperie” means the Sweet Paris Crêperie franchised to you under the Franchise Agreement.  
 
Area Development Agreement 
 
 We may also offer to enter into an area development agreement (the “Area Development 
Agreement”) (included as Exhibit C to this Disclosure Document) with qualified legal entities and 
persons (a “Developer”), which grants the right to establish and operate a specified number of Sweet 
Paris Crêperies in a specified area (the “Development Area”) at specific locations that must be approved 
by us, each under a separate Franchise Agreement. 
 
 We may offer to enter into an Area Development Agreement for the development of two or more 
Sweet Paris Crêperies.  Developers must open each Sweet Paris Crêperie in accordance with an agreed 
upon opening schedule (the “Development Schedule”). The Development Schedule will be set forth in 
Exhibit B of the Area Development Agreement.  The Developer exercises its right to open Sweet Paris 
Crêperies by entering into a separate Franchise Agreement for each business opened. Each Franchise 
Agreement entered into by the Developer will be our then-current form, the terms of which may differ 
from the terms of any Franchise Agreement signed previously. 
 
Competition 
 
 The market for restaurants and cafés, and specifically crêperies, is well-established.  You will 
need to compete with a variety of restaurant concepts.  The restaurant business is highly competitive 
concerning price, service, restaurant location, and food quality, and is often affected by changes in 
consumer tastes, economic conditions, population and traffic patterns.  We compete within each market 
with locally-owned restaurants, as well as with national and regional restaurant chains.  There is also 
active competition for management personnel as well as for attractive commercial real estate sites 
suitable for restaurants. 
 
Industry Specific Regulations 

 
You must comply with all local, state and federal laws that apply to your Sweet Paris Crêperie, 

including health, sanitation, no smoking, EEOC, OSHA, discrimination, employment, and sexual 
harassment laws.  The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 requires readily accessible 
accommodations for disabled people and may affect your building construction, site design, entrance 
ramps, doors, seating, bathrooms, drinking facilities, etc.  You must also obtain real estate permits, 
licenses and operational licenses.  There may be other laws applicable to your business and we urge you 
to make further inquiries about these laws. 
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 Among the other licenses and permits you may need are:  Zoning or Land Use Approvals, Sunday 
Sale Permits, Sales and Use Tax Permits, Special Tax Stamps, Fire Department Permits, Food 
Establishment Permits, Health Permits, Food Handler’s Permit, Alarm Permits, County Occupational 
Permits, Retail Sales Licenses, Wastewater Discharge Permits.  There may be other laws, rules or 
regulations which affect your Sweet Paris Crêperie, including point-of-sale disclosure regarding nutrition 
and dietary characteristics (e.g., calories, fat content, etc.) of the food served at your Sweet Paris 
Crêperie, laws concerning the protection of customers’ credit card numbers and financial data, minimum 
wage and labor laws along with ADA, OSHA and EPA considerations, as well as The Affordable Care 
Act. 
 
 You will be required to obtain all necessary and applicable alcoholic beverage permitting and 
licensing to offer beer, wine and spirits for sale and consumption at your Sweet Paris Crêperie.  You are 
responsible for complying with any federal, state, county, municipal, or other local laws and regulations 
relating to the sale and/or consumption of alcohol and liquor that may apply to your Sweet Paris Crêperie.   
 
 The U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the U.S. Department of Agriculture and state and local 
health departments administer and enforce regulations that govern food preparation and service and 
restaurant sanitary conditions.  State and local agencies inspect stores to ensure that they comply with 
these laws and regulations. 
 
 The federal Clean Air Act and various state laws require certain state and local areas to meet 
national air quality standards limiting emissions of ozone, carbon monoxide and particulate matters, 
including caps on emissions from commercial food preparation.  Some state and local governments have 
also adopted, or are considering proposals, that would regulate indoor air quality, including the limitation 
of smoking tobacco products in public places such as restaurants. 
 
 We are not obligated to provide you with guidance about these laws and regulations and you are 
solely responsible for knowing about and complying with all laws and regulations applicable to your 
Sweet Paris Crêperie.  We recommend that you consult with your attorney for an understanding of these 
laws. 
 
 The United States enacted the “Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate 
Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001” (the “USA Patriot Act”).  We are 
required to comply with the USA Patriot Act.  To help us comply with the USA Patriot Act, we ask you 
in the Franchise Agreement to confirm for us that neither you nor your directors, officers, shareholders, 
partners, members, employees, or agents are suspected terrorists or persons associated with suspected 
terrorists or are under investigation by the U.S. government for criminal activity.  You may review the 
Patriot Act and related regulations at: http://www.treasury.gov/offices/enforcement/ofac/sdn. 
 

Item 2 
 

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE 

Ivan Chavez:  Founder and Manager 
 

Mr. Chavez has been our Manager since our formation and is the founder of the Sweet Paris 
Crêperie concept in Houston, Texas.  He has also been the managing principal of each of our affiliates 
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described in Item 1 since each affiliate’s formation in Houston, Texas. Mr. Chavez handles all areas of 
operations of us and our affiliates. 

 
Allison Chavez:  Manager  
 

Ms. Chavez has been our Manager since our formation in Houston, Texas.  She has acted in the 
same capacity for our affiliates described in Item 1 from February 2014 to the present in Houston, Texas. 

 
Alberto Landero:  Chief Development Officer 
 

Mr. Landero has been our Chief Development Officer since October 2021.  From August 2021 to 
October 2021 he was an Account Executive for Canary Technologies in San Francisco, California.  From 
September 2020 to August 2021 Mr. Landero was a Managing Director for Landest Hospitality, LLC in 
Katy, Texas.  From October 2016 to December 2019 he was Director General and General Manager for 
Grupo Vidanta in Nuevo Vallarta, Mexico. 

 
Scott Haehnel:  Director of Strategic Partnerships 

 
Mr. Haehnel has been our Director of Strategic Partnerships since May 2020 in Houston, Texas.  

From February 2019 to March 2020 he was Director of Franchise Development for Mooyah Franchising 
LLC in Plano, Texas.  From November 2013 to July 2018 Mr. Haehnel was the V.P. of Business 
Development for Eskimo Hut Worldwide LLC in Houston, Texas. 
 
Jonathan Youmans:  Regional Manager, Corporate Trainer and Operations Director 
 

Mr. Youmans has worked for our affiliates in Sweet Paris restaurant operations since August 
2018, and has been our Regional Manager since April 2019 in Houston, Texas.  From August 2012 to 
August 2018 he was a regional trainer for Zoe’s Kitchen concepts in Houston, Texas.  From January 2010 
to August 2018 Mr. Youmans was a corporate trainer for Landry’s Restaurants in Houston, Texas.  
 
Corey Campero:  Corporate Trainer 
 

Mr. Campero has worked for our affiliates in Sweet Paris restaurant operations since August 2015 
in Houston, Texas, including as the General Manager of the Sweet Paris College Station location.  He has 
been our Corporate Trainer since October 2019 in Houston, Texas. 
 

Item 3 
 

LITIGATION 

 No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item. 
 

Item 4 
 

BANKRUPTCY 

 No additional bankruptcy is required to be disclosed in this Item. 
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Item 5 

 
INITIAL FEES 

Franchise Agreement 

You must pay us an initial franchise fee in a lump sum when you sign the Franchise Agreement.  
Our standard initial franchise fee is currently $45,000.  The initial franchise fee is fully earned when paid 
and is not refundable under any circumstances. 

Area Development Agreement 

If you sign a Development Agreement with us, you will pay us a development rights fee in an 
amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the initial franchise fee due for each Crêperie for which you are 
granted the right to develop and open.  You will pay us the development rights fee when you sign the 
Area Development Agreement with us.  We may offer to enter into an Area Development Agreement for 
the development of two or more Sweet Paris Crêperies.  The development rights fee is fully earned upon 
execution of the Area Development Agreement and is not refundable under any circumstances. 

 Other Initial Fees 
 
 We will consult with our architect of choice for the purpose of designing the floorplan, kitchen 
layout and exterior elevations for the Premises of the Creperie, for which services the architect will 
charge and invoice us and we will then pass through this expense to you, which expense you shall pay us 
immediately upon demand, provided we reserve the right to have the architect charge and invoice you 
directly for such services.  You agree to provide us with appropriate plans and/or “as built drawings” of 
the Premises for such purpose.  We will derive no revenue as a result of passing through this expense to 
you.  The current estimate for this expense is $10,000 to $18,300, but will vary and may exceed such 
estimate, and is subject to change.  This amount is included in the estimated architect and engineering 
fees shown in Item 7.  See Item 7, 8 and 11 for more information on costs and the design and construction 
plan process.  This is expense is non-refundable. 
 
 You agree to spend at least $75,000 on Grand Opening Marketing, which amount must be 
deposited with us when you sign the lease or purchase contract for the Premises.  We will spend this 
amount on your behalf, in our sole discretion, toward Grand Open Marketing, including, without 
limitation, the hiring of a professional photographer and a public relations firm designated by us.  
Additional details regarding advertising and promotion can be found in Item 7 and Item 11 under the 
heading “Advertising.” 
 

Except for the above, currently there are no products, services or items required to be purchased 
from us or our affiliates prior to opening, although we may designate ourselves as an exclusive supplier 
of any product or item at any time.  See Item 8 for more information. 
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Item 6 
 

OTHER FEES 

Column 1 

Type of Fee 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Due Date 

Column 4 

Remarks 

Royalty Fee 5% of Gross 
Sales of your 
Crêperie. 

By the third business 
day after the close of 
each week based on 
the Gross Sales for 
that week. 

“Gross Sales” means all revenue 
related to the Crêperie 
(excluding (i) sales taxes 
collected and remitted to the 
proper authorities and (ii) 
refunds, discounts and credits 
made to customers in good faith 
and complimentary products 
given to customers in good faith 
(if those amounts were 
originally included in 
calculating Gross Sales)) 

Marketing Fund 
Contribution 

1% of Gross 
Sales. 

Same time as royalty 
fees. 

We can increase or decrease the 
amount of the contribution.  
However, at no time will your 
contribution exceed 2% of gross 
sales. 

Local 
Advertising 

2% of Gross 
Sales. 

Must be spent 
monthly. 

Any amount that you are 
required to contribute to us 
toward the marketing fund in 
excess of 1% of Gross Sales 
will count toward your local 
advertising expenditure 
obligations.  All materials must 
be submitted to us for our prior 
written approval. 

Local and 
Regional 
Advertising 
Cooperatives 

0% to 2% of 
Gross Sales. 

As required by the 
cooperative. 

Any contributions will count 
toward your local advertising 
expenditure obligations (see 
above).     
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Late Payments Highest 
applicable 
legal rate for 
open account 
business or if 
there is no 
maximum, 
1.5% per 
month. 

From the date 
payments are due. 

Charged on any late payments 
of royalty fees, marketing fund 
contributions, amounts due for 
product purchases or any other 
amounts due us or our affiliates. 

Opening 
Assistance 
Rescheduling 
Fee 

$500.  Upon demand. We provide you with 1 or more 
representatives from our staff 
for up to 21 days at the Crêperie 
to assist you in the opening of 
the Crêperie.  In the event you 
reschedule the opening of the 
Crêperie after we have 
scheduled our representative(s) 
to assist you with the opening, 
you agree to pay us a 
rescheduling fee equal to $500.   

Additional 
Opening 
Assistance 

$500 each 
extra day of 
assistance, and 
our per-diem 
charges, 
which are 
currently:  
travel costs, 
rental cars, 
lodging 
expenses, 
$150 per day 
per trainer and 
$30 per day 
per trainer for 
meals.  

Upon demand. In the event we extend the 21 
days of opening assistance as a 
result of you not being 
satisfactorily prepared to open 
the Crêperie (as we determined 
in our sole discretion) or upon 
your request, you must pay us 
this fee, per diem charges and 
expenses.   
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Additional on-
site training and 
assistance 

Our per-diem 
charge (which 
is currently 
$500.00, plus 
our out-of-
pocket costs), 
per trainer.  

Upon demand. If we determine, in our sole 
discretion, that your 
management team is in need of 
additional on-site supervision or 
supplemental training, we may 
require that you receive such 
training from us at the Crêperie, 
in which case you agree to pay 
for all expenses for that training 
or assistance, including any 
reasonable per diem charges 
assessed by us and travel and 
living expenses for our 
personnel. 

Charges for 
“mystery 
shopper” quality 
control program  

Your allocable 
share of the 
expenses we 
incur or our 
authorized 
representative
s incur in 
administering 
and 
conducting the 
mystery 
shopper 
programs. 

Upon demand, if 
incurred. 

We may, from time to time, 
conduct or cause to be 
conducted mystery shopper 
programs to determine customer 
satisfaction with Sweet Paris 
Crêperies. 

Product/ 

Supplier Testing 

Varies – the 
costs of 
testing and 
evaluation.  

Upon demand, if 
incurred. 

We have the right to inspect the 
proposed supplier’s facilities, 
and to require product samples 
from the proposed supplier to be 
delivered at our option either 
directly to us or to any 
independent, certified 
laboratory which we designate 
for testing.  Either you or the 
proposed supplier must pay us a 
fee (not to exceed the 
reasonable cost of the inspection 
and the actual cost of the test) to 
make the evaluation. 

Audit Expenses Cost of audit 
and inspection 

Upon receipt of 
invoice. 

Payable if 2% or more 
discrepancy in amounts owed or 
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plus any 
reasonable 
accounting 
and legal 
expenses. 

if you fail to submit required 
reports. 

Transfer Fee 50% of then 
current initial 
franchise fee 
for a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie 
franchise. 

At the time of 
transfer. 

Applies to a transfer of the 
Franchise Agreement, the 
Crêperie or a controlling interest 
in the franchise. 

Renewal Fee 25% of then 
current initial 
franchise fee 
for a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie 
franchise. 

At the time of 
transfer. 

The initial term of the Franchise 
Agreement is 10 years, which 
you may renew for 3 additional 
terms of 5 years each, and for 
each renewal you must pay us 
this renewal fee. 

Relocation Fee 25% of then 
current initial 
franchise fee 
for a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie 
franchise. 

On or before the 
Crêperie re-opens for 
business. 

Applies in the event the 
Crêperie is destroyed or 
rendered unusable by fire or 
other casualty, and we grant 
permission for the Crêperie to 
be repaired, restored or 
reconstructed at the original 
premises or any other agreed 
upon location. 
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Step-In Rights 
Management 
Fee 

5% of Gross 
Sales, plus 
reasonable 
compensation 
and expenses 
for our 
representative
s (including an 
Interim 
Manager), 
plus other 
reasonable 
costs and 
expenses 
incurred in 
return for 
managing the 
Crêperie. 

Upon demand. See Item 15.  We have the right, 
but not the obligation, to step-in 
and designate an individual of 
our choosing (an “Interim 
Manager”) to temporarily 
manage the Crêperie in the 
event that: (a) you fail to 
comply with any provision of 
the Franchise Agreement and do 
not cure this failure; (b) we 
determine that the operation of 
the Crêperie is in jeopardy; (c) 
we determine that operational 
problems and deficiencies 
require that we operate the 
Crêperie; (d) you abandon or 
fail to actively operate the 
Crêperie; (e) your designated 
principal owner or designated 
operator dies or is determined to 
be temporarily or permanently 
disabled; or (f) we deem you 
incapable of operating the 
Crêperie. 

Costs and 
Attorney's fees  

Will vary 
under 
circumstances. 

As incurred. Payable to us if we have to take 
action to enforce the provisions 
of the Franchise Agreement, in 
defending our actions related to 
the Franchise Agreement or 
resulting from your breach of 
the Franchise Agreement. 

Insurance 
Procurement 

Our cost to 
obtain 
insurance 
coverage if 
you fail to do 
so. 

Upon demand. We have the right (but not 
obligation) to buy insurance 
coverage if you do not do so. 

Liquidated 
Damages for 
Early 
Termination  

(Franchise 
Agreement) 

An amount 
equal to the 
average of the 
Royalty Fees 
paid (or 
payable) over 
the past 12 

Upon demand. Payable if we terminate your 
Franchise Agreement for cause.  
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months times 
the lesser of 
24 or the 
number of full 
calendar 
months 
remaining in 
the term of the 
Franchise 
Agreement at 
the time of 
termination. 

Indemnification Will vary 
under 
circumstances. 

As incurred. You must indemnify, defend 
and hold us harmless and 
reimburse us for any damages 
arising out of the operation of 
your Crêperie. 

Except as noted, all fees are uniform and are imposed by and payable to us or our affiliates.  All 
fees are non-refundable.  We may require that you participate in an electronic funds transfer program by 
which payments due us are paid or directed electronically from your bank. 

 
Item 7 

 
ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT 
 
Under a Franchise Agreement 
 

Column 1 

Type of expenditure 

(Note 1) 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method 
of 

payment 

Column 4 

When 
due 

Column 5 

To whom 
payment is 
to be made 

Initial Franchise Fee (Note 
2) 

$45,000 Lump Sum Upon signing your 
Franchise 
Agreement 

Us 

Trade Area and/or 
Site Analysis Report 
(Note 3) 

$1,100 to $1,650 

 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Lease (first month’s 
rent), Utility & Security 
Deposits (Note 4) 

$15,000 to $33,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Landlord 

Crêperie Licenses 
and Permits (Note 
5) 

$2,86010,000 to 
$4,40030,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 



 

13 
FDD-Sweet Paris-2023v32024v1 
 

Column 1 

Type of expenditure 

(Note 1) 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method 
of 

payment 

Column 4 

When 
due 

Column 5 

To whom 
payment is 
to be made 

Architect/Engineering 
Fees (Note 6) 

$19,80025,000 to 
$3036,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Us/Architect/
Engineer 

Leasehold 
Improvements (Note 
7) 

$467,500520,000 to 
$675900,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Furniture, Fixtures 
and Equipment 
(Note 8) 

$198250,000 to 
$290325,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Point-of-Sale Equipment 
and Computer (Note 9) 

$6,000 to $87,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Professional Fees (Note 10) $4,000 to $56,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Initial Inventory of 
Food, Beverages, 
Supplies and 
Uniforms (Note 11) 

$1611,000 to 
$21,40015,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Insurance Deposit (Note 12) $54,000 to 
$9,1007,000 

Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Training Expenses (Note 
13) 

$10,000 to $25,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Grand Opening 
Marketing (Note 14) 

$75,000 to $1510,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Us/Contracto
rs/ 
Vendors 

Financing Costs (Note 15) Varies Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Lender/ 
Vendors 

Additional Funds (Note 16) $22,000 to $55,000 Lump Sum As incurred before 
opening 

Contractors/ 
Vendors 

TOTAL ESTIMATED 
INITIAL INVESTMENT 
(exclusive of real estate 
costs) 

$819,260928,100 to $1,217,550495,650 (exclusive of financing costs and tenant 
improvement allowance, if applicable. Typical tenant improvement allowances 
for Sweet Paris projects have recently ranged from $0 to $150110 per sq ft of 
store space.) 

 
Explanatory Notes: 
 
1. General – We do not impose or collect the fees or costs described in this Item 7, except for the 
items noted with “Us” in the column labeled “To Whom Paid.”  Except as described below, all fees and 
amounts that you must pay to us are non-refundable.  For any amounts paid to third parties, the 
availability and conditions under which you may obtain refunds will depend on the terms offered by 
those third party suppliers.  We do not offer our franchisees financing for any part of the initial 
investment (see Item 10 for additional information). Our estimates in this Item 7 are based on our current 
size for Sweet Paris Crêperies, our experience in developing and operating our affiliate-owned Sweet 
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Paris Crêperies, and our knowledge of business practices and conditions in the general marketplace. They 
are, however, only estimates and by their nature may change from time to time and may vary from 
location to location.  We cannot be responsible for price increases, increased costs or incorrect estimates 
that are due to unforeseen circumstances and/or circumstances that are beyond our control.  The figures 
do not provide for your cash needs to cover financing incurred by you or your other expenses. You 
should not plan to draw income from the operation during the start-up and developmental stage of your 
business, the actual duration of which will vary materially from location to location and cannot be 
predicted by us for your Crêperie (and which may extend for longer than the three month “initial period” 
described in Note 14 of this Item 7). You must have additional sums available, whether in cash or 
through a bank line of credit, or have other assets which you may liquidate or against which you may 
borrow, to cover other expenses and any operating losses you may sustain, whether during your start-up 
and development stage, or beyond.  Because the exact amount of reserves will vary and cannot be 
meaningfully estimated, we urge you to carefully review these figures and the figures you obtain from 
your own inquiries with an experienced business advisor, such as an accountant or consultant, or a legal 
advisor, before making any decision to purchase a Sweet Paris Crêperie franchise or any other franchised 
business. 
 
2. Franchise Fee –See Item 5 for further details regarding the Franchise Fee.  We do not provide 
financing for this fee. 
 
3. Trade Area and/or Site Analysis Report – You will be required under the Franchise Agreement to 
obtain a report from a company approved by us which provides an analysis of the trade area and/or site 
for the proposed location for your Crêperie. This report must be submitted to us as part of your site 
approval package, which we require in order to approve a proposed site. 
 
4. Lease (first month’s rent), Utility & Security Deposits – If you do not own a location for your 
Crêperie, you must purchase or lease a space.  Locations for Sweet Paris Crêperies will typically need 
approximately 1,800 to 2,500 square feet.  The estimate in the chart above includes your first month’s 
rent payment, security deposits and utility deposits (for example, telephone, electricity, gas and water).  
We have assumed the security deposit to your landlord will equal one month’s rent, although this may 
vary from landlord to landlord.  The estimates assume that rent commences upon the Crêperie’s opening.  
You, however, will need to lease a space in advance to build-out the Crêperie.  However, you may 
attempt to negotiate an abatement from the lessor for this period.  
 
 We anticipate that Sweet Paris Crêperies will typically be located in traditional in-line shopping 
centers, in high traffic urban and suburban areas, preferably near large residential communities, office 
buildings and other commercial areas.  Rent varies considerably from market to market, and from 
location to location within each market.  Rents may vary beyond the range that we have provided, based 
on factors such as market conditions in the relevant area, the type and nature of improvements needed to 
the premises, the size of the site for the Crêperie, the terms of the lease, the desirability of the location, 
and your ability to negotiate with your lessor.   
 
 The estimates assume that you will lease the premises for your Crêperie and, therefore, do not 
include costs related to the purchase of land or the construction of any buildings.  If you decide to 
purchase the property for the location of your Crêperie, you will incur additional costs that we cannot 
estimate. 
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5. Crêperie Licenses and Permits – These are general estimates for permits and licensing that may be 
required by local and state governments.  Local, municipal, county and state regulations vary on the 
licenses and permits you will need to operate a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  You will pay these fees to 
governmental authorities before starting business.  You are solely responsible for obtaining all 
appropriate licenses and permits. You will be required to obtain all necessary and applicable alcoholic 
beverage permitting and licensing to offer beer, wine and spirits for sale and consumption at the Crêperie.  
You are responsible for complying with any federal, state, county, municipal, or other local laws and 
regulations relating to the sale and/or consumption of alcohol and liquor that may apply to your Crêperie. 
 
6. Architect/Engineering Fees – You will be required to retain the services of a qualified architect 
and engineer, who we have approved or designated for use by our franchisees, to adapt our standardized 
plans and specifications based on our existing Sweet Paris Crêperies for the remodeling or finish-out of 
your Crêperie.  We may from time to time develop or approve variations with respect to our prototype 
locations and plans.  See Item 8 and 11 for more information on the design and construction plan process. 
 
7. Leasehold Improvements – You will need to employ a qualified licensed general contractor to 
construct the improvements to, or “build out,” the premises who is acceptable to us.  Our estimates are 
based on the assumption that the location is a free-standing building approximately 1,800 to 2,500 square 
feet, and includes, at a minimum, a level concrete floor suitable for floor covering, air-conditioning, 
electricity, gas, sewers, bathroom facilities, and water and plumbing suitable for a retail business.  
Among other things, you will probably need to arrange for the following items to meet our standard plans 
and specifications:  proper wiring and plumbing, floor covering, wall covering, partitions, lighting and 
fixtures, storefront modifications, painting, cabinetry, and the like.  Costs will vary depending upon 
various factors, including:  whether the site is a first generation restaurant site or a second generation 
restaurant/conversion site, the geographic location of your business; the size of the premises; the 
availability and cost of labor and materials; and the condition of the premises and the work that the lessor 
will do as a result of the lease negotiations.  Lessors may, instead of constructing or installing some of the 
improvements itself, provide you with credits towards your future rent payments and/or a tenant 
improvement allowance. Our estimates do not account for any rental credits or tenant improvement 
allowance, although such allowances may be available through the landlord.  During the year 20222023, 
we had one franchisee developtwo franchisees and openone affiliate in the process of developing a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie.  ThisOur franchisee developing a Sweet Paris Crêperie in McAllen, Texas was able to 
negotiate a tenant improvement allowance from the landlord of $6080 per square foot.  Our franchisee 
developing a Sweet Paris Crêperie in Woodbury, Minnesota was able to negotiate a tenant improvement 
allowance from the landlord of $42.50 per square foot.  Both the McAllen, Texas and Woodbury, 
Minnesota sites where second generation restaurant sites.  Our affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie 
developed in Coral Gables, Florida was able to negotiate a tenant improvement allowance from the 
landlord of $110 per square foot. 
 
8. Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment – As described in Item 8, you must purchase all fixtures, 
furnishings, equipment, signage and supplies that we specify as required for a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  
Fixtures, Furnishings and Equipment:  This estimate includes fixtures and equipment required for a 
Sweet Paris Crêperie, including (without limitation) coolers and refrigeration equipment, cooking 
equipment, food preparation tables, serving counters, customer tables, seating, stereo, televisions, various 
trade dress and décor items, small wares, and other fixtures, furnishings and equipment.  This estimate 
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also includes the cost of your office furniture, filing cabinet and miscellaneous office supplies, and 
equipment.  Signage:  This estimate also includes the costs for interior and exterior signage.  The cost of 
signage may vary significantly depending on the location of your Crêperie, market conditions and local 
codes.  In some instances, the use of additional or larger signage may be possible, with our prior written 
approval.  The costs of these optional items are not included in the line item total above. 
 
 In the event we determine, in our sole discretion, you are approved to operate a catering service or 
off-Premises business, you may do so only in accordance with the requirements of the Franchise 
Agreement and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual, and only in geographical 
areas that we designate.  We currently require that you operate the Crêperie in accordance with our 
standards, policies and procedures for a period of 6 months prior to requesting our consent to operate a 
catering service or off-Premises business, provided this requirement is subject to modification.  If we 
grant you this consent, you will be required to purchase a catering/delivery vehicle of the make, color and 
model with signage wrap that we specify in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing, in addition to 
all required equipment and small wares.  See Item 11 and Item 16 for additional details. 
 
9. Point-of-Sale Equipment and Computer – You must purchase or lease specified computers and 
related hardware, along with required third party software necessary to operate the Crêperie.  The 
estimate includes the costs for the items that we currently require.  We may periodically require 
franchisees to update their computer systems to our then-current standards.  See Item 11 under the 
heading “Computer System” for additional information.   
 
10. Professional Fees – The estimate assumes that you will employ an attorney to help you negotiate 
your lease for the Crêperie premises.  In addition, you may choose to employ an attorney, accountant, and 
other consultants to help you evaluate our franchise offering and your establishment of a new business, 
and in obtaining all required permits and licenses to establish and operate the Crêperie.  In addition, you 
may also form a corporation or other entity to operate the business.  Your actual costs may vary 
substantially, for example, depending on the degree to which you rely upon your advisors and upon the 
licensing requirements that may apply to your Crêperie. 
 
11. Initial Inventory of Food, Beverages, Supplies and Uniforms – These expenses include an initial 
inventory of food and beverage products, as well as an initial inventory of paper goods and supplies and 
uniforms.  You will need to replenish your initial inventory on an as needed basis as food items and other 
supplies are used.  The amount and cost of your initial and subsequent orders for all of these items will 
vary depending on various factors, including the size and anticipated volume of your Crêperie’s sales and 
the frequency of your orders. 
 
12. Insurance Deposit – The estimate represents an initial deposit for the coverage necessary to 
operate the business and represents approximately three months of coverage.  Insurance costs will vary 
depending upon factors such as the size and location of the Crêperie. 
 
13. Training Expenses – You will incur expenses associated with our training program.  For this 
training program, we provide instructors and instructional materials at no charge for up to 3 persons, but 
you must pay for transportation, lodging, meals, wages, and worker’s compensation insurance (if you 
send any employees) for your trainees.  Once you obtain your certificate of occupancy, you will be 
required to train your employees at the Premises prior to opening your Crêperie.  This estimate includes 
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costs associated with this pre-opening training such as payroll and worker’s compensation insurance, as 
well as food, beverage and supply costs.  This estimate also includes costs related to job recruiting 
advertisements.  As to the amounts shown, the low end of the estimate assumes that the trainees are 
within driving distance to the training location, and the high end assumes that other travel will be needed, 
and includes travel expenses, although these may vary significantly depending upon factors such as the 
distance traveled and mode of transportation.  Your costs will also vary depending on the nature and style 
of accommodations, and the number of persons who will attend training.  See Item 11 under the heading 
“Training” for additional details regarding the program.  
 
14. Grand Opening Marketing – You must agree to conduct a grand opening advertising and 
marketing program for the Crêperie in compliance with a grand opening advertising and marketing plan 
developed by us, beginning 1 month before and continuing for up to 2 months following opening of the 
Crêperie intending to provide initial marketing awareness and momentum (“Grand Opening Marketing”).  
You agree to spend at least $75,000 on Grand Opening Marketing, which amount must be deposited with 
us when you sign the lease or purchase contract for the Premises.  We will spend this amount on your 
behalf, in our sole discretion, toward Grand Open Marketing, including, without limitation, the hiring of a 
professional photographer and a public relations firm designated by us.  Additional details regarding 
advertising and promotion can be found in Item 11, under the heading “Advertising.” 
 
15. Financing Costs – You may incur costs associated with the securing of financing for the Crêperie.  
Financing costs will vary depending on the type of loan, your credit worthiness and the lender, among 
other factors, and therefore we have no way of estimating this amount.    
 
16. Additional Funds – You will need additional capital to support on-going expenses, such as 
payroll, rent and utilities, to the extent that these costs are not covered by sales revenue.  New businesses 
often generate a negative cash flow.  We estimate that the amount shown in the chart above will be 
sufficient to cover on-going expenses for the start-up phase or initial period of the business, which we 
calculate to be three months.  Such amounts are the minimum recommended levels and are only 
estimates. There is no assurance that additional working capital will not be necessary during this initial 
period or after.  Your actual costs may vary considerably, depending, for example, on factors such as:  
local economic conditions; the local market for the Products; the prevailing wage rate; competition; the 
sales level achieved during the initial period of operation; and your management and training experience, 
skill, and business acumen.  You should review these figures carefully with a business advisor before 
making any decision to purchase the franchise.  You should take into account the cash outlays and 
probable losses that you may incur while you are trying to get established. The disclosure laws require us 
to include this estimate of all costs and expenses to operate your franchise during the “initial period” of 
your business, which is defined as three months or a longer period if “reasonable for the industry.” We 
are not aware of any established longer “reasonable period” for our industry, so our disclosures cover a 
three month period. 
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Under an Area Development Agreement 
 

Column 1 

Type of expenditure 

(Note 1) 

Column 2 

Amount 

Column 3 

Method 
of 

payment 

Column 4 

When 
due 

Column 5 

To whom 
payment is 
to be made 

Development Rights Fee 
(Note 1) 

Varies Lump Sum Upon signing your 
Area Development 
Agreement 

Us 

Professional Fees (Note 2) $4,000 to $5,000 Lump Sum As incurred  Contractors/ 
Vendors 

Financing Costs (Note 3) Varies Lump Sum As incurred  Lender/ 
Vendors 

TOTAL ESTIMATED 
INITIAL INVESTMENT 

Varies 

 
Explanatory Notes: 
 
1. Development Rights Fee – As described in Item 5, upon execution of an Area Development 
Agreement you must pay us an amount equal to 50% of the initial franchise fee due for each Sweet Paris 
Crêperie for which you are granted the right to develop and open.  You will pay us the development 
rights fee when you sign the Area Development Agreement with us, which fee is non-refundable.  We 
may offer to enter into an Area Development Agreement for the development of two or more Sweet Paris 
Crêperies.  We do not provide financing for this fee. 
 
2. Professional Fees – You may choose to employ an attorney, accountant, and other consultants to 
help you evaluate our franchise offering and your establishment of a new development business.  In 
addition, you may also form a corporation or other entity to operate the business.  Your actual costs may 
vary substantially, for example, depending on the degree to which you rely upon your advisors and upon 
the licensing requirements that may apply to the development of your Crêperies. 
 
3. Financing Costs – You may incur costs associated with the securing of financing for the 
development of your Crêperies.  Financing costs will vary depending on the type of loan, your credit 
worthiness and the lender, among other factors, and therefore we have no way of estimating this amount.    
 

Item 8 
 

RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

Lease or Purchase of Premises 
 

You must obtain lawful possession of the premises for the Crêperie through lease or purchase 
within 120 days after signing the Franchise Agreement.  You will not execute a lease without our 
advance written approval.  The lease for the premises must contain the terms and provisions we 
reasonably approve, including landlord acceptance of our proposed façade and signage.  
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Prototype and Construction Plans and Specifications 
 

We will assist in the design, decoration, furnishings, furniture, layout, equipment, fixtures and 
signs for your Crêperie.  It will then be your responsibility to have plans and specifications prepared to 
comply with our requirements and with all ordinances, building codes, permit requirements, and lease 
requirements and restrictions applicable to the premises utilizing an architect we approve.  You must 
submit final construction plans and specifications to us for our approval before you begin construction at 
the premises, and must construct your Crêperie in accordance with those approved plans and 
specifications.   

Development of the Crêperie 
 

You must at your own expense do the following within a reasonable time after you have obtained 
possession of the premises of your Crêperie:  (1) secure all financing required to fully develop the 
Crêperie; (2) obtain all required building, utility, sign, health, sanitation and business permits and licenses 
and any other required permits and licenses; (3) construct the Crêperie according to the construction plans 
and specifications we have approved; (4) decorate the Crêperie in compliance with plans and 
specifications we have approved; (5) purchase and install all required equipment, furniture, furnishings 
and signs; (6) cause the training requirements of Section 4 of the Franchise Agreement (described in Item 
11) to be completed; (7) purchase an opening inventory of products, beverages and other supplies and 
materials; (8) do any other acts necessary to open the Crêperie for business; (9) obtain our approval to 
open the Crêperie for business; and (10) open the Crêperie for business.  You must open the Crêperie for 
business within 270 days after signing the Franchise Agreement. 

With respect to preparing and finalizing construction and engineering plans and specifications for 
your Crêperie, we and you agree, at your own expense, to the following:  

(1) We will consult with our architect of choice for the purpose of designing the floorplan, 
kitchen layout and exterior elevations for the Premises of the Creperie, for which services the architect 
will charge and invoice us and we will then pass through this expense to you, which expense you shall 
pay us immediately upon demand, provided we reserve the right to have the architect charge and invoice 
you directly for such services.  You agree to provide us with appropriate plans and/or “as built drawings” 
of the Premises for such purpose. 

(2) Once we have approved of the design for the floorplan, kitchen layout and exterior 
elevations of the Creperie, you will engage an architect approved in advance by us to prepare final 
construction plans and specifications based upon our approved design, for which services the architect 
will charge and invoice you directly. 

(3) Simultaneously with the architect’s preparation of final construction plans and 
specifications, you will engage an engineer(s) approved in advance by us to prepare mechanical, 
electrical and plumbing construction plans and all other necessary engineering related plans for the 
Crêperie, including but not limited to structural engineering plans, for which services the engineer(s) will 
charge and invoice you directly. 
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(4) It will be your responsibility to have all construction and engineering plans and 
specifications comply with all ordinances, building codes, permit requirements, and lease requirements 
and restrictions applicable to the Premises. 

(5) You must submit final construction plans and specifications to us for approval before 
construction begins at the Premises, and the Crêperie must be constructed in accordance with those 
approved plans. 

(6) You must keep us apprised of construction progress, by submitting bi-weekly (once every 
two weeks) photos of the Premises being built-out for the sole purpose of ensuring the Crêperie is being 
constructed in accordance with the construction plans and specifications and reflect our Sweet Paris 
Crêperie prototype design and branding standards. 

(7) You must expressly acknowledge and agree that our approval of construction plans and/or 
specifications for the Premises shall be for the sole purpose of reflecting our Sweet Paris Crêperie 
prototype design and branding standards.  You must further expressly acknowledge and agree that we 
shall not be liable for the negligence, defects, poor workmanship, unsatisfactory performance, unforeseen 
circumstances, or the like of any architect, engineer, contractor, firm, supplier, professional or consultant 
retained by you, whether or not designated by us. 

You must expressly acknowledge and agree that we may modify the above with respect to 
preparing and finalizing construction and engineering plans and specifications for the Crêperie from time 
to time.  Such modifications will be provided to you in our Operations Manual. 

You must use the real estate leasing services of our designated master broker to assist in the 
locating and signing of a lease agreement for your Crêperie location.  

Computer System 
 

You will need to acquire (either by purchase or lease) the computer hardware and software system 
that we may specify from time to time.  The computer hardware and software system refers to cash 
register or point of sale systems, hardware, software for the management and operation of the Crêperie 
and for reporting and sharing information with us, and communication systems (including modems, 
cables, etc.).  See Item 11 under the heading “Computer System” for more information. 

 
Equipment, Furniture, Fixtures and Signs 
 

You must use in the development and operation of the Crêperie only those brands, types, and/or 
models of Crêperie and other equipment, furniture, fixtures, cash registers and signs we have approved.  
The use of used or second-hand equipment, furniture, fixtures, cash registers or signs will not be allowed. 

Approved Products, Services, Distributors and Suppliers 
 

We have developed standards and specifications for menu items, ingredients, beverages, materials 
and supplies incorporated in or used in the preparation, presentation and delivery of prepared food and 
beverage products authorized for sale at Sweet Paris Crêperies.  Your Crêperie must (a)  offer for sale all 
menu items prescribed by us from time to time, and other products and services that we from time to time 
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authorize; (b)  offer and sell approved products and services only in the manner we have prescribed; (c)  
not offer for sale or sell at the Crêperie, the premises or any other location any menu items or other 
products or services we have not approved; (d)  not use the premises for any purpose other than the 
operation of the Crêperie; and (e)  discontinue selling and offering for sale any products or services that 
we at any time decide (in our sole discretion) to disapprove in writing.  You must maintain an inventory 
of approved products, beverages, ingredients and other products sufficient in quantity and variety to 
realize the full potential of your Crêperie.  We may also approve certain suppliers of services necessary 
for the development and operation of Sweet Paris Crêperies, including, without limitation, computer 
system and Brand Technology services, insurance services, real estate leasing services, merchant services 
and linen services. 

We may, from time to time, conduct market research and testing to determine consumer trends 
and the saleability of new products and services.  You must cooperate by participating in our market 
research programs, and by providing us with timely reports and other relevant information regarding that 
market research.  In connection with any test marketing, you will be required to purchase a reasonable 
quantity of the tested products and effectively promote and make a reasonable effort to sell them. 

We have and will continue to periodically approve suppliers and distributors of the above 
products and services that meet our standards and requirements, including, standards and requirements 
relating to product quality, costs, prices, consistency, reliability, financial capability, labor relations and 
customer relations.  None of our officers listed in Item 2 currently owns an interest in any supplier. You 
must (1) purchase products for sale from the Crêperie in the quantities we designate; (2) utilize the 
formats, formulae and containers for products we prescribe; and (3) purchase all products, services, 
beverages, menus, serving baskets, plates, napkins, glassware, flatware, paper and plastic products, 
packaging or other materials, and utensils only from distributors and other suppliers we have approved.  

We may approve a single distributor or other supplier (collectively "supplier"), for any product or 
service and may approve a supplier only as to certain products or services.  We may concentrate 
purchases with one or more suppliers to obtain lower costs or prices or the best advertising support or 
services for any group of the Sweet Paris Crêperies franchised or operated by us.  Approval of a supplier 
may be conditioned on requirements relating to the frequency of delivery, concentration of purchases, 
standards of service, including prompt attention to complaints, or other criteria and may be temporary, 
pending our continued evaluation of the supplier periodically. 

If you would like to purchase any items from any unapproved supplier, you must submit to us a 
written request for approval of the proposed supplier.  (Or the proposed supplier may submit its own 
request.)  We have the right to inspect the proposed supplier's facilities, and to require product samples 
from the proposed supplier to be delivered at our option either directly to us or to any independent, 
certified laboratory which we designate for testing.  Either you or the proposed supplier must pay us a fee 
(not to exceed the reasonable cost of the inspection and the actual cost of the test) to make the evaluation.  
We will notify you of our decision to approve or disapprove your request for approval of a proposed 
supplier within a reasonable time after we receive your written request, but never to exceed 90 days after 
we receive your written request and all other information we may have requested from you and after 
completion of any inspection we deem appropriate.  We reserve the right to periodically re-inspect the 
facilities and products of any approved supplier and to revoke our approval if the supplier does not 
continue to meet any of our criteria.  (Please note: Do not construe the new-supplier approval process just 
explained as requiring us to approve any proposed supplier.) 
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We will issue specifications or identify approved suppliers in our Operations Manual or bulletins 
or releases issued to franchisees. We will also issue specifications to approved suppliers. Neither we, nor 
any of our affiliates, are currently approved suppliers for any product or service but may be approved 
suppliers for products or services in the future.  Neither we nor our affiliates have derived income or 
other material consideration as a result of required purchases or leases but may do so in the future.  We 
currently do not negotiate purchase arrangements with suppliers for the benefit of our franchisees, but we 
reserve the right to do so in the future.  We also do not provide material benefits (for example, renewal or 
granting additional franchises) to a franchisee based on a franchisee’s purchase of particular products or 
services or use of particular suppliers from our list of approved suppliers.  We estimate that 
approximately 95% to 100% of your purchases or leases to start and operate your business will be made 
from approved or designated suppliers or in accordance with our specifications or requirements.  There 
are presently no purchasing or distribution cooperatives. 

We do not currently charge and/or retain royalties, commissions or rebates from vendors which 
supply Sweet Paris Crêperies, but we reserve the right to do so in the future.   

Insurance 
 

You must purchase and maintain in effect policies of insurance before the Crêperie opens for 
business.  The insurance requirements are described in our Operations Manual, but we have the right to 
increase policy limits or minimum liability protection or require different or additional kinds of insurance 
and all policies of insurance must name us and any other party designated by us as additional insureds. 

Presently we require you to maintain the following minimum insurance amounts under the 
Franchise Agreement:  (1) builder’s risk insurance during any periods of construction or renovation; (2) 
all risks coverage for full repair and replacement value of all of the equipment, fixtures and supplies used 
in your Franchised Restaurant; (3) worker’s compensation, with at least a $1,000,000 limit, and 
employer’s liability insurance, as well as any other insurance required by law, as we determine; 
(4) comprehensive general liability insurance with limits of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence, and 
$2,000,000 general aggregate; (5) automobile liability insurance, and property damage liability, including 
owned, non-owned, and hired vehicle coverage, with at least $1,000,000 combined single limit; (6) 
excess liability coverage over general liability, automobile liability, worker’s compensation liability and 
employer’s liability, with at least $4,000,000 per occurrence; (7) insurance coverage required by your 
lease or sublease, or as we may otherwise require; and (8) business interruption insurance for actual 
losses sustained of no less coverage than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

Item 9 
 

FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS 

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will 
help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other 
items of this Disclosure Document.  
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Obligation 
Section 

in Agreement 

Item in 
Disclosure 
Document 

a. Site selection and 
acquisition/lease 

Section 3.1 of the Franchise 
Agreement  

Item 8 

b. Pre-opening purchases/leases Sections 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5 of 
the Franchise Agreement 

Item 8 

c. Site development and other pre-
opening requirements 

Sections 3.2 and 3.3 of the 
Franchise Agreement 

Item 8 

d. Initial and ongoing training Section 4 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 11 

e. Opening Section 3.6 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 11 

f. Fees Section 9 of the Franchise 
Agreement; Section 5 of the Area 
Development Agreement 

Items 5 and 6 

g. Compliance with standards and 
policies/operating manual 

Section 10 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 11 

h. Trademarks and proprietary 
information 

Section 6 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 13 

i. Restrictions on 
products/services offered 

Section 10 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 8 

j. Warranty and customer service 
requirements 

Section 10 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

 

k. Territorial development and 
sales quotas 

Sections 2.3 and 2.4 of the 
Franchise Agreement; Sections 2 
and 3 of the Area Development 
Agreement   

Item 12 

l. On-going product/service 
purchases 

Section 10.4 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 8 

m. Maintenance, appearance and 
remodeling requirements 

Section 10.2 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 8 

n. Insurance Section 10.9 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 8 
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Obligation 
Section 

in Agreement 

Item in 
Disclosure 
Document 

o. Advertising Sections 9.4 and 11 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

Item 11 

p. Indemnification Section 7.3 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 6 

q. Owner's participation/ 
management/staffing 

Section 10.8 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 11 

r. Records and reports Section 12 of the Franchise 
Agreement  

Item 6 

s. Inspections and audits Section 13 of the Franchise 
Agreement  

Item 6 

t. Transfer Section 14 of the Franchise 
Agreement; Section 9 of the Area 
Development Agreement 

Item 17 

u. Renewal Section 2.6 of the Franchise 
Agreement 

Item 17 

v. Post-termination obligations Section 16 of the Franchise 
Agreement  

Item 17 

w. Non-competition covenants Sections 8.3 and 16.5 of the 
Franchise Agreement 

Item 17 

x. Dispute resolution Sections 17.7, 17.8 and 17.9 of the 
Franchise Agreement; Sections 14, 
15, 16 and 17 of the Area 
Development Agreement   

Item 17 

y. Liquidated Damages Sections 16.1 of the Franchise 
Agreement   

Item 6 

 
Item 10 

 
FINANCING 

We do not offer direct or indirect financing.  We do not guarantee your note, lease or obligation. 
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Item 11 
 

FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS, AND TRAINING 

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance. 

Before you open your Crêperie, we will: 

(1) Expend the time and effort and incur the expenses as may reasonably be required to 
inspect sites you proposed for a Crêperie.  We typically will not own the Crêperie's site and lease it to 
you. 

(2) Approve the terms of the lease for the premises of your Crêperie Franchise Agreement – 
Section 3.1). 

(3) Approve and assist in the preparation of plans, specifications and other materials reflecting 
our requirements for layout, equipment, fixtures and signs for your Crêperie (Franchise Agreement – 
Section 3.2). 

(4) Approve final construction plans and specifications for your Crêperie (Franchise 
Agreement – Section 3.2). 

(5) Specify the computer system and Brand Technology for your Crêperie (Franchise 
Agreement – Section 3.4). 

(6) Provide an initial training program (see below) (Franchise Agreement - Section 4(a)). 

During the operation of your Crêperie, we will: 

(1) Furnish you with guidance and assistance in the following areas: (a) food preparation and 
presentation, packaging, sale and delivery of the products authorized for sale by the Crêperie; 
(b) purchasing approved equipment, furniture, furnishings, signs, food and beverage products, operating 
materials and supplies; (c) development and implementation of local advertising and promotional 
programs; (d) general operating, marketing and management procedures; and (e) changes in any of the 
above that occur periodically (Franchise Agreement – Section 5.1). 

(2) Provide access to you during the term of the franchise of our Operations Manual.  The 
Table of Contents of our Operations Manual is attached as Exhibit E.  The total number of pages in the 
current Operations Manual is 404 pages. It will be made available to you prior to opening.  Our 
Operations Manual may be modified to reflect changes in the specifications, standards, operating 
procedures and other obligations in operating Crêperies (Franchise Agreement - Section 5.2).  Our 
Operations Manual is confidential and remains our property. 

(3) Indemnify you against and reimburse you for all damages for which you are held liable in 
any proceeding arising out of your use of our Marks in compliance with the Franchise Agreement and all 
costs reasonably incurred by you in the defense of this kind of claim, so long as you have timely notified 
us of the claim (Franchise Agreement – Section 6.5). 
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(4) Review and approve or disapprove of suppliers and distributors you have proposed.  We 
have the right to charge a fee to make this evaluation (Franchise Agreement – Section 10.4). 

 Any obligation or duty we have under the Franchise Agreement may be performed by any 
distributor, designated party, employee or agent of ours, as we may direct in our sole discretion.  In the 
event that your Crêperie is located within the territory of an area representative of ours, it may be the area 
representative who performs the above described assistance, or any other obligation or duty under the 
Franchise Agreement, before and during your operation of the Crêperie. 
 
Catering 
 

You may not operate a catering service or off-Premises business or offer such services, without 
our prior written consent.  In the case that we provide consent to operate a catering service or off-
Premises business, you may do so only in accordance with the requirements of the Franchise Agreement 
and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual, and only in geographical areas that 
we designate.  We currently require that you operate the Crêperie in accordance with our standards, 
policies and procedures for a period of 6 months prior to requesting our consent to operate a catering 
service or off-Premises business, provided this requirement is subject to modification.  If we grant you 
this consent, you will be required to purchase a catering/delivery vehicle of the make, color and model 
with signage wrap that we specify in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing, in addition to all 
required equipment and small wares. 

We reserve the right to require that you hire a dedicated catering manager, based upon factors we 
determine in our sole discretion. 

You may not host Private Events on the Premises of the Crêperie or off-Premises, without our 
prior written consent.  We determine what constitutes a “Private Event” in our sole discretion.  In the case 
that we provide consent to host a Private Event, you may do so only in accordance with the requirements 
of the Franchise Agreement and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual. 

Advertising and Marketing 
 

We may administer an advertising and marketing fund (the "Marketing Fund") for advertising, 
marketing and promotional programs as we may deem necessary or appropriate.  Upon notice from us, 
you must contribute to the Marketing Fund 1% of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie payable each week.  
We have the right to increase your contribution to the Marketing Fund upon 30 days written notice to 
you.  You will not be obligated to contribute more than 2% of the gross sales of the Crêperie to the 
Marketing Fund.  Sweet Paris Crêperies owned by us or our affiliates may, but are not obligated to, 
contribute to the Marketing Fund on the same percentage as you do, or at all.   
 

We will direct all advertising, marketing and promotional programs administered by the 
Marketing Fund, with sole discretion over the creative concepts, materials and endorsements used in 
them, and the geographic, market and media placement and allocation thereof.  The Marketing Fund may 
be used to pay the costs of administering regional and multi-regional advertising, marketing and 
promotional programs including, purchasing direct mail and other media advertising such as internet and 
social media advertising and marketing; website development/maintenance, providing System email 
accounts, and search engine optimization; print advertising and television and radio advertising; and 
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employing advertising agencies and supporting public relations, market research and other advertising 
and marketing activities including, the costs of participating in any national or regional trade shows that 
we, in our sole discretion, deem appropriate.  We will not use Marketing Fund contributions for 
advertising that is principally a solicitation for the sale of franchises.  The Marketing Fund may also be 
used for the protection of the Sweet Paris Crêperies brand, trademarks, trade secrets, trade dress and the 
like, including, without limitation, in connection with all legal proceedings and actions such as trademark 
disputes, cease and desist letters, restraining orders, injunctions and other legal proceedings in defense 
and protection of the Sweet Paris Crêperies brand. 
 

The Marketing Fund will be accounted for separately from our other funds and will not be used to 
defray any of our general operating expenses, except for the reasonable salaries, administrative costs and 
overhead we may incur in connection with activities reasonably related to the administration of the 
Marketing Fund and its marketing programs including preparing advertising and marketing materials and 
collecting and accounting for contributions to the Marketing Fund.  We may spend in any fiscal year an 
amount greater or less than the aggregate contribution of all Crêperies to the Marketing Fund in that year 
and the Marketing Fund may borrow from us or other lenders to cover deficits of the Marketing Fund or 
cause the Marketing Fund to invest any surplus for future use by the Marketing Fund. 
 

We will have the right to cause the Marketing Fund to be incorporated or operated through an 
entity separate from us at any time we deem appropriate, and this entity will have the same rights and 
duties as we do under the Franchise Agreement.  The Marketing Fund is intended to enhance recognition 
of the Marks and patronage of Crêperies.  Although we will endeavor to utilize the Marketing Fund to 
develop advertising and marketing materials and programs, and to place advertising that will benefit all 
Crêperies, we undertake no obligation to ensure that expenditures by the Marketing Fund in or affecting 
any geographic area are proportionate or equivalent to the contributions to the Marketing Fund by 
Crêperies operating in that geographic area or that any Crêperie will benefit directly or in proportion to its 
contribution to the Marketing Fund from the development of advertising and marketing materials or the 
placement of advertising.  We assume no direct or indirect liability or obligation to you or any other 
Crêperie in connection with the establishment of the Marketing Fund or the collection, administration or 
disbursement of monies paid into the Marketing Fund. Your contributions to the Marketing Fund are not 
refundable under any circumstance. 
 

We have the right, in our sole discretion, to suspend contributions to and operations of the 
Marketing Fund for one or more periods that we determine to be appropriate and the right to terminate 
the Marketing Fund upon 30 days' written notice to you.  All unspent monies on the date of termination 
will be distributed to us, our affiliates and our franchisees in proportion to our respective contributions to 
the Marketing Fund during the preceding 12 month period.  We will have the right to reinstate the 
Marketing Fund upon the same terms and conditions set forth in the Franchise Agreement upon 30 days' 
advance written notice to you. 

 
We will prepare an annual unaudited statement of monies collected and costs incurred by the 

Marketing Fund and will make it available to you on written request.  We do not audit the Marketing 
Fund. 

The Marketing Fund was established in April 2018, and for the year 2022 was spent in the 
following manner:  social media and online advertisement – 6.51%; customer surveys – 5.62%; website – 
19.23.7%; photography – .07%; /video shoots – 3.81.0%; Paris trip giveaway – 6.738.5%; software – 
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.051.4%; text message marketing – 18.0%;  email advertising – 1.0319.5%; marketing refunds – 1.92.2%; 
administration – 33.42.5%; Gift cards – 1%; and.6%; Office Supplies - .8%; App development – 1.5%; 
Brand Ambassador program – 2.0%; Other Expenses – 4.020%. 

 
You must spend monthly (or during such other period we designate) at least 2% of the Gross 

Sales of the Crêperie on marketing, advertising and promotion in your local Protected Area, provided that 
any amount you are required to contribute to us in excess of 1% of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie toward 
your contribution to the Marketing Fund will count toward your expenditure obligations on local 
advertising.   
 

We reserve the right to require that you participate in local and regional advertising cooperatives 
in connection with the advertising and promotional programs administered by us or by other franchisees 
of the System.  You must pay amounts that are approved by these cooperatives.  Your total contribution 
to these cooperatives will be upheld to your obligation to expend funds on local advertising. 
 

There are presently no regional or local advertising cooperatives.  There are presently no 
advertising councils.   
 

Before your use of them, samples of all local and regional advertising and promotional materials 
not prepared or previously approved by us must be submitted to us for approval, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld.  You may not use any advertising or promotional materials that we have not 
previously approved in writing. 
 

We currently advertise all Crêperies on our website, social media platforms, and multiple websites 
on the internet.  You may not establish a separate website, social media account, or other formal online 
presence to advertise, market or promote your Sweet Paris Crêperie without prior written approval.  We 
may, at any time, modify our policies with regard to websites and online presence. 

 
You must participate in promotional programs developed by us for the System, in the manner 

directed in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing, including the following if required by us: 
 
(1) You must participate in all programs, offers and services for loyal/frequent customers and 

other categories, which may include providing discounts.   

(2) You must offer any and all specialty menu crepes or waffles, and any other products we 
require. 

(3) You must participate in all charitable donation and/or alliance programs.   

(4) You must contribute to, participate in, and/or endorse an approved local charity(ies) within 
your market area which supports underprivileged children, as we direct in the Operations Manual or 
otherwise in writing.  Any monetary contributions will apply towards your marketing, advertising and 
promotional spending requirements in your local market area.  

(5) You shall sell or otherwise issue gift cards or certificates (together “Gift Cards”) that have 
been prepared utilizing the standard form of Gift Card provided or designated by us, and only in the 
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manner we specified.  You must fully honor all Gift Cards that are in the form provided or approved by 
us regardless of whether a Gift Card was issued by you or another Sweet Paris Crêperie. 

Upon the signing of your lease or purchase contract for the Crêperie, we will require that you 
deposit the Grand Opening Marketing funds with us.  This amount will be managed and spent by us on 
your behalf in order to create and execute a promotional strategy to market the Crêperie as part of your 
grand opening.  As described in Item 7, we will require a minimum of $75,000, which will be used by us 
to hire a public relations firm and a photographer to take professional pictures of the finished location, as 
well as to cover the expenses of promotion of the new opening online.  We manage these vendors directly 
in order to guarantee that all such pictures for marketing, advertising and promotional purposes, are 
aligned with our branding standards, and are subject to our written approval prior to their use.  In the case 
of any public relations promotion, you shall not act as the spokesperson for us or the Crêperie.  We will 
provide a representative to act as the public relations spokesperson who will be responsible for 
conducting all media interviews on behalf of you, us and the Crêperie.  You must forward to us all press 
requests coming directly to you. 

Except as described above, we have no obligation to spend any amount on advertising in your 
area.   

Computer/Cash Register 
 

You agree to use in the development and operation of the Crêperie certain brands, types, makes, 
and/or models of communications, management systems, computer systems and hardware, as well as 
software and cloud based platforms and related technology and informational systems that are designated 
by us, including without limitation, (i) back office computer systems, point of sale systems and cash 
register systems (ii) storage, retrieval, and transmission systems for data, audio (including designated 
music platform), video (including designated video camera system) and voice; (iii) physical, electronic, 
video and other security systems; (iv) printers and other peripheral devices; (v) archival back-up systems; 
(vi) internet access mode and speed features such as high speed broadband connectivity; (vii) software 
and/or cloud based platforms related to online ordering, texting communication solutions, and means of 
encryption; and (viii) means of providing us unlimited access to all of the foregoing (collectively, the 
“Brand Technology”).  Currently, the following is approved for use in a Crêperie: 

 
Toast POS Software; 
Toast for credit card processing; 
2 All-In-One terminals and a handheld terminal; 
2 rear LCD displays; 
2 thermal receipt printers; 
2 cash drawers; 
Router and port switch; 
2 remote printers; 
QSR kitchen display system software; and 
2 QSR kitchen display system stations. 
 
We estimate that the cost to purchase the Brand Technology will be in the approximate range of 

$6,000 to $8,000 (see Item 7), as well as monthly software (including POS software, Toast master menu 
management software, Factor 4 gift card software, online ordering software, and loyalty program 
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software) and subscription fees of approximately $360, which fees are subject to change.  As part of the 
Brand Technology, we may require you to obtain specified computer hardware and/or software, including 
a license to use proprietary software developed by us or others.  Our modification of these specifications 
for the components of the Brand Technology may require you to incur costs to purchase, lease and/or 
license new or modified computer hardware and/or software and to obtain service and support for the 
Brand Technology during the term of the Franchise Agreement. There are no limitations on the frequency 
and cost of these obligations of yours. We cannot estimate the future costs of the Brand Technology (or 
additions or modification to the Brand Technology), and the cost to you of obtaining the Brand 
Technology (including software licenses) (or any additions or modification) may not be fully amortizable 
over the remaining term of the Franchise Agreement.  Nonetheless, you will incur these costs in obtaining 
the computer hardware and software comprising the Brand Technology (or additions or modification).  
We have the right to charge a reasonable systems fee for software or systems modifications and 
enhancements specifically made for us that is licensed to you and other maintenance and support services 
that we furnish to you related to the Brand Technology. Neither we nor any affiliate or third party has an 
obligation to provide ongoing maintenance, repairs, upgrades or updates to the Brand Technology unless 
you enter into a contract for these services. 

 
We will have independent access to the information and data from the Brand Technology.  There 

is no contractual limitation on our right to access this information and data.  This means you must provide 
us with complete access to your Brand Technology, including your POS platform, video camera system, 
Rockbot and any other related platform or software you utilize in connection with the Brand Technology. 

 
You must use the music platform we designate, which is currently Rockbot.  The current cost is 

approximately $150 for the initial hardware package and $30 per month, which costs are subject to 
change.  You must only play music that is approved by us in your Crêperie.  You must grant us full 
access to your Rockbot account. 

 
You and your management team must utilize your designated sweetparis.com email accounts or 

addresses that we provide at all times when conducting business in connection with the Crêperie.  You 
may not use these email accounts or addresses for any other purpose.  We reserve the right to charge you 
for each email account or address we provide.  If we do so, you will pay us a fee equal to the amount we 
are charged for such account or address by our service provider.  You must acknowledge that we 
maintain ownership of all email accounts/addresses provided to you, your management team and any 
other of your personnel, including all contents and associated files of such email accounts/addresses, and 
further that we have the unlimited right to actively review and monitor such email accounts/addresses at 
our discretion. 

 
Training 
 
 The Crêperie at all times must be under the direct, on-premises supervision of you (or your 
designated principal owner that we approve) or your designated operator.  Your designate operator must 
be experienced in food service operations and subject to our approval.  If you appoint a designated 
operator for the direct, on-premises supervision of the Crêperie, he or she must have at all times at least a 
10% ownership interest (or other equity agreement, subject to our approval) in you.  You (or your 
designated principal owner) or your designated operator must complete our required training program and 
must devote full time and efforts to the management of the Crêperie.  If you appoint a designated 
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operator, you (or your designated principal owner) must attend and successfully complete such portions 
of the training program as we determine appropriate for principals not involved in the day-to-day 
operations of the Crêperie.  You must also hire a management team and employees and you will be 
exclusively responsible for the terms of their employment, their compensation, and for the proper training 
of the employees in the operation of the Crêperie. 
 

Before your Crêperie opens for business, you or your designated owner, or your designated 
operator and your management team must attend and complete to our satisfaction a training program in 
the operation of a Crêperie.  Currently, our training program is conducted on an as needed basis, as we 
onboard franchisees.  The training program will be a total of approximately 6 weeks and will consist of 
the following: 

 
TRAINING PROGRAM 

 

Column 1 

Subject 

Column 2 

Hours of 
Classroom 
Training 

Column 3 

Hours of On-The-
Job Training 

Column 4 

Location 

Restaurant Tour and 
Paper Work 
Orientation 

1 Day 8 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperies in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Dishwashing / 
Bussing 
 

1 Day 8 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Cold Preparation / 
Service 
 

1 Week 30 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Hot Preparation / 
Service 
 

1 Week 30 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Line Set-up / 
Service / Catering 

½ Week 20 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Cashier / Service / 
Catering 

1 Week 30 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Management Duties 
/ Training / Service 
/ Catering 

1 Week 40 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Managing the 
Restaurant with 
Supervision 

1 Weeks 50 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 

Managing the 
Restaurant without 
Supervision 

2 Weeks 100 Hours Designated Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in the 
greater Houston, Texas area 
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Scott Haehnel and Jonathan Youmans will oversee the training program.  Mr. Haehnel is our 

Director of Strategic Partnerships, and manages the team of corporate trainers, which is led by Jonathan 
Youmans, who has held this position since 2019, and has been involved in the day-to-day operations of 
Sweet Paris since 2018.  The instructional materials will include the Operations Manual and various 
handouts.   

 
We may require at your expense that you (or your designated principal owner) attend additional 

training programs (up to 5 days per year) and conventions or national franchise meetings (up to 5 days 
per year). 

 
For a minimum of 10 days before, during and after the opening of the Crêperie, we will furnish to 

you, at the premises and at our expense, at least one of our representatives for the purpose of facilitating 
the opening of the Crêperie.  If you request, and we agree to provide, additional assistance, you must 
reimburse us for our expense of providing this additional assistance, including salary, travel and lodging 
and expenses of our employees. 
 
Crêperie Opening 
 

You will be solely responsible for identifying, submitting for our approval, and obtaining lawful 
possession of the premises for the Crêperie through lease or purchase within a site selection area within 
120 days after signing the Franchise Agreement and open the Crêperie within 270 days after signing the 
Franchise Agreement, unless you obtain a written extension of such time periods from us.  If you fail to 
timely lease the premises or timely open, we have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written 
notice to you. 

To obtain our approval of a site under a Franchise Agreement or under an Area Development 
Agreement, you must submit to us, in a form specified by us, a completed site approval package, which 
shall include: (i) a site approval form provided by us; (ii) a trade area and/or site marketing research 
analysis (prepared by a company approved in advance by us); (iii) an option contract, letter of intent, or 
other evidence satisfactory to us which describes your favorable prospects for obtaining such site; (iv) 
photographs of the site; (v) demographic statistics; (vi) the lease or purchase contract; and (vii) such other 
information or materials as we may reasonably require (collectively, the “SAP”).  We will have 30 days 
after receipt of the SAP from you to approve or disapprove, in our sole discretion, the proposed site for 
the Crêperie.  In the event we do not approve a proposed site by written notice to you within this 30 day 
period, such site and lease or purchase contract shall be deemed disapproved.  No site shall be deemed 
approved unless it has been expressly approved in writing by us.  We reserve the right to disapprove a 
site prior to receiving an SAP from you based upon our experience and prior knowledge of the Site 
Selection Area. 

If you are developing Sweet Paris Crêperies under an Area Development Agreement, you must 
sign a Franchise Agreement for the Crêperie being developed at the same time you sign the lease or 
purchase contract for the approved site. 

You will not execute a lease without our advance written approval. The lease for the premises 
must permit us to take possession of the premises under certain conditions if the Franchise Agreement is 
terminated. It must also contain the terms and provisions we reasonably approve, including landlord 
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approval of the proposed façade and exterior signage.  In connection with the signing of your lease you 
must also sign, and have your landlord sign, the Option for Assignment of Lease, included as Exhibit E to 
the Franchise Agreement. 

We will furnish prototype plans and specifications reflecting our requirements for design, 
decoration, furnishings, furniture, layout, equipment, fixtures and signs for a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  We 
and you agree, at your own expense, to the following with respect to preparing and finalizing 
construction and engineering plans and specifications for the Crêperie:  

 (1) We will consult with our architect of choice for the purpose of designing the floorplan, 
kitchen layout and exterior elevations for the Premises of the Creperie, for which services the architect 
will charge and invoice us and we will then pass through this expense to you, which expense you shall 
pay us immediately upon demand, provided we reserve the right to have the architect charge and invoice 
you directly for such services.  You agree to provide us with appropriate plans and/or “as built drawings” 
of the Premises for such purpose. 

(2) Once we have approved of the design for the floorplan, kitchen layout and exterior 
elevations of the Creperie, you will engage an architect approved in advance by us to prepare final 
construction plans and specifications based upon our approved design, for which services the architect 
will charge and invoice you directly. 

(3) Simultaneously with the architect’s preparation of final construction plans and 
specifications, you will engage an engineer(s) approved in advance by us to prepare mechanical, 
electrical and plumbing construction plans and all other necessary engineering related plans for the 
Crêperie, including but not limited to structural engineering plans, for which services the engineer(s) will 
charge and invoice you directly. 

(4) It will be your responsibility to have all construction and engineering plans and 
specifications comply with all ordinances, building codes, permit requirements, and lease requirements 
and restrictions applicable to the Premises. 

(5) You must submit final construction plans and specifications to us for approval before 
construction begins at the Premises, and the Crêperie must be constructed in accordance with those 
approved plans. 

(6) You must keep us apprised of construction progress, by submitting bi-weekly (once every 
two weeks) photos of the Premises being built-out for the sole purpose of ensuring the Crêperie is being 
constructed in accordance with the construction plans and specifications and reflect our Sweet Paris 
Crêperie prototype design and branding standards. 

(7) You must expressly acknowledge and agree that our approval of construction plans and/or 
specifications for the Premises shall be for the sole purpose of reflecting our Sweet Paris Crêperie 
prototype design and branding standards.  You must further expressly acknowledge and agree that we 
shall not be liable for the negligence, defects, poor workmanship, unsatisfactory performance or the like 
of any architect, engineer, contractor, firm, supplier, professional or consultant retained by you, whether 
or not designated by us. (Franchise Agreement – Section 3.2) 
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You must expressly acknowledge and agree that we may modify the above with respect to 
preparing and finalizing construction and engineering plans and specifications for the Crêperie from time 
to time.  Such modifications will be provided to you in our Operations Manual. 

We estimate that it will be up to 9 months after you sign the Franchise Agreement before you 
open your Crêperie, but the interval may vary based on the following factors:  the location and condition 
of the site, the Crêperie’s construction schedule, the extent to which you must upgrade or remodel an 
existing location, the delivery schedule for equipment and supplies, permits and licensing requirements, 
delays in securing financing arrangements and completing training, and your compliance with local laws 
and regulations.  We can terminate the Franchise Agreement in the event you fail to obtain lawful 
possession of the premises for the Crêperie through lease or purchase within 120 days after signing the 
Franchise Agreement or open the Crêperie within 270 days after signing the Franchise Agreement, unless 
you obtain a written extension of such time periods from us. (Franchise Agreement – Section 3.6). 

Under a Development Agreement, you are typically required to open your first Crêperie 9 months 
after you sign the Development Agreement, the second Crêperie 18 months after you sign the 
Development Agreement, the third Crêperie 27 months after you sign the Development Agreement, and 
subsequent Crêperies every 9 months thereafter. However, the final number of months required for 
opening may vary by market and is defined in the Area Development Agreement.  Under a Development 
Agreement, you will also be required to obtain lawful possession of the premises for each Crêperie to be 
developed based upon a time line set forth in the Development Agreement. 

Item 12 
 

TERRITORY 

Franchise Agreement 

You may operate the Crêperie only from the approved site.  You will be granted a Protected Area 
(the “Protected Area”) in which your Crêperie will be located.  However, if your Crêperie is located in a 
Non-Traditional Site, as described below, or in a major metropolitan location, we reserve the right to not 
grant you a Protected Area.  The Protected Area will be determined, in our sole discretion, by population 
density and other demographic factors.  We also reserve the right to define the Protected Area by street 
boundaries, municipal boundaries, expressways, railroad tracks or other similar bounding descriptions.  
The Protected Area will be described in an Exhibit to the Franchise Agreement and may be depicted on a 
map attached to the Exhibit.  The Protected Area is not the same area as, and will be smaller than, the site 
selection area in which you will be looking for a site.  Provided you are in compliance with the Franchise 
Agreement, neither we nor our affiliates will grant a franchise for the establishment of another Sweet 
Paris Crêperie to be located within the Protected Area.  The Protected Area is not the same area as, and 
will be smaller than, the site selection area in which you will be looking for a site. 

We reserve all rights not granted in the Franchise Agreement, including (by way of example and 
not as a limitation), (a) the right to operate or grant others the right to operate Crêperies located outside 
the Protected Area on terms and conditions we deem appropriate; (b) the right to produce and sell 
products using the Marks or other commercial symbols through other channels of distribution according 
to terms and conditions we deem appropriate; (c) the right to operate or grant others the right to operate 
Crêperies or similar restaurant or business facilities at Non-Traditional Sites at any location within or 
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outside the Protected Area.  “Non-Traditional Sites” shall mean outlets that serve primarily the customers 
located within a facility, such as captive audience facilities (examples include, but are not limited to, 
parks charging admission, stadiums, amusement parks and centers, theaters and art centers), limited 
purpose facilities (examples include, but are not limited to, airports, transportation centers, department 
stores, in-door shopping centers or malls, business and industrial complexes, museums, educational 
facilities, hospitals, art centers, and recreational parks), limited access facilities (examples include, but 
are not limited to, military complexes, buyer club businesses, educational facilities, business and 
industrial complexes), and other types of institutional accounts; (d)  the right to operate other retail outlets 
or enter into other lines of business offering dissimilar products or services under trademarks and service 
marks other than the Marks; and (e) the right to (i) acquire one or more retail businesses that are the same 
as, or similar to, Sweet Paris Crêperies then operating under the System (each an “Acquired Business”), 
which may be at any location within or outside the Protected Area, notwithstanding their proximity to the 
Protected Area or the Crêperie or their actual or threatened impact on sales of the Crêperie, and to (ii) 
operate and/or license others to operate any Acquired Business under its existing name or as a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie under the System.  We do not need to pay you any compensation for soliciting or 
accepting orders within the Protected Area in one of the manners described in this paragraph.    

You will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, 
from outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control. 

There is no provision in the Franchise Agreement for relocation of the Crêperie during the term or 
for the establishment of additional Sweet Paris Crêperies.  You may not relocate the Crêperie without our 
approval.  Whether or not we would allow relocation depends on the circumstances at the time and what 
is in the Crêperie's best interest and what is in the System's best interest.  If you are unable to maintain 
possession of the premises of the Crêperie upon renewal, we will allow you to relocate the Crêperie to 
another acceptable location provided you expeditiously develop the premises in compliance with our 
standards and specifications. 

You may solicit and sell to customers regardless of their location, provided that you may not offer 
or sell any products or services at wholesale or by mail order or over the Internet or any other electronic 
modem, or through delivery service or online ordering (including sales through third-party food ordering 
and delivery service providers), or operate a catering service or business, without our prior written 
consent.  Other Sweet Paris Crêperies, including those operated by us or our affiliates, also may solicit 
and sell to customers wherever located, even if they are located within your Protected Area.   You shall 
have no rights to any such sales by us or our other franchisees. In the case that we provide consent to sell 
to customer through delivery service or online ordering (including sales through third-party food ordering 
and delivery service providers) or to operate a catering service or off-Premises business, you may do so 
only in accordance with the requirements of the Franchise Agreement and the procedures and policies set 
forth in the Operations Manual, and only in geographical areas that we designate.   

You have no options or rights of first refusal to purchase additional Sweet Paris franchises.  
Continuation of rights to your Protected Area is not dependent on achievement of any specific sales 
volume, market penetration or any other contingency.  There are no other circumstances which allow us 
to modify your Protected Area or your territorial rights. 
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Neither we nor our affiliates operate, franchise, or have present plans to operate or franchise a 
business under a different trademark that sells or will sell goods or services similar to those you will sell. 
However, we reserve the right to do so in the future. 

To obtain our approval of a site under a Franchise Agreement or under an Area Development 
Agreement, you must submit to us, in a form specified by us, a completed site approval package, which 
shall include: (i) a site approval form provided by us; (ii) a trade area and/or site marketing research 
analysis (prepared by a company approved in advance by us); (iii) an option contract, letter of intent, or 
other evidence satisfactory to us which describes your favorable prospects for obtaining such site; (iv) 
photographs of the site; (v) demographic statistics; (vi) the lease or purchase contract; and (vii) such other 
information or materials as we may reasonably require (collectively, the “SAP”).  We will have 30 days 
after receipt of the SAP from you to approve or disapprove, in our sole discretion, the proposed site for 
the Crêperie.  In the event we do not approve a proposed site by written notice to you within this 30 day 
period, such site and lease or purchase contract shall be deemed disapproved.  No site shall be deemed 
approved unless it has been expressly approved in writing by us.  We reserve the right to disapprove a 
site prior to receiving an SAP from you based upon our experience and prior knowledge of the Site 
Selection Area. 

Area Development Agreement 

 If you sign an Area Development Agreement with us, we will grant you rights in a Development 
Area to establish a certain number of Crêperies.  The Designated Area will vary widely depending on the 
market where you are looking to develop Crêperies.  We will identify the Development Area by streets or 
other natural boundaries.  There is no minimum size for the Designated Area.  If you are in full 
compliance with the Area Development Agreement and all Franchise Agreements, we will not establish, 
or grant any other party the rights to establish Crêperies in the Development Area prior to the expiration 
of the Area Development Agreement’s term.  Subject to this limitation, we reserve, on behalf of ourselves 
and our affiliate, all other rights.  

If you are developing Sweet Paris Crêperies under an Area Development Agreement, you must 
sign a Franchise Agreement for the Crêperie being developed at the same time you sign the lease or 
purchase contract for the approved site. 

You will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, 
from outlets that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control. 

 Except with respect to your development obligations described in the Area Development 
Agreement, continuation of your Development Area exclusivity does not depend on your achieving a 
certain sales volume, market penetration or other contingency. 

Item 13 
 

TRADEMARKS 

We grant you the right to operate your Crêperie under the name "Sweet Paris," our principal 
trademark.  You may also use our other current or future trademarks we approve to identify your 
Crêperie.   
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Our affiliate, Inverchavez Holding LLC, is the owner of the following principal Marks registered 
on the principal register of the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO"), which 
registrations include the filing of all required affidavits: 
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Mark Registration Number Registration Date 

SWEET PARIS 

(Class 43) 
4556235  June 24, 2014 

 

(Class 43) 

4556236 

 

June 24, 2014 

 

 

(Class 43) 

4560655 

 

July 1, 2014 

 

  
(Class 43) 

5338297 November 21, 2017 

 
We have entered into a Trademark and Proprietary Information License Agreement with our 

affiliate, Inverchavez Holding LLC, under which our affiliate will authorize us to use, or license others to 
use, the Marks.  The term of this license will be perpetual and is terminable by either party upon default 
by the other party.  Termination of the Trademark and Proprietary Information License Agreement will 
not affect our then-existing franchise agreements with our franchisees and will not affect any renewal 
terms under those franchise agreements. Termination will only affect our license to use the Marks with 
respect to new franchisees.  No other agreements limit our rights to use, or license the use of, the Marks.  

All Marks that have required renewal have been renewed and all Marks will continue to be 
renewed in the future. 
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There are no currently effective material determinations of the USPTO, trademark trial and appeal 
board, the trademark administrator or of any state, pending infringement, opposition or cancellation or 
pending material litigation involving our principal trademarks.  Except as otherwise described, there are 
no other agreements in effect which materially affect our rights to use or license the use of the Marks in a 
manner material to the franchise.  We do not actually know of either superior rights or infringing uses 
that could materially affect your use of the Marks in any state. 

Your right to use the Marks is derived solely from the Franchise Agreement and is limited to your 
conduct of business in compliance with the Franchise Agreement and all applicable specifications, 
standards and operating procedures we prescribe during the term of the franchise.  Any unauthorized use 
of the Marks by you will constitute an infringement of our rights in and to the Marks.  Your usage of the 
Marks and any goodwill established by your usage of the Marks will be for our exclusive benefit and the 
Franchise Agreement does not confer any goodwill or other interests in the Marks upon you.  All 
provisions of the Franchise Agreement applicable to the Marks will apply to any additional proprietary 
trade and service marks and commercial symbols authorized for use by and licensed to you under the 
Franchise Agreement.  You may not at any time during or after the term of the Franchise Agreement 
contest, or assist any other person in contesting, the validity or ownership of any of the Marks. 

You must use the Marks as the sole identification of the Crêperie, provided that you must identify 
yourself as the independent owner of the Crêperie in the manner we prescribe.  You may not use any 
Mark as part of any corporate or trade name, or with any prefix, suffix, or other modifying words, terms, 
designs or symbols, or in any modified form, nor may you use any Mark with the sale of any 
unauthorized service or in any other manner we have not expressly authorized in writing. You must 
prominently display the Marks on or with Crêperie posters and displays, service contracts, stationery, 
other forms we designate, and in the manner we prescribe, give the notices of trade and service mark 
registrations and copyrights we specify, and obtain the fictitious or assumed name registrations as may be 
required under applicable law. 

You must immediately notify us of any apparent infringement of or challenge to your use of any 
Mark, or claim by any person of any rights in any Mark, and you may not communicate with any person 
other than us and our counsel about any infringement, challenge or claim.  We and our affiliates will have 
sole discretion to take any action we deem appropriate and the right exclusively to control any litigation 
or USPTO or other proceeding arising out of any infringement, challenge or claim or otherwise relating 
to any Mark and you must execute any and all instruments and documents, render assistance and do the 
acts and things as may, in the opinion of our or our affiliates' counsel, be necessary or advisable to protect 
and maintain our interests in any litigation or USPTO or other proceeding or to otherwise protect and 
maintain our interests in the Marks. 

If it becomes advisable at any time in our sole discretion for us and/or you to modify or 
discontinue use of any Mark, and/or use one or more additional or substitute trade or service marks, you 
must comply with our instructions within a reasonable time after notice by us and our sole obligation in 
this event will be to reimburse you for your out-of-pocket costs of complying with this obligation; 
provided, however, that you will not be obligated to spend more than 1% of your gross sales to comply 
with this obligation. 

We will indemnify you against, and reimburse you for, all damages for which you are held liable 
in any proceeding arising out of your use of any Mark, in compliance with the Franchise Agreement, and 
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for all costs you reasonably incur in the defense of any claim brought against you or in any proceeding in 
which you are named as a party, provided that you have timely notified us of the claim or proceeding and 
have otherwise complied with the Franchise Agreement.  We, in our discretion, will be entitled to defend 
any proceeding arising out of your use of any Mark under the Franchise Agreement, and, if we undertake 
the defense of the proceeding, we will have no obligation to indemnify or reimburse you for any fees or 
disbursements of counsel you retain. 

Item 14 
 

PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION 

No patents or pending patent applications are material to the franchise. You can use the 
proprietary information in our Operations Manual.  Our Operations Manual is described in Item 11.  
Although we have not filed an application for a copyright registration for our Operations Manual, we 
claim copyright protection in it and it is proprietary.  We are not obligated to take any action for 
unauthorized uses of the information contained in our Operations Manual, but, in appropriate 
circumstances, we intend to do so.  We have no obligation to indemnify you for losses brought by you 
concerning your use of this information, but, under appropriate circumstances, we intend to do so.  We 
are not aware of any infringing uses of this information.  There are no agreements in effect affecting our 
right to use this information. 

We and our affiliates have developed proprietary confidential information comprising methods, 
techniques, procedures, information, systems and knowledge of and experience in the design and 
operation of Crêperies including (1) secret recipes, proprietary products, and methods of efficiently and 
cost-effectively preparing and serving food, beverage and other products sold at Crêperies; (2) knowledge 
of test programs, concepts or results relating to new menu items or categories; (3) sources of products 
sold from Crêperies; (4) advertising and promotional programs; (5) Crêperie image and decor; 
(6) methods, techniques, formats, specifications, procedures, information, systems and knowledge of and 
experience in the development, operation, and franchising of Crêperies; and (7) the selection and methods 
of training managers, cooks and other employees.  We will disclose the Confidential Information to you 
in the initial training program, the Operations Manual and in guidance furnished to you during the term of 
the Franchise.  You will not acquire any interest in the Confidential Information other than the right to 
utilize it in the development and operation of your Crêperie during the term of the franchise. 

The Confidential Information is proprietary and, except to the extent that it is or becomes 
generally known in the Crêperie industry or trade, the Confidential Information is our trade secret and is 
disclosed to you solely for your use in the operation of the Crêperie during the term of the franchise.  You 
(1) must not use the Confidential Information in any other business or capacity; (2) must maintain the 
confidentiality of the Confidential Information during and after the term of the Franchise; (3) must not 
make unauthorized copies of any portion of the Confidential Information disclosed in written form; and 
(4) must adopt and implement all reasonable procedures prescribed periodically to prevent unauthorized 
use or disclosure of any of the Confidential Information, including without limitation, restrictions on 
disclosure to employees of the Crêperie and the use of nondisclosure clauses in employment agreements 
with these employees. 
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Item 15 

 
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE ACTUAL  

OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS 

The Crêperie at all times must be under the direct, on-premises supervision of you (or your 
designated principal owner that we approve) or your designated operator that we approve.  Your 
designate operator must be experienced in food service operations and subject to our approval.  If you 
appoint a designated operator for the direct, on-premises supervision of the Crêperie, he or she must have 
at all times at least a 10% ownership interest (or other equity agreement, subject to our approval) in you.  
You (or your designated principal owner) or your designated operator must complete our required 
training program and must devote full time and efforts to the management of the Crêperie.  You must also 
hire a management team and employees and you will be exclusively responsible for the terms of their 
employment, their compensation, and for the proper training of the employees in the operation of the 
Crêperie.  The management team must complete our required training programs. You must establish at 
the Crêperie a training program for all other employees using our Operations Manual.  All employees 
must maintain a neat and clean appearance and to conform to the standards of dress and/or uniforms we 
specify from time to time for all Crêperies.  All employees must render prompt, efficient and courteous 
service to all customers of the Crêperie.  Neither you nor your principal owner nor your designated 
operator nor your management team can engage in any other business or activity that may conflict with 
your or their obligations under the Franchise Agreement.  You, your principal owner(s), your designated 
operator and your management team must maintain our trade secrets and abide by our covenants not to 
compete.   
 

If you are an entity, all of your owners must sign a Principal Owner’s Guaranty (which is attached 
to the Franchise Agreement as Exhibit A) agreeing to be bound by and guaranteeing the obligations of the 
"Franchisee" under the Franchise Agreement.  If the Franchise Agreement is subsequently assigned to a 
corporation, partnership or limited liability company, your owners must agree to be bound by the terms of 
the Franchise Agreement and guarantee the obligations of the Franchisee under the Franchise Agreement. 

In order to prevent any interruption of the operations which would cause harm to the Crêperie, we 
have the right, but not the obligation, to step-in and designate an individual of our choosing (an “Interim 
Manager”) to temporarily manage the Crêperie in the event that: (a) you fail to comply with any 
provision of the Franchise Agreement and do not cure this failure; (b) we determine that the operation of 
the Crêperie is in jeopardy; (c) we determine that operational problems and deficiencies require that we 
operate the Crêperie; (d) you abandon or fail to actively operate the Crêperie; (e) your designated 
principal owner or designated operator dies or is determined to be temporarily or permanently disabled; 
or (f) we deem you incapable of operating the Crêperie (“Step-in Rights”).  If we exercise our Step-in 
Rights, then: (a) we will keep in a separate account all monies generated by the operation of the Crêperie, 
less the expenses of the Crêperie, including reasonable compensation and expenses for our 
representatives (including an Interim Manager) as well as other expenses incurred; (b) you agree to hold 
us and our representatives harmless for all actions occurring during the course of such temporary 
management of the Crêperie and acknowledge that the Interim Manager and such representatives will 
have no liability to you, except to the extent directly caused by gross negligence or willful misconduct; 
(c) you agree to pay us our then current management fee (see Item 6); (d) you agree to pay us, in addition 
to the management fee, all of our reasonable costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys’ 
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fees incurred as a consequence of exercising our Step-in Rights; and (e) you acknowledge that us and our 
representatives (including an Interim Manager) will have a duty to utilize only reasonable efforts and will 
not be liable to you or your owners for any debts, losses, damages, or obligations you or the Crêperie 
incur, or to any of your or the Crêperie’s suppliers, vendors or creditors for any supplies, products, or 
other assets or services you or the Crêperie purchases, while managed by us or an Interim Manager.  This 
is in addition to all other remedies available to us under the Franchise Agreement and at law. 

Item 16 
 

RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL 

We require that you offer and sell only those products and services we have approved for 
Crêperies.  You must offer all goods and services that we designate for Crêperies.  We have the right to 
add new or additional products and services which you must offer at your Crêperie.  There are no 
restrictions in the Franchise Agreement on our right to do this.  You may operate a retail but not a 
wholesale business from the Crêperie (see Item 12). 

You may not operate a catering service or off-Premises business or offer such services, without 
our prior written consent.  In the case that we provide consent to operate a catering service or off-
Premises business, you may do so only in accordance with the requirements of the Franchise Agreement 
and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual, and only in geographical areas that 
we designate.  We currently require that you operate the Crêperie in accordance with our standards, 
policies and procedures for a period of 6 months prior to requesting our consent to operate a catering 
service or off-Premises business, provided this requirement is subject to modification.  If we grant you 
this consent, you will be required to purchase a catering/delivery vehicle of the make, color and model 
with signage wrap that we specify in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing, in addition to all 
required equipment and small wares. 

We reserve the right to require that you hire a dedicated catering manager, based upon factors we 
determine in our sole discretion. 

You may not host Private Events on the Premises of the Crêperie or off-Premises, without our 
prior written consent.  We determine what constitutes a “Private Event” in our sole discretion.  In the case 
that we provide consent to host a Private Event, you may do so only in accordance with the requirements 
of the Franchise Agreement and the procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual. 

Item 17 
 

RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements.  You 
should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this Disclosure Document. 
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THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP 

Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

a. Length of the franchise 
term 

Section 2.1 of the 
Franchise Agreement 

10 years 

b. Renewal or extension of 
the  term 

Section 2.6 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

3 additional terms of 5 years 

c. Requirements for 
 franchisee to renew or 
 extend 

Section 2.6 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

You must: maintain possession of 
premises and refurbish and 
redecorate in compliance with our 
then current requirements or 
obtain and develop suitable 
substitute premises; correct any 
deficiencies in the operation of 
the Crêperie identified in our 
written notice to you prior to 
expiration; sign our then current 
form or franchise agreement and 
any ancillary documents; and sign 
a general release of any and all 
claims against us, our officers, 
directors, employees and agents.  
The terms of our then current 
form of franchise agreement that 
you sign for renewal of the 
franchise may differ materially 
from any and all of those 
contained in the Franchise 
Agreement attached to this 
Disclosure Document. 

d. Termination by franchisee Not applicable Not applicable   

e. Termination by franchisor 
 without cause 

Not applicable Not applicable 

f. Termination by franchisor 
 with cause 

Section 15 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 8 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement 

We may terminate the Franchise 
Agreement only upon written 
notice to you.  We may terminate 
the Area Development Agreement 
only upon written notice to you. If 
the Area Development Agreement 
is terminated for any reason you 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

will lose all rights to further 
develop Sweet Paris Crêperies in 
the Development Area.  However, 
termination will not affect your 
right to operate any Sweet Paris 
Crêperies in existence or under 
development provided you are in 
compliance with the Franchise 
Agreement for any such Crêperie.  

g. "Cause" defined – curable 
 defaults 

Section 15 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

Under the Franchise Agreement, 
if you do not pay us within 10 
days after written notice; you do 
not comply with any other 
provision of the franchise 
agreement or specification, 
standard or operating procedure 
and do not correct the failure 
within 30 days after written 
notice. Under the Area 
Development Agreement, there 
are no curable defaults.   

h. "Cause" defined – non-
 curable defaults 

Section 15 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 8 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement  

Under the Franchise Agreement, 
you fail to timely lease, purchase 
develop or open the Crêperie; you 
or your principal owner fails to 
complete the training program; 
you abandon, surrender, transfer 
control of or do not actively 
operate the Crêperie or lose the 
right to occupy the location of the 
Crêperie; you or your principal 
owner make an unauthorized 
transfer or assignment of the 
franchise or assets of the 
Crêperie; you are adjudged a 
bankrupt, become insolvent or 
make an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors; you or your 
principal owners are convicted of 
a felony or are convicted or plead 
no contest to any crime or offense 
that adversely affects the 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

reputation of the Crêperie and the 
goodwill of our Marks; you 
violate any health or safety law or 
ordinance or regulation or operate 
the Crêperie that creates a health 
or safety hazard; or you fail on 3 
or more occasions within any 
consecutive 12 month period to 
comply with the franchise 
agreement whether or not your 
failures to comply are corrected 
after notice to you.  Under the 
Area Development Agreement, 
you fail to satisfy your 
development obligations or any 
franchise agreement executed by 
you for the operation of a 
Crêperie is terminated for any 
reason.   

i. Franchisee's obligations 
 on termination/non-
 renewal 

Section 16 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 8 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement  

You must pay all amounts owed, 
refrain from using our Marks, 
return to us or destroy, as we 
specify, all customer lists, 
software, forms and materials 
bearing our Marks or relating to 
the Crêperie, de-identify the 
premises, return the Operations 
Manual and cease using all 
confidential information and 
abide by the post-term non-
compete.  If the Area 
Development Agreement is 
terminated for any reason you 
will lose all rights to further 
develop Sweet Paris Crêperies in 
the Development Area.  However, 
termination will not affect your 
right to operate any Sweet Paris 
Crêperies in existence or under 
development provided you are in 
compliance with the Franchise 
Agreement for any such Crêperie. 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

j. Assignment of contract by 
 franchisor 

Section 14.2 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 9 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement 

The Franchise Agreement and 
Area Development Agreement are 
fully transferable by us. 

k. "Transfer" by franchisee-
 defined 

Section 14.3 of the 
Franchise Agreement;  

Transfer includes any voluntary, 
involuntary, direct or indirect 
assignment, sale, gift, exchange, 
grant of a security interest or 
change of ownership in the 
franchise agreement, the Crêperie 
or any interest in the franchise. 

l. Franchisor approval of 
 transfer by franchisee 

Section 14.4 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 9 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement 

We will not unreasonably 
withhold approval of the 
Franchise Agreement.  We will 
not approve any assignment of the 
Area Development Agreement, 
except in connection with the 
assignment of all franchise 
agreements to which you are a 
party, provided that all franchise 
agreements are assigned to the 
same individual or entity.   

m. Conditions for franchisor 
 approval of transfer  

Section 14.4 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

Proposed new owner must have 
sufficient business experience, 
aptitude and financial resources to 
operate the Crêperie; you must 
pay all amounts due us and our 
affiliates; proposed new owner 
and its management team (if we 
require) must successfully 
complete our training program; 
your landlord must consent to 
transfer of the lease; you must pay 
us a transfer fee of 50% of our 
then current initial franchise fee if 
transfer is to an existing 
franchisee or 75% of our then 
current franchise fee if transfer is 
to a new franchisee; you and your 
principal owners must deliver a 
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Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

general release in favor of us and 
our officers, directors, employees 
and agents; new owner must 
agree to remodel to bring the 
Crêperie to current standards; new 
owner must assume all 
obligations under your franchise 
agreement or, at our option, sign a 
new franchise agreement on our 
then current form. 

n. Franchisor's right of first 
 refusal to acquire 
 franchisee's business 

Section 14.8 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

We have 30 days to match any 
offer. 

o. Franchisor's option to 
 purchase franchisee's 
 business 

Sections 16.6 and 16.7 
of the Franchise 
Agreement  

We have the option for 30 days to 
purchase the Crêperie upon 
termination or expiration of the 
franchise agreement at fair market 
value, including obtaining a lease 
for real estate on existing terms.  
If you own the Crêperie property, 
we also have the right to purchase 
any property on which the 
Crêperie is located at fair market 
value.  If we cannot agree on fair 
market value (or fair rental value), 
the value will be determined by 
an appraisal process. 

p. Death or disability of 
 franchisee 

Section 14.6 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

Executor, administrator or other 
personal representative must 
transfer interest of franchisee or 
principal owner within 12 
months.  All transfers are subject 
to provisions in franchise 
agreement regulating transfers. 

q. Non-competition 
 covenants during the term 
 of the franchise 

Section 8.3 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

Neither you nor your principal 
owners nor any immediate family 
members of you or your principal 
owners may perform services for 
or have any interest in any similar 
restaurant business.  
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Provision 
Section in Franchise 

or Related Agreement 
Summary 

r. Non-competition 
 covenants after the 
 franchise is terminated or 
 expires 

Section 16.5 of the 
Franchise Agreement  

You and your principal owners 
are prohibited from performing 
services for or having an interest 
in any similar restaurant business 
for 3 years within 50 miles of the 
Crêperie or any other Crêperie. 

s. Modification of the 
 agreement 

Section 17.12 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 23 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement 

No modifications unless both 
parties consent. 

t. Integration/merger clause Section 17.12 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 23 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement.    

Only the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement and Area 
Development Agreement are 
binding (subject to state law). 
However, nothing in the 
Franchise Agreement or Area 
Development Agreement is 
intended to disclaim our 
representations made in this 
Disclosure Document. 

u. Dispute resolution by 
 arbitration or mediation 

Section 17.7 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 14 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement 

All controversies, disputes or 
claims subject to arbitration in the 
city in which our headquarters is 
located. 

v. Choice of forum Section 17.8 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 15 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement  

All actions which are not required 
to be arbitrated must be brought 
in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in Texas (subject to 
applicable state law). 

w. Choice of law Section 17.9 of the 
Franchise Agreement; 
Section 16 of the Area 
Development 
Agreement  

Texas law governs, except for 
matters regulated by the United 
States Trademark Act (subject to 
applicable state law). 
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Item 18 
 

PUBLIC FIGURES 

We do not use any public figures to promote our franchise, but we reserve the right to do so in the 
future. 

Item 19 
 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS 

The FTC's Franchise Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or 
potential financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable 
basis for the information, and if the information is included in the Disclosure Document.  Financial 
performance information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor 
provides the actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor 
supplements the information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about 
possible performance at a particular location or under particular circumstances. 

The following Table 1 includes actual Gross Sales, cost of goods sold, certain expenses (not 
including Royalty Fee payments or Marketing Fund contributions, among others), as indicated below, 
and the resulting net profit (before depreciation, debt service and taxes) achieved by our four affiliate-
owned Sweet Paris Crêperies that were opened for the entire year of 2022 for the year ending December 
31, 2022.  As indicated above and in the notes below, you will have additional expenses, which we have 
not included in our calculation of net profit. 

 
The following Table 2 includes actual Gross Sales, cost of goods sold, certain expenses (including 

Royalty Fee payments, Marketing Fund contributions and other marketing and advertising expenses and 
excluding others), as indicated below, and the resulting net profit (before depreciation, debt service and 
taxes) achieved by the six franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperies that were opened for the entire year of 
2022 for the year ending December 31, 2022.  We have not included our licensee-owned Sweet Paris 
Crêperies located in Mexico in the below figures, as these Crêperies are not representative of our 
franchise offering.  Again, as indicated above and in the notes below, you will have additional expenses, 
which we have not included in our calculation of net profit. 

 
The following Table 3 includes annual franchise expenses not included in Table 1 based upon the 

median annual Gross Sales of our affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperies for the year ending December 
31, 2022, which is calculated as $1,544,067.  See Note 8 below for further explanation. 

 
“Gross Sales” means all revenue related to the Crêperie (excluding (i) sales taxes collected and 

remitted to the proper authorities and (ii) refunds, discounts and credits made to customers in good faith 
and complimentary products given to customers in good faith (if those amounts were originally included 
in calculating Gross Sales)).   

 
Some Sweet Paris Crêperies have sold this amount. Your individual results may differ. 

There is no assurance you will sell as much. 
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You should conduct an independent investigation of the costs and expenses you will incur in 
operating your Crêperie.  Franchisees or former franchisees, if any, listed in this Disclosure Document, 
may be one source of this information. 

 
 We have compiled the following information from the internal, unaudited financial statements of 
our affiliates for the periods indicated. These financial statements were not prepared in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), but are believed to be reliable. The figures related to 
our franchisee’s results were obtained from sales reports provided by our franchisee, and have not been 
verified beyond receipt of such reports.  Written substantiation of the data used in preparing these sales 
figures will be made available to you upon reasonable request. 
 
Table 1 
 

For the Twelve-Month 
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1 

(Rice Village) 

Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 2 

(City Center) 
Gross Sales $1,544,291546,478 

(100.00%) 
$2,767,934895,683 (100.00%) 

Cost of Goods Sold $358,636 (23.22333,728 
(21.58%) 

$615,848 (22.25624,570 
(21.57%) 

Labor Costs $581,843 (37.68591,785 
(38.27%) 

763,946$806,704 (27.6086%) 

Facility Expense $179,583 (11.63189,522 
(12.26%) 

$295,238298,777 (10.6732%) 

Other Expenses $110,208 (7125,904 (8.14%) $166,521191,942 (6.0263%) 
Net Profit $314,021 (20.33305,539 

(19.76%) 
$926,381973,690 (33.4663%) 

For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 3 

(Highland Village) 

Affiliate-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 4 

(College Station) 
Gross Sales $1,515,068464 (100.00%) $1,543,844597,771 (100.00%) 

Cost of Goods Sold $332,064320,819 
(21.9217%) 

$341,578355,534 (22.1325%) 

Labor Costs $572,665566,294 (37.8037%) $577,938 (37.43608,381 
(38.08%) 

Facility Expense $329,379330,045 (21.7478%) $176,232 (11.42169,886 
(10.63%) 

Other Expenses $122,132,450 (8.0674%) $128,070136,153 (8.3052%) 
Net Profit $158,828165,856 (10.4894%) $320,026327,817 (20.7252%) 
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Table 2 
 

For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1 

(Katy) 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 2 

(The Woodlands) 
Gross Sales $2,329,623617,037 (100%) $2,819,4083,108,122 (100%) 

Cost of Goods Sold $436,974 (18.76460,272 
(17.59%) 

$726,361 (25.76775,853 
(24.96%) 

Labor Costs $830,214 (35.64784,859 
(29.99%) 

$914,233 (32.431,056,271 
(33.98%) 

Facility Expense $178,571190,003 (7.6726%) $143,957 (5.11319,378 (10.28%) 
Other Expenses / Royalty Fees $424,900 (18.23469,368 

(17.94%) 
$355,140 (12.60443,108 

(14.26%) 
Net Profit $458,964 (19.70712,535 

(27.23%) 
$679,717 (24.1513,512 (16.52%) 

For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 3 

(San Antonio) 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 4 

(Friendswood) 
Gross Sales $2,372,869333,291 (100%) $1,947,7682,085,282 (100%) 

Cost of Goods Sold $554,017 (23.35530,067 
(22.72%) 

$415,978 (21.36394,929 
(18.94%) 

Labor Costs $746,464 (31.45767,908 
(32.91%) 

$552,504587,270 (28.3716%) 

Facility Expense $162,511 (6.85230,768 
(9.89%) 

$229,910 (11.80227,543 
(10.91%) 

Other Expenses / Royalty Fees $372,476353,363 (15.7023%) $427,988 (21.97431,593 
(20.70%) 

Net Profit $537,401 (22.65%)$449,185 
(19.25) 

$321,388 (16.50443,947 
(21.29%) 

For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 5 

(Austin) 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 6 

(Sugar Land) 
Gross Sales $2,156,891600,869 (100%) $1,668,590876,331 (100%) 

Cost of Goods Sold $515,731 (23.91577,430 
(22.20%) 

$335,092 (20.08359,031 
(19.13%) 

Labor Costs $662,384785,483 (30.7120%) $572,360 (34.30539,682 
(28.76%) 

Facility Expense $123,085 (5.71242,676 
(9.33%) 

$159,421178,279 (9.5550%) 

Other Expenses / Royalty Fees $293,768 (13.62368,489 
(14.17%) 

$307,991 (18.46290,638 
(15.49%) 

Net Profit $561,923 (26.05%) $626,791 
(24.10%) 

$293,726 (17.61508,701 
(27.11%) 

For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 2023 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 7 

(Doral)  
Gross Sales $1,648,960 (100%)  
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For the Twelve-Month  
Period Ending 

December 31, 20232022 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1 

(Katy) 

Franchisee-Owned 
Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 2 

(The Woodlands) 
Cost of Goods Sold $335,576 (20.35%)  

Labor Costs $697,215 (42.28%)  
Facility Expense $187,063 (11.34%)  

Other Expenses / Royalty Fees $249,059 (15.10%)  
Net Profit $180,047 (10.92%)  

 
Table 3 
 

Annual Franchise Expenses Not Included in Table 1 

Assuming Median Annual Gross Sales of $1,544,067572,124 

Royalty Fee (5%) $77,20378,606 

Marketing Fund Contribution (1%) $15,440721 

Local Advertising and Marketing (2%) $30,88131,442 

 
Notes: 
 
(1) The affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1 reported above in Table 1 opened May 2012 at 

2420 Rice Boulevard, Houston, Texas 77005, occupies a leased space of approximately 1,700 
square feet (not including outdoor seating), and is open Sunday through Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 
pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 11:00 pm.  All of our affiliates revenue related to 
catering and off-site sales are attributed to this Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1. 

 
 The affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 2 reported above in Table 1 opened January 2015 at 

797 Sorella Court, Houston, Texas 77024, occupies a leased space of approximately 2,315 square 
feet (not including outdoor seating), and is open Sunday through Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm 
and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 12:00 am. 

 
 The affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 3 reported above in Table 1 opened December 2018 

at 2701 Drexel Drive, Houston, Texas 77027, occupies a leased space of approximately 2,364 
square feet (not including outdoor seating), and is open Sunday through Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 
pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 10:00 pm. 

 
 The affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 4 reported above in Table 1 opened July 2018 at 

143 Century Square, Suite 110, College Station, Texas 77840, occupies a leased space of 
approximately 2,280 square feet (not including outdoor seating), and is open Sunday through 
Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 11:00 pm. 

 
(2) The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 1 reported above in Table 2 opened April 2018 at 

23501 Cinco Ranch Blvd, Suite S120, Katy, Texas 77494, and is open Sunday through Thursday 
8:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 10:00 pm. 
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 The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 2 reported above in Table 2 opened February 
2019 at 9595 Six Pines Drive, Suite 450, The Woodlands, Texas 77380, and is open Sunday 
through Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 10:00 pm. 

 
 The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 3 reported above in Table 2 opened June 2019 at 

15900 La Cantera Pkwy., Suite 19160, San Antonio, Texas 78256, and is open Sunday through 
Thursday 9:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm. 

 
 The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 4 reported above in Table 2 opened March 2020 

at 700 Baybrook Mall, Suite H105, Friendswood, Texas 77546, and is open Monday through 
Thursday 9:00 am to 9:00 pm, Friday 9 am to 10 pm, Saturday 8 am to 10 pm and Sunday 8 am to 
9 pm. 

 
 The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 5 reported above in Table 2 opened August 2020 

at 11410 Century Oaks Terrace, Suite 112, Austin, Texas 78758, and is open Sunday through 
Thursday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 10:00 pm. 

 
 The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 6 reported above in Table 2 opened October 2020 

at 15911 City Walk, Sugar Land, Texas 77479, and is open Sunday through Thursday 8:00 am to 
9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 10:00 pm. 

 
The franchisee-owned Sweet Paris Crêperie No. 7 reported above in Table 2 opened in December 
2022 at 5335 NW 87th Ave, C101, Doral, Florida 33178 and is open Sunday through Thursday 
8:00 am to 9:00 pm and Friday through Saturday 8:00 am to 9:00 pm. 

 
(3) The “Cost of Goods Sold” category in Table 1 and Table 2 includes paper goods, baked goods, 

can and dry goods, dairy products, frozen products, meat, poultry, produce, seafood, wine and 
beer as well as all non-alcoholic beverages. 

 
(4) The “Labor Costs” category in Table 1 includes hourly payroll, salaries, bonuses, contract labor, 

payroll taxes, health insurance costs and worker’s compensation insurance, including the salaries 
of a General Manager and an Assistant Manager for each unit, but exclude the labor expenses 
related to our Regional Manager, Jonathan Youmans, our Director of Operations, who oversees 
the General Manager of each of the reported Sweet Paris Cafe locations, our Chief Development 
Officer, Alberto Landero and our founder and Manager Ivan Chavez.  The labor costs figures do 
not include other forms of insurance, employee meals or other benefits. 

 
(5) The “Labor Costs” category in Table 2 includes hourly payroll, salaries, bonuses, contract labor, 

payroll taxes, health insurance costs and worker’s compensation insurance, including the salaries 
of a General Manager and an Assistant Manager for each unit.  The labor costs figures do not 
include other forms of insurance, employee meals or other benefits. 

 
(6) The “Facility Expense” category in Table 1 and Table 2 includes base rent and all triple net and/or 

common area maintenance charges attributable to periods indicated.  The following expenses are 
included in the Facility Expense: repairs and maintenance, restaurant decorations, gas, electricity, 
water, property tax and business insurance. 
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(7) The “Other Expenses” category in Table 1 includes the following:  marketing expenses, bank 

charges, bank card merchant charges, computer and internet expenses, auto expenses, catering 
expenses, chemical purchases, repairs and maintenance, cleaning and laundry expenses, delivery 
fees, healthcare expenses, pest control, promotional expenses, restaurant supplies, shipping, 
freight and delivery, uniforms, dues and subscriptions, office expenses, bookkeeping and 
accounting costs, general administrative expenses, charitable contributions, parking fees, security 
expenses, stationary and printing, travel expenses, insurance, legal and professional fees, licenses 
and permits, storage, franchise taxes, and utilities. 

 
(8) The “Other Expenses” category in Table 1 excludes the following:  franchise legal fees, franchise 

video expenses and accounting adjustment entries with respect to prior year accounting entries. 
 
(9) The “Other Expenses / Royalty Fee” category in Table 2 includes the following:  Royalty Fee 

payments of 5% of Gross Sales, marketing expenses (including Marketing Fund contributions of 
1% of Gross Sales and local marketing expenditure obligations of 2% of Gross Sales), bank 
charges, bank card merchant charges, computer and internet expenses, auto expenses, catering 
expenses, chemical purchases, repairs and maintenance, cleaning and laundry expenses, delivery 
fees, healthcare expenses, pest control, promotional expenses, restaurant supplies, shipping, 
freight and delivery, uniforms, dues and subscriptions, office expenses, bookkeeping and 
accounting costs, general administrative expenses, charitable contributions, parking fees, security 
expenses, stationary and printing, travel expenses, insurance, legal and professional fees, licenses 
and permits, storage, franchise taxes, and utilities. 

 
(10) The “Other Expenses / Royalty Fee” category in Table 2 excludes the following:  accounting 

adjustment entries with respect to prior year accounting entries. 
 
(11) Because the Sweet Paris Crêperies whose results appear above in Table 1 are affiliate-owned and 

operated, they paid no Royalty Fees. You must consider your Crêperie's required Royalty Fee 
payment (currently 5% of Gross Sales) as part of expected operating expenses.  The annual 
Royalty Fee that your Crêperie would have been required to pay had it achieved the median Gross 
Sales levels reflected in Table 1 above is identified in Table 3. 

 
Under the Franchise Agreement, we have established a Marketing Fund into which you must 
contribute up to 2% (although currently 1%) of your Crêperie's monthly Gross Sales, and you 
must spend at least 2% of your Crêperie's annual Gross Sales on local advertising and marketing.  
Any amount that you are required to contribute to us toward the Marketing Fund in excess of 1% 
of Gross Sales will count toward your local marketing expenditure obligations. 
 
The Marketing Fund Contribution amount in Table 3 represents the annual expense you would 
have been required to pay had it achieved the median Gross Sales levels reflected in Table 1 
above. 
 
The Local Advertising and Marketing amount in Table 3 represents the annual expense you would 
have been required to incur under the Franchise Agreement, had your Crêperie achieved the 
median Gross Sales levels reflected in Table 1 above. 
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(12) The expense figures presented above in Table 1 and Table 2 are also presented as a percentage of 

Gross Sales, and were calculated using the following formula:   
 
    Expense Figure  
    Gross Sales 
 
(13) As indicated, you may incur bookkeeping and accounting costs not included in the above figures.  

Such costs associated with the above reflected Sweet Paris Crêperies are not included, as these 
costs are paid by a separate affiliate-owned company of ours. 

 
(14) The affiliate-owned unit reported above offers substantially the same products and services to the 

public as you will as a franchisee operating a franchised unit.  The characteristics of the above 
included outlets do not differ materially from those of the outlet that may be offered to a 
prospective franchisee. 

 
Other than the preceding financial performance representation, we do not make any 

representations about a franchisee’s future financial performance or the past financial performance of 
company-owned or franchised outlets.  We also do not authorize our employees or representatives to 
make any such representations either orally or in writing.  If you are purchasing an existing outlet, 
however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet.  If you receive any other financial 
performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchisor’s 
management by contacting Scott Haehnel, Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 
2250, Houston, Texas 77027, (713) 234-6855, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate state 
regulatory agencies. 
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Item 20 
 

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION 

Table No. 1 
 

Systemwide Outlet Summary 
For years 20202021 to 20232022 

 
Column 1 

 
Outlet Type  

 

Column 2 
 

Year 

Column 3 
 

Outlets at the  
Start of the Year 

Column 4 
 

Outlets at the 
End of the Year 

Column 5 
 

Net Change 

Franchised 20212020 36 6 +30 
20222021 6 67 +01 
20232022 67 78 +1 

Company- 
Owned 

20212020 4 4 0 
20222021 4 4 0 
20232022 4 45 0+1 

Total Outlets 20212020 710 10 +30 
20222021 10 1011 0+1 
20222023 1011 1113 +12 

 
Table No. 2 

 
Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor) 

For years 20202021 to 20222023 

 
Column 1 

 
State 

Column 2 
 

Year 

Column 3 
 

Number of Transfers 
 

TexasNone 20212020 0 
20222021 0 
20222023 0 

Totals 20202021 0 
20222021 0 
20222023 0 

 
Table No. 3 

Status of Franchised Outlets 
For years 20202021 to 20222023 
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Col. 1 

State 

Col. 2 

Year 

Col. 3 

Outlets 
at 

Start 
of 

Year 

Col. 4 

Outlets 
Opened 

Col. 5 

Terminations 

Col. 6 

Non- 
Renewals 

Col. 7 

Reacquired 
by 

Franchisor 

Col. 8 

Ceased 
Operations 

Other 
Reasons 

Col. 9 

Outlets 
at End 
of the 
Year 

Texas 20202021 36 30 0 0 0 0 6 
 20222021 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 
 20222023 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 
Florida 20202021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
 2022 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 
 2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
Minnesota 2021 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
 2022 0 10 0 0 0 0 10 
Totals 20202023 30 31 0 0 0 0 61 
Totals 2021 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 
 2022 6 1 0 0 0 0 7 
 2023 7 1 0 0 0 0 8 

 
Table No. 4 

Status of Company-Owned or Affiliate-Owned Outlets 
For years 20202021 to 20222023 

 
Col. 1 

State 

Col. 2 

Year 

Col. 3 

Outlets at 
Start of 

Year 

Col. 4 

Outlets 
Opened 

Col. 5 

Outlets 
Reacquired 

From 
Franchisee 

Col. 6 

Outlets 
Closed 

Col. 7 

Outlets 
Sold to 
Franchi

see 

Col. 8 

Outlets at 
End of 

the Year 

Texas 2020 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Florida 2021 40 0 0 0 0 40 

 2022 40 0 0 0 0 40 

Totals 2020202
3 

40 01 0 0 0 41 

Texas 2021 4 0 0 0 0 4 

 2022 4 0 0 0 0 4 

 2023 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Totals 2021 4 0 0 0 0 4 

 2022 4 0 0 0 0 4 
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Col. 1 

State 

Col. 2 

Year 

Col. 3 

Outlets at 
Start of 

Year 

Col. 4 

Outlets 
Opened 

Col. 5 

Outlets 
Reacquired 

From 
Franchisee 

Col. 6 

Outlets 
Closed 

Col. 7 

Outlets 
Sold to 
Franchi

see 

Col. 8 

Outlets at 
End of 

the Year 

2023 4 1 0 0 0 5 
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Table No. 5 
 

Projected Openings as of December 31, 20222023 

 
Column 1 

 
State 

Column 2 
 

Franchise 
Agreements Signed 

But Outlet Not 
Opened 

Column 3 
 

Projected New 
Franchised Outlet In 

The Next Year 

Column 4 
 

Projected New 
Company-Owned 
Outlet In the Next 

Year 
Arizona 3 1 0 

Arkansas 2 0 0 

Florida 111 0 1 

Minnesota 43 1 0 

North Carolina 3 0 0 

Oklahoma 2 0 0 

Tennessee 2 0 0 

Texas 512 12 0 

Totals 1238 24 1 

 
The tables above disclose outlets in the US only.  As described in Item 1, we have licensed our 

concept to Vidanta Resorts for the operation of a Sweet Paris Crêperie in Acapulco, Mexico and Nuevo 
Vallarta, Nayarit, Mexico. 

As of December 31, 20222023, there were 78 franchisees in our System with outlets opened and 
6the following franchisees with outlets still to develop, which are listed below. 

Franchisees Operating: 
 
Professional Creations, LLC 
Carlos Rueda 
23501 Cinco Ranch Blvd., #120 
Katy, TX 77494 
(281) 394-5995 
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Crepetivity LLC 
Carlos Rueda 
15911 City Walk 
Sugar Land, TX 77478 
(346) 368-2028 
 
MRK Entities, LLC 
Michael R. Kelton 
9595 Six Pines Drive, Suite 450 
The Woodlands, TX 77380 
(281) 651-2153 
 
MRK ATX Domain, LLC 
Michael R. Kelton 
11410 Century Oaks Terrace, #112 
Austin, TX 78758 
(512) 551-3979 
 
Mam Goz Houston, LLC 
Ludovic Legall 
700 Baybrook Mall, Suite H105  
Friendswood, TX 77546 
251-680-9192 
 
Texas Creperies, LLC 
Stephane Raveneau 
The Shops at La Cantera 
15900 La Cantera Pkwy., Suite 19160 
San Antonio, TX 78256 
210-561-4452 
 
A&I Doral, LLC 
Ivette Escobar & Antonio Montano 
5335 NW 87th Ave., Suite C-101 
Doral, FL  33178 
832-540-7887 
 
Tenacity Restaurant Group 
Dan Vansteenburg 
265 Radio Dr., Suite K 
Woodbury, MN 55125 
651-348-6549 
 



 

61 
FDD-Sweet Paris-2023v32024v1 
 

Franchise Agreement or Area Development Agreement Signed but Outlet Not Yet Opened: 
 
Creperie Endeavors, LLC 
John and Sue Gilbert 
Phoenix, AZ 
Scottsdale, AZ 
949-813-3487 
 
Michael and Melissa Aaron 
Fayetteville, AR 
Rogers, AR 
817-694-7731 
 
A&I Doral, LLC 
Ivette Escobar & Antonio Montano 
5335 NW 87th Ave., Suite C-101 
Doral, FL  33178 
832-540-7887 
 
Virentes Partners Group 
James D’Aquila 
David Sachs 
Coral Gables, FL 
Ft. Myers, FL 
Jacksonville, FL 
Lakeland, FL  
Marco Island, FL 
Naples, FL 
Orlando, FL 
Sarasota, FL 
Tampa/St. Pete, FL 
jad@virentes.com 
david.sachs@sweetparis.com 
 
Tenacity Restaurant Group SP-MN, LLC 
Dustin Wetzel – 612-849-5401 
Pete Thelen – 651-246-3913 
Dan Vansteenberg 
Bloomington, MN 
Edina, MN 
Wayzata, MN 
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Virentes Partners Group 
James D’Aquila 
David Sachs 
Raleigh/Durham, NC 
Greensboro, NC 
jad@virentes.com 
david.sachs@sweetparis.com 
 
Sweet & Savory LLC 
(Signed an Area Development Agreement for 2 outlets and has opened 0) 
Dawit Soparkdithapong (aka “Dave Sopark”) 
Broken Arrow, OK 
918-645-4999 
 
Virentes Partners Group 
James D’Aquila 
David Sachs 
Oklahoma City, OK 
Tulsa, OK 
jad@virentes.com 
david.sachs@sweetparis.com 
 
Pap Goz Houston, LLC 
(Signed an Area Development Agreement for 3 outlets and has opened 0) 
Ludovic LeGall 
700 Baybrook Mall, Suite H105 
FriendswoodAllen, TX  77546 
Frisco, TX 
McKinney, TX 
Plano, TX 
251-680-9192 
 
Texas Creperies, LLC 
Stephane Raveneau 
The Shops at La Cantera 
15900 La Cantera Pkwy., Suite 19160 
San Antonio, TX 78256 
 
MRK ATX Domain, LLC 
(Signed an Area Development Agreement for 2 outlets and has opened 1) 
Michael R. Kelton 
11410 Century Oaks Terrace, #112 
AustinCypress, TX 78758 
(512) -551-3979 
 
A&I Doral, LLC 
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(Signed an Area Development Agreement for 2 outlets and has opened 1) 
Ivette Escobar & Antonio Montano 
5335 NW 87th Ave., Suite C-101 
Doral, FL  33178 
832-540-7887 
 
Tenacity Restaurant Group 
(Signed an Area Development Agreement for 4 outlets and has opened 0) 
Dan Vansteenburg 
Woodbury, MN 
651-592-4784 
 
Creperie Endeavors, LLC 
John and Sue Gilbert 
Ft. Worth, TX 
949-813-3487 
 
 
Teams Creperie, LLC 
Edward and Cynthia Hymes 
Dallas, TX 
Highland Park, TX 
Las Colinas, TX 
Southlake, TX 
N. Fort Worth, TX 
281-543-9750 
 
There have been no franchisees who were terminated, cancelled, or not renewed or otherwise 

voluntarily or involuntarily ceasing to do business under a Franchise Agreement with us. There are no 
franchisees who have not communicated with us within 10 weeks of the issuance date of this Disclosure 
Document. 

 
If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you 

leave the franchise system.  No franchisees or third party operators have signed confidentiality clauses 
restricting their ability to speak openly about their experiences with the System.  There are currently no 
trademark-specific franchisee organizations associated with the System. 

Item 21 
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attached as Exhibit D are our audited financial statements for the years ending December 31, 
2020, 2021, 2022 and 20222023.  Our fiscal year ends December 31st. 
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Item 22 
 

CONTRACTS 

 The following contracts are attached to this Disclosure Document: 

Exhibit B – Franchise Agreement, including the following agreements: 
● Principal Owner’s Guaranty (as Exhibit A) 
● Authorization for Prearranged Payments (as Exhibit D) 
● Option for Assignment of Lease (as Exhibit E) 
● Franchisee Disclosure Acknowledgment Statement (as Exhibit G) 

 
Exhibit C – Area Development Agreement, including the following agreements: 

● Guaranty and Assumption of Obligations (as Exhibit C) 
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EXHIBIT A 

STATE ADMINISTRATORS/AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS 

If a state is not listed, we have not appointed an agent for service of process in that state 
in connection with the requirements of the franchise laws.  There may be states in addition to 
those listed below in which we have appointed an agent for service of process.   

 
There also may be additional agents appointed in some of the states listed. 

 
CALIFORNIA 
 
Department of Financial Protection and 
Innovation: 
 
320 West 4th Street, Suite 750 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
(213) 576-7500  Toll Free (866) 275-2677 
 
1515 K Street, Suite 200 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
(916) 445-7205 
 
1350 Front Street 
San Diego, CA 92101 
(619) 525-4233 
 
One Sansome Street, Suite 600 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
(415) 972-8559 
 
Agent: 
California Commissioner of Financial 
Protection and Innovation 

CONNECTICUT 
 
State of Connecticut 
Department of Banking 
Securities & Crêperie Investments Division 
260 Constitution Plaza 
Hartford, CT  06103-1800 
(860) 240-8230 
 
Agent: 
Banking Commissioner 
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HAWAII 
 
Commissioner of Securities 
Department of Commerce and Consumer 
Affairs 
335 Merchant Street 
Honolulu, Hawaii  96813 
(808) 586-2744 
 
Agent: 
Commissioner of Securities of the 
Department of Commerce and Consumer 
Affairs 

ILLINOIS 
 
Franchise Division 
Office of Attorney General 
500 South Second Street 
Springfield, Illinois  62706 
(217) 782-4465 
 
Agent: 
Illinois Attorney General 

INDIANA 
 
Franchise Section 
Indiana Securities Division 
Room E-111 
302 West Washington Street 
Indianapolis, Indiana  46204 
(317) 232-6681 
 
Agent: 
Indiana Secretary of State 
Indiana Securities Division 
201 State House 
200 West Washington Street 
Indianapolis, IN  46204 
(317) 232-6531 

MARYLAND 
 
Office of the Attorney General  
Securities Division 
200 St. Paul Place 
Baltimore, Maryland  21202-2020 
(410) 576-6360 
 
 
Agent: 
Maryland Securities Commissioner 

MICHIGAN 
 
Consumer Protection Division 
Antitrust and Franchise Unit 
Michigan Department of Attorney General 
670 Law Building 
Lansing, Michigan  48913 
(517) 373-7177 
 
Agent: 
Michigan Department of Commerce 
Corporations and Securities Bureau 
P.O. Box 30054 
6546 Mercantile Way 
Lansing, Michigan  48909 

MINNESOTA 
 
Minnesota Department of Commerce 
85 7th Place East, Suite 500 
St. Paul, Minnesota  55101-2198 
(651) 296-6328 
 
 
 
Agent: 
Minnesota Commissioner of Commerce 
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NEBRASKA 
 
Nebraska Department of Banking and 
Finance 
1200 N Street 
P.O. Box 95006 
Lincoln, Nebraska  68509-5006 

NORTH CAROLINA 
 
Department of the Secretary of State 
PO Box 29622 
Raleigh, NC  27626-0622 
 

NEW YORK 
 
Bureau of Investor Protection and Securities 
New York State Department of Law 
23rd Floor 
120 Broadway 
New York, New York  10271 
(212) 416-8211 
 
Agent: 
New York Secretary of State 
162 Washington Street 
Albany, New York 12231 
(518) 474-4750 

NORTH DAKOTA 
 
Office of Securities Commissioner 
Fifth Floor 
600 East Boulevard 
Bismarck, North Dakota  58505 
(701) 328-2910 
 
 
Agent: 
North Dakota Securities Commissioner 

OREGON 
 
Department of Insurance and Finance 
Corporate Securities Section 
Labor and Industries Building 
Salem, Oregon  97310 
(503) 378-4387 
 
Agent: 
Director of Oregon Department of Insurance 
and Finance 

RHODE ISLAND 
 
Division of Securities 
Suite 232 
233 Richmond Street 
Providence, Rhode Island  02903 
(401) 222-3048 
 
Agent: 
Director of Rhode Island Department of 
Crêperie Regulation 

SOUTH DAKOTA 
 
Division of Securities 
c/o 118 West Capitol 
Pierre, South Dakota  57501 
(605) 773-4013 
 
Agent: 
Director of South Dakota Division Securities  

TEXAS 
 
Secretary of State 
P.O. Box 12887 
Austin, Texas  78711 
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VIRGINIA 
 
State Corporation Commission 
Division of Securities and Retail Franchising 
1300 East Main Street, 9th Floor 
Richmond, Virginia  23219 
(804) 371-9051 
 
 
Agent: 
Clerk of the State Corporation Commission 

WASHINGTON 
 
Director 
Department of Financial Institutions 
Securities Division 
P.O. Box 9033 
Olympia, Washington  98507 
(360) 902-8760 
 
Agent: 
Securities Administrator, Director of 
Department of Financial Institutions 
General Admin. Bldg., 3rd Floor 
210-11th Avenue, S.W. 
Olympia, Washington 98504 

WISCONSIN 
 
Securities and Franchise Registration 
Wisconsin Securities Commission 
201 West Washington Avenue, Suite 300 
Madison, Wisconsin 53703 
(608) 266-2139 
 
Agent: 
Wisconsin Commissioner of Securities 
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

 
This Franchise Agreement (this “Agreement”) is being entered as of ____________, 

20__ (the “Agreement Date”).  The parties to this Agreement are you, ____________________ 
______________________________________, (sometimes referred to as “Franchisee” or 
“Franchise Owner”), us, Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a Texas limited liability company 
(sometimes referred to as “Company”) and, if you are a corporation, limited liability company or 
partnership, your “Principal Owners” (defined below).   

1. INTRODUCTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. 

A. This Agreement has been written in an informal style in order to make it more 
easily readable and to be sure that you become thoroughly familiar with all of the important 
rights and obligations the Agreement covers before you sign it.  If you are a corporation, limited 
liability company or partnership, you will notice certain provisions that are applicable to those 
principal shareholders, owners or partners on whose business skill, financial capability and 
personal character we are relying in entering into this Agreement.  Those individuals will be 
referred to in this Agreement as “Principal Owners” and are identified on Exhibit C. 

B. Through the expenditure of considerable time, effort and money, we and our 
affiliates have devised a system for the establishment and operation of crêperie & cafés featuring 
crêpes, waffles, coffees, and other specialty menu items (all of which we refer to in this 
Agreement as the “System”).  We and our affiliates identify the System by the use of certain 
trademarks, service marks and other commercial symbols, including “Sweet Paris,” and certain 
associated designs and logos, which we may change or add to from time to time (the “Marks”). 

C. We grant to persons who meet our qualifications franchises to own and operate 
Sweet Paris Crêperie & Cafés (each a “Sweet Paris Crêperie”) in accordance with the System 
and under the Marks.  This Franchise Agreement is being presented to you because of the desire 
you have expressed to obtain the right to develop, own and be franchised to operate a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie.  In signing this Agreement, you acknowledge your understanding of the 
importance of our high standards of quality and service and the necessity of operating your 
Sweet Paris Crêperie in strict conformity with our standards and specifications.  You also 
acknowledge that you have conducted an independent investigation of the Sweet Paris Crêperie 
business and recognize that, like any other business, the nature of it may evolve and change over 
time, that an investment in a Sweet Paris Crêperie involves business risks, and that the success of 
this business venture is primarily dependent on your business abilities and efforts. 

D. We expressly disclaim making, and you acknowledge that you have not received 
or relied on, any guarantee, express or implied, as to the revenues, profits, or likelihood of 
success of the Sweet Paris Crêperie venture contemplated by this Agreement.  You acknowledge 
that there have been no representations by us or our officers, directors, shareholders, employees, 
or agents, that are inconsistent with the statements made in our franchise disclosure document or 
the provisions of this Agreement.  You further represent to us, as an inducement to our entering 
into this Agreement with you, that there have been no misrepresentations to us in your 
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application for the rights granted by this Agreement or in the financial information provided by 
you and your Principal Owners. 

E. If you are now or at any time in the future a corporation, limited liability company 
or partnership, you agree and represent that:  

(1) You have or will have the authority to execute, deliver and perform your 
obligations under this Agreement and are or will be duly organized or formed and validly 
existing in good standing under the laws of the state of your incorporation or formation; 

(2) Your organizational documents recite or will recite that the issuance and 
transfer of any ownership interests in you are restricted by the terms of this Agreement, 
and all certificates and other documents representing ownership interests in you will bear 
a legend referring to the restrictions of this Agreement; and 

(3) Each Principal Owner will execute an agreement in the form that we 
prescribe undertaking to be bound jointly and severally by all provisions of this 
Agreement. 

2. GRANT OF FRANCHISE. 

2.1 Term.  You have applied for a franchise to own and operate a Sweet Paris 
Crêperie at the Premises (as defined below) and we have approved your application in reliance 
on all of the representations you made in that application.  As a result, and subject to the 
provisions of this Agreement, we grant to you a franchise (the “Franchise”) to operate a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie at the Premises (the “Crêperie”), and to use the System and the Marks in the 
operation of the Crêperie, for an “Initial Term” of 10 years from the Opening Date, as defined in 
Section 3.6, unless the Franchise is terminated earlier pursuant to the provisions of this 
Agreement.  Termination or expiration of this Agreement will constitute a termination or 
expiration of your Franchise.  The “Premises” of the Crêperie shall be the location identified in 
Exhibit B subsequent to the execution of this Agreement, upon our approval of the location and 
execution of the related lease or purchase contract, in accordance with Section 3.1. 

2.2 Full Term Performance.  You specifically agree to perform the obligations of 
this Agreement, and continuously exert your best efforts to promote and enhance the business of 
the Crêperie, for the full Initial Term of this Agreement. 

2.3 Site Selection Area.  You must locate and secure, through lease or purchase, 
subject to our approval, the Premises for the Crêperie within the area identified in Exhibit B (the 
“Site Selection Area”).  You will be limited to locating and securing a site for the Crêperie 
within this Site Selection Area.  You agree that the Site Selection Area is solely for the purpose 
of locating a site, and shall in no way be considered an exclusive or protected area for the 
Crêperie.  In the case that another franchisee of ours has been granted franchise rights to operate 
a Sweet Paris Crêperie within the Site Selection Area, your Crêperie must not encroach upon 
such franchisee’s specified protected area. 

2.4 Protected Area. Upon your signing of this Agreement, you will receive a 
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protected area which will be described in Exhibit B (the “Protected Area”).  Except as otherwise 
provided in this Agreement and subject to your full compliance with this Agreement, and any 
other agreement between you and us or our affiliates, we will not establish or authorize any 
person or entity other than you to establish a Sweet Paris Crêperie in the Protected Area during 
the term of this Agreement. 

2.5 Reservation of Rights.  Except as provided in Section 2.4 above, the rights 
granted to you under this Agreement are non-exclusive, and we retain all rights within and 
outside the Protected Area.  More specifically, we retain all rights with respect to Sweet Paris 
Crêperies, the Marks and the System, including (by way of example only and not as a limitation),  

(a) the own, acquire, establish and/or operate and license others to establish 
and operate Sweet Paris Crêperies outside of the Protected Area on terms and conditions 
we deem appropriate, notwithstanding their proximity to the Protected Area or the 
Crêperie or their actual or threatened impact on sales of the Crêperie;  

(b) the right to produce and sell products using the Marks or other commercial 
symbols through other channels of distribution pursuant to terms and conditions we deem 
appropriate;  

(c) the right to own, acquire, establish and/or operate and license others to 
establish and operate Sweet Paris Crêperies or similar restaurant or Crêperie facilities at 
Non-Traditional Sites (as defined below) at any location within or outside the Protected 
Area.  As used in this Agreement, “Non-Traditional Sites” shall mean outlets that serve 
primarily the customers located within a facility, such as captive audience facilities 
(examples include, but are not limited to, parks charging admission, stadiums, 
amusement parks and centers, theaters and art centers), limited purpose facilities 
(examples include, but are not limited to, airports, transportation centers, department 
stores, in-door shopping centers or malls, business and industrial complexes, museums, 
educational facilities, hospitals, art centers, and recreational parks), limited access 
facilities (examples include, but are not limited to, military complexes, buyer club 
businesses, educational facilities, business and industrial complexes), and other types of 
institutional accounts; and  

(d) the right to own, acquire, establish and/or operate and license others to 
establish and operate other retail or restaurant outlets or enter into other lines of 
businesses offering similar or dissimilar products or services under trademarks or service 
marks other than the Marks. 

(e) The right to (i) acquire one or more retail businesses that are the same as, 
or similar to, Sweet Paris Crêperies then operating under the System (each an “Acquired 
Business”), which may be at any location within or outside the Protected Area, 
notwithstanding their proximity to the Protected Area or the Crêperie or their actual or 
threatened impact on sales of the Crêperie, and to (ii) operate and/or license others to 
operate any Acquired Business under its existing name or as a Sweet Paris Crêperie under 
the System 
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2.6 Sales by Franchisee.  You may from the location of the Crêperie solicit and sell 
to customers regardless of their location, provided that you may not offer or sell any products or 
services at wholesale or by mail order or over the Internet or any other electronic modem, or 
through delivery service or online ordering (including sales through third-party food ordering 
and delivery service providers), or operate a catering service or off-Premises business, without 
our prior written consent.  In the case that we provide consent to sell to customer through 
delivery service or online ordering (including sales through third-party food ordering and 
delivery service providers) or to operate a catering service or off-Premises business, you may do 
so only in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and the procedures and policies 
set forth in the Operations Manual, and only in geographical areas that we designate.  You may 
not sell any products by mail order or over the Internet (or any other electronic modem) without 
our prior written consent.  You acknowledge that from the location of their Sweet Paris 
Crêperies, the Company, its affiliates and other franchisees of the Company also may solicit and 
sell to customers wherever located.  You shall have no rights to any such sales by us or our other 
franchisees.  

2.7 Renewal of Franchise.  You may, at your option, renew the Franchise for 3 
additional terms of 5 years each, provided that: 

(a) You have given us written notice of an election to renew not less than 6 
months nor more than 12 months prior to the end of the Initial Term and any renewal 
term of this Agreement; 

(b) You are not at such time in material breach of any of your obligations 
under this Agreement or any other agreement with us; 

(c) You have substantially complied on a timely basis with all of the 
conditions and requirements of this Agreement and any other agreements with us or our 
affiliates throughout the terms of such agreements; 

(d) You agree to remodel and redecorate the Crêperie to comply with our then 
current requirements for a Sweet Paris Crêperie; and 

(e) Subject to applicable law, you and your owners execute a general release, 
in a form prescribed by us, of any claims against us and our affiliates, and our and their 
officers, directors, agents and employees. 

Each renewal will be effectuated by execution of our then current form of 
franchise agreement, and all other agreements, instruments and documents then customarily used 
by us in granting franchises or renewal franchises for Sweet Paris Crêperies, the terms of which 
may differ from this Agreement, except that the term shall be as described in this Section 2.7.  A 
renewal fee equal to 25% of our then current initial franchise fee for a Sweet Paris Crêperie 
franchise will be payable upon each renewal of the Franchise. 

Upon receipt of your election to renew the Franchise, we agree to give you 
written notice of any deficiencies in the operation or historical performance of the Crêperie 
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which could cause us not to renew the Franchise.  Our notice will state what actions, if any, you 
must take to correct the deficiencies in your operation of the Crêperie or in the Premises and will 
specify the time period in which those deficiencies must be corrected or other requirements 
satisfied.  Renewal of the Franchise will be conditioned on your correction of all deficiencies 
identified in our notice and your continued compliance with all the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement up to the date of expiration.  If we send a notice of non-renewal it will state the 
reasons for our refusal to renew. 

3. DEVELOPMENT AND OPENING OF THE CRÊPERIE. 

3.1 Site Selection; Possession of Premises.  You shall be solely responsible for 
identifying, submitting for our approval, and obtaining lawful possession of the Premises for the 
Crêperie within the Site Selection Area.  You must obtain lawful possession of the Premises 
through lease or purchase within 120 days after the Agreement Date.  You agree that you will not 
execute a lease or purchase contract without our prior written approval of the location of the 
Premises and the terms of the lease or purchase contract, including, without limitation, landlord 
acceptance of our proposed façade and signage.  To obtain our approval, you must submit to us, 
in a form specified by us, a completed site approval package, which shall include: (i) a site 
approval form prescribed by us; (ii) a trade area and/or site marketing research analysis (prepared 
by a company approved in advance by us); (iii) an option contract, letter of intent, or other 
evidence satisfactory to us which describes your favorable prospects for obtaining such site; (iv) 
photographs of the site; (v) demographic statistics; (vi) the lease or purchase contract; and (vii) 
such other information or materials as we may reasonably require (collectively, the “SAP”).  We 
will have 30 days after receipt of the SAP from you to approve or disapprove, in our sole 
discretion, the proposed site for the Crêperie.  In the event we do not approve a proposed site by 
written notice to you within this 30 day period, such site and lease or purchase contract shall be 
deemed disapproved.  No site shall be deemed approved unless it has been expressly approved in 
writing by us.  We reserve the right to disapprove a site prior to receiving an SAP from you 
based upon our experience and prior knowledge of the Site Selection Area.  Any lease for the 
Premises of the Crêperie must, if we require it, permit us to take possession of the Premises 
under certain conditions if this Agreement expires or terminates, and shall also contain such 
terms and provisions as are reasonably approved by us.  You must further sign and have your 
landlord sign the Option for Assignment of Lease, included as Exhibit E to this Agreement.  You 
acknowledge that our approval of a site will not constitute a representation or warranty, express 
or implied, as to the suitability of the Premises for a Sweet Paris Crêperie or for any other 
purpose.  You further acknowledge that neither our acceptance of the Premises nor any 
assistance in negotiation of the lease for the Premises constitutes any assurance that the Crêperie 
will be profitable or more profitable in comparison to other Sweet Paris Crêperie locations.  Our 
acceptance and any assistance is only an indication that the Premises meets our minimum 
criteria. 

3.2 Prototype and Construction Plans and Specifications.  We will furnish 
prototype plans and specifications reflecting our requirements for design, decoration, 
furnishings, furniture, layout, equipment, fixtures and signs for a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  We and 
you agree, at your own expense, to the following with respect to preparing and finalizing 
construction and engineering plans and specifications for the Crêperie:  
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(a) We will consult with our architect of choice for the purpose of designing 
the floorplan, kitchen layout and exterior elevations for the Premises of the Creperie, for 
which services the architect will charge and invoice us and we will then pass through this 
expense to you, which expense you shall pay us immediately upon demand, provided we 
reserve the right to have the architect charge and invoice you directly for such services.  
You agree to provide us with appropriate plans and/or “as built drawings” of the Premises 
for such purpose. 

(b) Once we have approved of the design for the floorplan, kitchen layout and 
exterior elevations of the Creperie pursuant to Section 3.2(a), you will engage an 
architect approved in advance by us to prepare final construction plans and specifications 
based upon our approved design, for which services the architect will charge and invoice 
you directly. 

(c) Simultaneously with the architect’s preparation of final construction plans 
and specifications, you will engage an engineer(s) approved in advance by us to prepare 
mechanical, electrical and plumbing construction plans and all other necessary 
engineering related plans for the Crêperie, including but not limited to structural 
engineering plans, for which services the engineer(s) will charge and invoice you 
directly. 

(d) It will be your responsibility to have all construction and engineering 
plans and specifications comply with all ordinances, building codes, permit requirements, 
and lease requirements and restrictions applicable to the Premises. 

(e) You must submit final construction plans and specifications to us for 
approval before construction begins at the Premises, and the Crêperie must be 
constructed in accordance with those approved plans. 

(f) You must keep us apprised of construction progress, by submitting bi-
weekly (once every two weeks) photos of the Premises being built-out for the sole 
purpose of ensuring the Crêperie is being constructed in accordance with the construction 
plans and specifications and reflect our Sweet Paris Crêperie prototype design and 
branding standards. 

(g) You expressly acknowledge and agree that our approval of construction 
plans and/or specifications for the Premises shall be for the sole purpose of reflecting our 
Sweet Paris Crêperie prototype design and branding standards.  You further expressly 
acknowledge and agree that we shall not be liable for the negligence, defects, poor 
workmanship, unsatisfactory performance or the like of any architect, engineer, 
contractor, firm, supplier, professional or consultant retained by you, whether or not 
designated by us.  You further expressly acknowledge and agree that we shall not be 
liable for price increases, increased costs or incorrect estimates made by us in connection 
the development of the Crêperie that are due to unforeseen circumstances and/or 
circumstances that are beyond our control. 
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(h) You expressly acknowledge and agree that we may modify the foregoing 
with respect to preparing and finalizing construction and engineering plans and 
specifications for the Crêperie from time to time.  Such modifications will be provided in 
our Operations Manual. 

3.3 Development of the Crêperie.  You agree at your own expense to do the 
following within a reasonable time after you have obtained possession of the Premises but in any 
event by such period as may be provided in any lease we have approved:   

(a) secure all financing required to fully develop the Crêperie;  

(b) obtain all required building, utility, sign, health, sanitation, and business 
permits and any other required permits and licenses, including all liquor, wine and beer 
licenses;  

(c) construct the Crêperie according to the construction plans and 
specifications we have approved;  

(d) decorate the Crêperie in compliance with plans and specifications we have 
approved;  

(e) purchase and install all required and approved equipment, furniture, 
fixtures and signs (the installation and use of used or second-hand equipment, furniture, 
fixtures and signs is prohibited); 

(f) cause the training requirements of Section 4 to be completed;  

(g) purchase an opening inventory of the products, beverages and other 
supplies and materials, including all menus and marketing materials;  

(h) do any other acts necessary to open the Crêperie for business;  

(i) obtain our approval to open the Crêperie for business; and  

(j) open the Crêperie for business. 

3.4 Brand Technology.  You agree to use in the development and operation of the 
Crêperie certain brands, types, makes, and/or models of communications, management systems, 
computer systems and hardware, as well as software and cloud based platforms and related 
technology and informational systems that are designated by us, including without limitation, (i) 
back office computer systems, point of sale systems and cash register systems (ii) storage, 
retrieval, and transmission systems for data, audio (including designated music platform), video 
(including designated video camera system) and voice; (iii) physical, electronic, video and other 
security systems; (iv) printers and other peripheral devices; (v) archival back-up systems; (vi) 
internet access mode and speed features such as high speed broadband connectivity; (vii) 
software and/or cloud based platforms related to online ordering, texting communication 
solutions, and means of encryption; and (viii) means of providing us unlimited access to all of 
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the foregoing (collectively, the “Brand Technology”).  You acknowledge that we may modify all 
aspects and the components of the Brand Technology from time to time.  As part of the Brand 
Technology, we may require you to obtain computer hardware and/or software we specify from a 
single vendor designated by us, and we or our affiliates may be the sole supplier of all or any part 
of the Brand Technology.  You agree to use only such items and services as we specify in 
connection with the Brand Technology.  We may require that you enter into a license exclusively 
with us or our affiliates to use proprietary software developed by or for us.  You may also be 
required to enter into agreements with others for use of third party software incorporated or used 
in connection with the Brand Technology.  Our modification of such specifications or 
components for the Brand Technology may require you incur costs to purchase, lease and/or 
license new or modified computer hardware and/or software and to obtain service and support 
for the Brand Technology during the term of this Agreement.  You acknowledge that the cost to 
you of obtaining the Brand Technology (including software licenses) (or additions, substitutions, 
replacements or modifications thereto) may not be fully amortizable over the remaining term of 
this Agreement.  Nonetheless, you agree to incur such costs in connection with obtaining the 
computer hardware and software comprising the Brand Technology (or additions, substitutions, 
replacements or modifications thereto).  You further acknowledge and agree that we have the 
right to charge reasonable fees for software or systems modifications and enhancements 
specifically made for us that are licensed to you and other maintenance and support services that 
we or our affiliates furnish to you related to the Brand Technology.  You may also incur charges 
from third parties who render services or provide products that we require you to purchase or 
use.  We shall have independent access through monitoring programs or otherwise to all 
information and data on your Brand Technology, including without limitation, access to (i) your 
sales and cost figures; (ii) your video camera system; and (iii) your music platform.  There are no 
contractual limitations on our right or timing to access this information and data. 

We may, from time-to-time, specify in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing the 
information that you must collect and maintain on the Brand Technology, and you must provide 
to us such reports as we may reasonably request from the data so collected and maintained.  All 
data pertaining to the Crêperie, and all data created or collected by you in connection with the 
System, or in connection with your operation of the Crêperie (including without limitation data 
pertaining to or otherwise concerning the Crêperie’s customers) or otherwise provided by you 
(including, without limitation, data uploaded to, or downloaded from the Brand Technology) is 
and will be owned exclusively by us, and we will have the right to use such data in any manner 
that we deem appropriate without compensation to you.  Copies and/or originals of such data 
must be provided to us upon our request.  We hereby license use of such data back to you for the 
term of this Agreement, at no additional cost, solely for your use in connection with the business 
franchised under this Agreement. 

 
You must abide by all applicable laws pertaining to privacy of information collected or 

maintained regarding customers or other individuals (“Privacy”), and shall comply with our 
standards and policies pertaining to Privacy.  If there is a conflict between our standards and 
policies pertaining to Privacy and applicable law, you shall:  (a) comply with the requirements of 
applicable law; (b) immediately give us written notice of such conflict; and (c) promptly and 
fully cooperate with us and our counsel as we may request to assist us in our determination 
regarding the most effective way, if any, to meet our standards and policies pertaining to Privacy 
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within the bounds of applicable law. 
 
3.5 Equipment, Furniture, Fixtures, Furnishings, Signs and Services.  You agree 

to use in the development and operation of the Crêperie only those brands, types, and/or models 
of equipment, furniture, fixtures, furnishings and signs we have approved, and also agree to 
purchase them from suppliers we have designated or approved.  If you desire to use a supplier 
that we have not approved, you shall first send us sufficient information, specifications and/or 
samples for us to determine whether the supplier meets our approved supplier criteria.  We may 
charge the supplier a reasonable testing fee and will decide within a reasonable time after 
receiving the required information whether you may purchase from such supplier.  You 
acknowledge and agree that we may revoke approval of a supplier at any time in our sole 
discretion by notifying you and/or the supplier. 

3.6 Crêperie Opening.  You agree not to open the Crêperie for business until:   

(a) all of your obligations under Sections 3.1 through 3.5 have been fulfilled;  

(b) we determine that the Crêperie has been constructed, decorated, furnished, 
equipped, and stocked with materials and supplies in accordance with plans and 
specifications we have approved;  

(c) you (or your designated Principal Owner as provided below) and your 
management team have completed pre-opening training to our satisfaction;  

(d) the initial franchise fee and all other amounts due to us have been paid; 
and  

(e) you have furnished us with copies of all insurance policies required by 
Section 10.9 of this Agreement.   

The date we approve the Crêperie to open for business is referred to as the “Opening 
Date.”  We agree to provide you with 1 or more representatives from our staff for up to 7 days in 
duration at the Crêperie to assist you in the opening of the Crêperie.  In the event you reschedule 
the opening of the Crêperie after we have scheduled our representative(s) to assist you with the 
opening, you agree to pay us a rescheduling fee equal to $500.  In the event we extend the 7 day 
duration of opening assistance as a result of you not being satisfactorily prepared to open the 
Crêperie (as we determined in our sole discretion) or upon your request, you agree to pay us a 
fee equal to $500 for each extra day of assistance provided plus our then-current per diem 
charges and out-of-pocket expenses, which shall be as set forth in the Operations Manual or 
otherwise in writing. 

You agree to conduct a grand opening advertising and marketing program for the 
Crêperie in compliance with a grand opening advertising and marketing plan developed by us, 
beginning 1 month before and continuing for up to 2 months following opening of the Crêperie 
intending to provide initial marketing awareness and momentum (“Grand Opening Marketing”).  
You agree to spend at least $75,000 on Grand Opening Marketing, which amount must be 
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deposited with us when you sign the lease or purchase contract for the Premises.  We will spend 
this amount on your behalf, in our sole discretion, toward Grand Open Marketing, including, 
without limitation, the hiring of a professional photographer and a public relations firm 
designated by us. 

You must satisfy all of your obligations under this Section 3 including the obtaining of all 
licenses and permits necessary to operate the Crêperie, including all liquor, beer and wine 
licenses.  You must obtain lawful possession of the Premises through lease or purchase within 
120 days after the Agreement Date and open the Crêperie for business within 270 days after the 
Agreement Date, unless you obtain a written extension of such time periods from us.  If you fail 
to satisfy the obligation to obtain lawful possession of the Premises through lease or purchase 
within 120 days after the Agreement Date or fail to satisfy all such obligations to open the 
Crêperie for business under this Section 3.6 within 270 days after the Agreement Date, we have 
the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to you. 

3.7 Relocation; Damage or Condemnation.  In the event the Crêperie is destroyed 
or rendered unusable by fire or other casualty, we may grant permission for the Crêperie to be 
repaired, restored or reconstructed at the Premises or any other agreed upon location.  We may 
also grant you permission to relocate the Crêperie if you lose your right to occupy the Premises 
through no fault of your own.  Any repair, restoration, reconstruction or relocation will be at 
your sole expense.  The Crêperie, whether we grant permission for you to repair, restore, 
reconstruct or relocate, must be open and operating no later than 6 months after its closure.  In 
addition, within 10 days of vacating the Crêperie, you must make such reasonable modifications 
to the exterior and interior of the Crêperie as we require to fully eliminate its identification and 
appearance as a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  If you fail or refuse to fully de-identify the Crêperie to the 
extent and in the manner required by this Agreement, we may, at our option and in addition to 
other rights and remedies we may have, make the modifications that are contemplated by this 
Agreement on your behalf and you agree to promptly pay and reimburse us on demand for any 
costs incurred by us including, without limitation, the proportionate compensation of our 
employees who devote time and render services in the de-identification of the Crêperie.  You 
also agree to pay us a fee on or before the Crêperie re-opens for business equal to 25% of our 
then current initial franchise fee in the event you relocate the Crêperie as provided in this Section 
3.7.   

4. TRAINING. 

You acknowledge that it is very important to the operation of the Crêperie that you (or 
one of your Principal Owners designated by you and approved by us) and your employees 
receive appropriate training.  To that end, you agree as follows: 

(a) Before the Crêperie opens for business, you (or your designated Principal 
Owner) and your management team (as defined below) must attend a training program of 
up to 4 weeks in duration on the operation of a Sweet Paris Crêperie at the time and place 
we designate.  The training program will include classroom instruction and Crêperie 
operation training and will be furnished at our training facility or other location we 
designate.  There will be no tuition charge for these training programs.  You and your 
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management team must complete all training to our satisfaction.  For purposes of this 
Agreement, the term “management team” shall include your designated Principal Owner, 
your Designated Operator, your general manager, kitchen manager and other key 
employees of the Crêperie we designate from time to time. 

(b) If we determine, in our sole discretion, that your management team is in 
need of additional on-site supervision or supplemental training, we may require that you 
receive such training from us at the Crêperie, in which case you agree to pay for all 
expenses for that training or assistance, including any reasonable per diem charges 
assessed by us and travel and living expenses for our Company personnel.   

(c) You agree to have you (or your designated Principal Owner) and your 
management team and/or other employees complete additional training programs of up to 
4 days per calendar year at places and times as we may reasonably request from time to 
time during the term of this Agreement. 

(d) Your employees will be permitted to attend any other training programs, 
workshops, or seminars which we may offer from time to time.  We may charge a fee for 
this additional training. 

(e) You (or your designated Principal Owner) and members of your 
management team we designate must attend any national franchise meeting or convention 
sponsored by us for up to a total of 3 days per calendar year. 

(f) You agree to pay all of your own (or your designated Principal Owner’s) 
expenses and the expenses incurred by your management team and any other employees 
in connection with all training programs, meetings and conventions, including travel, 
room, board, local transportation expenses, and wages. 

5. GUIDANCE; OPERATIONS MANUAL. 

5.1 Guidance and Assistance.  During the Initial Term, we will from time to time 
furnish you guidance and assistance dealing with:   

(a) food preparation and presentation, packaging, sale and delivery of the 
products authorized for sale by the Crêperie and specifications, standards, and operating 
procedures used by Sweet Paris Crêperies;  

(b) purchasing approved equipment, furniture, furnishings, signs, food and 
beverage products, operating materials and supplies;  

(c) development and implementation of local advertising and promotional 
programs;  

(d) periodic advice or guidance in the marketing, management, and operation 
of the Crêperie in the manner determined by us; and 



 

12 
Franchise Agreement-Sweet Paris-1112 
 

(e) changes in any of the above that occur from time to time.   

This guidance and assistance will, in our discretion, be furnished in the form of an 
operations manual (the “Operations Manual”), bulletins, written reports and recommendations, 
other written materials, telephone consultations, and/or personal consultations at our offices or at 
the Crêperie.  If you request additional, special on-premises training of your personnel or other 
assistance in operating your Crêperie or if such training or assistance is necessitated by reason of 
your failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement, you agree to pay for all expenses for 
that training or assistance, including any reasonable per diem charges assessed by us and travel 
and living expenses for our Company personnel. 

5.2 Operations Manual.  We will loan to you during the Initial Term one or more 
copies of our Operations Manual.  We may provide the Operations Manual in an electronic 
format on our Website to which you will be given access or via e-mail.  The Operations Manual 
will contain mandatory and suggested specifications, standards, and operating procedures which 
we prescribe from time to time for Sweet Paris Crêperies, as well as information relative to other 
obligations you have in the operation of the Crêperie.  The Operations Manual may be modified 
from time to time to reflect changes in the specifications, standards, operating procedures and 
other obligations in operating a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  Revisions to the Operations Manual will 
be deemed effective 7 days after receipt by you, unless we specify a later effective date for a 
particular revision.  You agree that you will not at any time copy any part of the Operations 
Manual, permit any part of it to be copied or disclose it to anyone not having a need to know its 
contents for purposes of operating your Crêperie. 

5.3 Advisory Councils.  You agree to participate in, and, if required, become a 
member of any advisory councils or similar organizations we form or organize for franchised 
Sweet Paris Crêperies, and pay any dues assessed by such organizations. 

5.4 Modification of Franchise System.  We have the right to operate, develop, and 
change or modify the System in any manner that is not specifically prohibited by this Agreement, 
as we deem appropriate, including without limitation to reflect the changing market and to meet 
new and changing consumer demands, and that variations and additions to the System may be 
required from time to time to preserve and enhance the public image of the System and 
operations of Sweet Paris Crêperies.  Whenever we have reserved in this Agreement a right to 
take or to withhold an action, or to grant or decline to grant you a right to take or omit an action, 
we may, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, make our decision or 
exercise our rights based on information readily available to us and our judgment of what is in 
our and/or the System’s best interests at the time our decision is made, without regard to either 
whether we could have made other reasonable or even arguably preferable alternative decisions 
or whether our decision promotes our financial or other individual interest.  Because complete 
and detailed uniformity under many varying conditions might not be possible or practical, you 
acknowledge that we specifically reserve the right and privilege to vary the System for any 
franchise owner based upon the peculiarities of any condition that we consider important to that 
franchise owner’s successful operation.  You have no right to require us to grant you a similar 
variation or accommodation. 
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6. MARKS. 

6.1 Ownership and Goodwill of Marks.  You acknowledge that your right to use the 
Marks is derived solely from this Agreement and is limited to your operation of the Crêperie 
pursuant to and in compliance with this Agreement and all applicable standards, specifications, 
and operating procedures we prescribe from time to time during the term of the Franchise.  If you 
make any unauthorized use of the Marks it will constitute a breach of this Agreement and an 
infringement of our rights in and to the Marks.  You acknowledge and agree that all your usage 
of the Marks and any goodwill established by your use will inure to our benefit exclusively, and 
that this Agreement does not confer any goodwill or other interests in the Marks on you (other 
than the right to operate a Sweet Paris Crêperie in compliance with this Agreement).  All 
provisions of this Agreement applicable to the Marks will apply to any additional trademarks, 
service marks, commercial symbols, designs, artwork and logos we may authorize and license 
you to use during the term of this Agreement. 

6.2 Limitations on Franchise Owner’s Use of Marks.  You agree to use the Marks 
as the sole trade identification of the Crêperie, except that you will display at the Crêperie a 
notice, in the form we prescribe, which states that you are the independent owner of the Crêperie 
pursuant to a Franchise Agreement with us.  You agree not to use any Mark as part of any 
corporate or trade name or with any prefix, suffix, or other modifying words, terms, designs, or 
symbols (other than logos and additional trade and service marks licensed to you under this 
Agreement), or in any modified form, nor may you use any Mark or any commercial symbol 
similar to the Marks, in connection with the performance or sale of any unauthorized services or 
products or in any other manner we have not expressly authorized in writing.  You agree to 
display the Marks in the manner we prescribe at the Crêperie, and in connection with advertising 
and marketing materials, and to use, along with the Marks, notices of trade and service mark 
registrations as we specify.  You further agree to obtain any fictitious or assumed name 
registrations as may be required under applicable law. 

6.3 Online Use of Marks.  You shall not, without our prior written approval, use the 
Marks or any abbreviation or other name associated with us and/or the System as part of any e-
mail address, domain name, and/or other identification of us and/or the System in any electronic 
medium.  You agree not to transmit or cause any other party to transmit advertisements, 
solicitations, marketing information, promotional information or any other information 
whatsoever regarding Sweet Paris Crêperies by e-mail or any other “Electronic Media” without 
our prior written consent and in accordance with such specific programs, policies, terms and 
conditions as we may from time to time establish.  Electronic Media shall include, but not be 
limited to, blogs, microblogs, social networking sites (such as Facebook and LinkedIn), video-
sharing and photo-sharing sites (such as YouTube and Instagram), review sites (such as Yelp and 
Urbanspoon), marketplace sites (such as eBay and Craigslist), Wikis, chat rooms and virtual 
worlds. 

6.4 Notification of Infringements and Claims.  You agree to immediately notify us 
in writing of any apparent infringement of or challenge to your use of any Mark, or claim by any 
person of any rights in any Mark or similar trade name, trademark or service mark of which you 
became aware.  You agree not to communicate with anyone except us and our counsel in 
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connection with any such infringement, challenge or claim.  We have sole right to exclusively 
control any litigation or other proceeding arising out of any infringement, challenge or claim 
relating to any Mark.  You agree to sign any documents, render any assistance, and do any acts 
that our attorneys say is necessary or advisable in order to protect and maintain our interests in 
any litigation or proceeding related to the Marks or to otherwise protect and maintain our 
interests in the Marks. 

6.5 Discontinuance of Use of Marks.  If it becomes advisable at any time in our sole 
judgment for the Crêperie to modify or discontinue the use of any Mark or for the Crêperie to use 
one or more additional or substitute trademarks or service marks, you agree at your expense, to 
comply with our directions to modify or otherwise discontinue the use of the Mark, or use one or 
more additional or substitute trademarks or service marks, within a reasonable time after our 
notice to you. 

6.6 Indemnification of Franchise Owner.  We agree to indemnify you against and 
to reimburse you for all damages for which you are held liable in any proceeding arising out of 
your use of any Mark, pursuant to and in compliance with this Agreement, and for all costs you 
reasonably incur in the defense of any such claim in which you are named as a party, so long as 
you have timely notified us of the claim and have otherwise complied with this Agreement. 

7. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES; INDEMNIFICATION. 

7.1 Independent Contractor; No Fiduciary Relationship.  Both of us understand 
and agree that this Agreement does not create a fiduciary relationship between us, that you and 
we are independent contractors, and that nothing in this Agreement is intended to make either 
party a general or special agent, joint venturer, partner, or employee of the other for any purpose 
whatsoever.  You agree to conspicuously identify yourself in all your dealings with customers, 
suppliers, public officials, Crêperie personnel, and others as the owner of the Crêperie pursuant 
to a franchise agreement with us, and agree to place any other notices of independent ownership 
on your forms, business cards, stationery, advertising, and other materials as we may require 
from time to time. 

7.2 No Liability, No Warranties.  We have not authorized or empowered you to use 
the Marks except as provided by this Agreement and you agree not to employ any of the Marks 
in signing any contract, check, purchase agreement, negotiable instrument or legal obligation, 
application for any license or permit, or in a manner that may result in liability to us for any 
indebtedness or obligation of yours.  Except as expressly authorized by this Agreement, neither 
of us will make any express or implied agreements, warranties, guarantees or representations, or 
incur any debt, in the name of or on behalf of the other or represent that their relationship is other 
than that of franchisor and franchisee. 

7.3 Indemnification.  We will not assume any liability or be deemed liable for any 
agreements, representations, or warranties you make that are not expressly authorized under this 
Agreement, nor will we be obligated for any damages to any person or property directly or 
indirectly arising out of the Crêperie operation, your conduct of business under this Agreement, 
your breach of this Agreement, or your noncompliance or alleged noncompliance with any law, 



 

15 
Franchise Agreement-Sweet Paris-1112 
 

ordinance, rule, or regulation, including any allegation that we or another indemnified party is a 
joint employer or otherwise responsible for your acts or omissions relating to your employees, 
whether or not caused by your negligent or willful action or failure to act.  We will have no 
liability for any sales, use, excise, income, gross receipts, property, or other taxes levied against 
you or your assets or on us in connection with the business you conduct, or any payments you 
make to us pursuant to this Agreement or any franchise agreement (except for our own income 
taxes).  You agree to indemnify, defend and hold us, our owners, directors, officers, affiliates, 
employees, agents and assignees, harmless against and to reimburse us and our owners, directors, 
officers, affiliates, employees, agents and assignees for all such obligations, damages, and taxes 
for which we or any of our owners, directors, officers, affiliates, employees, agents or assignees 
are held liable and for all costs reasonably incurred in the defense of any such claim brought 
against us or any of our owners, directors, officers, affiliates, employees, agents or assignees or 
in any such action in which we or any of our owners, directors, officers, affiliates, employees, 
agents or assignees are named as a party, including without limitation actual and consequential 
damages, reasonable attorneys’, accountants’ and expert witness fees, cost of investigation and 
proof of facts, court costs, costs of depositions, court reporters, videotaping and other litigation 
expenses and travel and living expenses.  We or any of our owners, directors, officers, affiliates, 
employees, agents or assignees have the right to defend against any such claim.  You further 
agree to hold us harmless and indemnify and defend us for all cost, expense or loss we incur in 
enforcing the provisions of this Agreement, in defending our actions taken relating to this 
Agreement, or resulting from your breach of this Agreement, including, without limitation, 
reasonable legal and attorneys’ fees (including those for appeal), unless, after legal proceedings 
are completed, you are found to have fulfilled and complied with all of the terms of this 
Agreement.  Your indemnification obligations described above will continue in full force and 
effect after, and notwithstanding, the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

8. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; NON-COMPETITION. 

8.1 Types of Confidential Information.  We possess certain unique confidential and 
proprietary information and trade secrets consisting of the following categories of information, 
methods, techniques, products, and knowledge developed by us:   

(a) recipes, proprietary products, and methods for efficiently and cost-
effectively preparing and serving the products sold at Sweet Paris Crêperies;  

(b) knowledge of sales and profit performance of any one or more Sweet Paris 
Crêperies; 

(c) knowledge of test programs, concepts or results relating to menu items;  

(d) sources of products;  

(e) advertising and promotional programs;  

(f) Sweet Paris Crêperie image and décor;  

(g) the selection of Crêperie personnel;  
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(h) methods, techniques, formats, specifications, procedures, information, 
systems and knowledge of and experience in the development, operation, and franchising 
of Sweet Paris Crêperies; and 

(i) methods of training Crêperie employees.   

We will disclose much of the above-described information to you, and will do so in advising 
about site selection, in training, in the Operations Manual and in providing guidance and 
assistance to you under this Agreement.  In addition, in the course of the operation of your 
Crêperie, you or your employees may develop ideas, concepts, methods, and techniques of 
improvement relating to the Crêperie which will belong to us and which you agree to disclose to 
us and which we may then authorize you and other Sweet Paris Crêperies to use.  (Any such 
information disclosed to or developed by you will be referred to in this Agreement as 
“Confidential Information.”) 

8.2 Non-Disclosure Agreement.  You agree that your relationship with us does not 
vest in you any interest in the Confidential Information other than the right to use it in the 
development and operation of the Crêperie, and that the use or duplication of the Confidential 
Information in any other business would constitute an unfair method of competition.  You 
acknowledge and agree that the Confidential Information belongs to us, may contain trade 
secrets belonging to us and is disclosed to you or authorized for your use solely on the condition 
that you agree, and you therefore do agree, that you will not use the Confidential Information in 
any other business or capacity; will maintain the absolute confidentiality of the Confidential 
Information during and after the term of this Agreement; will not make unauthorized copies of 
any portion of the Confidential Information disclosed in written form; and will adopt and 
implement all reasonable procedures we may prescribe from time to time to prevent 
unauthorized use or disclosure of the Confidential Information. 

8.3 Exclusive Relationship.  You agree that we would be unable to protect the 
Confidential Information against unauthorized use or disclosure and would be unable to 
encourage a free exchange of ideas and information among Sweet Paris Crêperies if franchise 
owners of Sweet Paris Crêperies were permitted to hold interests in any competitive businesses, 
as described below.  Therefore, during the term of this Agreement, neither you, nor any Principal 
Owner, nor any member of your immediate family or of the immediate family of any Principal 
Owner shall perform services for or have any direct or indirect interest as a disclosed or 
beneficial owner, investor, partner, director, officer, employee, manager, consultant, 
representative or agent in any Competitive Business.  For purposes of this Agreement, 
“Competitive Business” shall mean any restaurant or food service business which offers crêpes 
or waffles as a primary menu item and/or any restaurant or food service business that is the same 
as or similar to a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  (The ownership of 5% or less of a publicly traded 
company will not be deemed to be prohibited by this Section). 

9. FEES. 

9.1 Initial Franchise Fee.  You agree to pay us an initial franchise fee of $45,000 
(the “Initial Franchise Fee”) when you sign this Agreement.  In recognition of administrative and 
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other expenses incurred by us in granting this Franchise and of our lost opportunity to negotiate 
with others for this Franchise, you agree that we will have fully earned the Initial Franchise Fee 
and that it becomes non-refundable on final execution of this Agreement. 

9.2 Royalty Fee.  You agree to pay us a Royalty Fee (the “Royalty Fee”) in the 
amount of 5% of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie.  The Royalty Fee shall be paid by you to us on 
the 3rd business day after the close of the sales week as designated by us (or such other date as 
we may otherwise prescribe in the Operations Manual or in writing to you), on Gross Sales of the 
Crêperie for such week. 

9.3 Gross Sales.  The term “Gross Sales” means all revenue from the sale of all 
services and products and all other income of every kind and nature related to the Crêperie or 
premises, including proceeds of any business interruption insurance policies and proceeds from 
the use of Gift Cards (as defined herein) to purchase food, beverages, or any other products and 
services, the sale of any promotional or premium items, whether for cash or credit, and 
regardless of collection in the case of credit, including all revenue from the sale of food and 
beverages sold to employees.  Gross Sales shall not include (i) any sales taxes or other taxes 
collected from customers by you for transmittal to the appropriate taxing authority and (ii) the 
amount of actual, documented refunds, discounts and credits made to customers in good faith 
and the amount of actual, documented complimentary products given to customers in good faith 
(if those amounts were originally included in calculating Gross Sales). 

 If a state or local law in which the Crêperie is located prohibits or restricts in any way 
your ability to pay and our ability to collect the Royalty Fee, Marketing Fee, or other amounts 
based on Gross Sales derived from the sale of alcoholic beverages at the Crêperie, then we and 
you shall increase the percentage rate for calculating the Royalty Fee and Marketing Fee, and 
change the definition of Gross Sales to exclude sales of alcoholic beverages, in a manner such 
that the Royalty Fee and Marketing Fee to be paid by you, and received by us, shall be equal to 
such amounts as you would have been required to pay, and we would have received, if sales 
from alcoholic beverages were included in Gross Sales. 
 

9.4 Marketing Fees.  You agree to pay us a marketing fee (the “Marketing Fee”) 
toward the Marketing Fund for marketing, advertising and promotional programs (described in 
Section 11.1) in an amount equal to 1% of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie, payable with, and in 
the same manner as, your Royalty Fee described above, provided we reserve the right upon 
written notice to you to increase the Marketing Fee up to an amount equal to 2% of the Gross 
Sales of the Crêperie or the then current Marketing Fee we are charging or authorized to charge 
new franchisees, whichever is greater.  Any increase or decrease in the Marketing Fee will 
become effective upon notification to you from us of any such increase or decrease. 

9.5 Electronic Funds Transfer.  We have the right to require you to participate in an 
electronic funds transfer program under which Royalty Fees and Marketing Fees (and any other 
fee or other amount due under this Agreement) are deducted or paid electronically from your 
bank account (the “Account”).  In the event you are required to authorize us to initiate debit 
entries, you agree to make the funds available in the Account for withdrawal by electronic 
transfer no later than the due date for payment and execute our current form of “Authorization 
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Agreement for Prearranged Payments,” a copy of which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit 
D.  The amount actually transferred from the Account to pay Royalty Fees and Marketing Fees 
will be based on the Crêperie’s Gross Sales reported to us.  If you have not reported the Gross 
Sales of the Crêperie to us for any reporting period, we will be authorized to debit the Account in 
an amount equal to the Royalty Fee transferred from the Account for the last reporting period for 
which a report of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie was provided to us.  If at any time we 
determine that you have under-reported the Gross Sales of the Crêperie or underpaid Royalty 
Fees or Marketing Fees due us under this Agreement, or owe us any other fee under this 
Agreement, we will be authorized to initiate immediately a debit to the Account in the 
appropriate amount in accordance with the foregoing procedure, including interest as provided 
for in this Agreement.  An overpayment will be credited to the Account through a credit effective 
as of the first reporting date after we and you determine that such credit is due.  Our use of 
electronic funds transfers as a method of collecting Royalty Fees and Marketing Fees due us 
does not constitute a waiver of any of our obligations to provide us with weekly sales reports as 
provided in Section 12 nor shall it be deemed a waiver of any of the rights and remedies 
available to us under this Agreement. 

9.6 Interest on Late Payments.  All Royalty Fees, Marketing Fees, amounts due 
from you for purchases from us or our affiliates, and other amounts which you owe us or our 
affiliates (unless otherwise provided for in a separate agreement between us or our affiliates) will 
begin to accrue interest after their respective due dates at the highest applicable legal rate for 
open account business credit, or if there is no maximum, at the rate of 1.5% per month.  (You 
acknowledge that the inclusion of this Section in this Agreement does not mean we agree to 
accept or condone late payments, nor does it indicate that we have any intention to extend credit 
to, or otherwise finance your operation of the Crêperie.)  We shall have the right to require that 
any payments due us or our affiliates be made by certified or cashier’s check in the event that 
any payment by check is not honored by the bank upon which the check is drawn.  Payments due 
us or our affiliates shall not be deemed received until such time as funds from the deposit of any 
check by us or our affiliates is collected from your Account. 

9.7 Application of Payments.  When we receive a payment from you, we have the 
right, in our sole discretion, to apply it as we see fit to any past due indebtedness of yours due to 
us or our affiliates, whether for Royalties Fees, Marketing Fees, purchases, interest, or for any 
other reason, regardless of how you may designate a particular payment to be applied.  You 
expressly acknowledge and agree that your obligations for the full and timely payment of the 
Royalty Fee and Marketing Fee (and all other amounts provided for in this Agreement) shall be 
absolute, unconditional, fully earned, and due upon your generation and receipt of Gross Sales.  
You shall not for any reason delay or withhold the payment of all or any part of those or any 
other payments due hereunder, put the same in escrow or set-off same against any claims or 
alleged claims you may allege against us or the System or others.  You shall not, on grounds of 
any alleged non-performance by us or others, withhold payment of any fee, including, without 
limitation, Royalty Fees or Marketing Fees, nor withhold or delay submission of any reports due 
hereunder including, but not limited, to sales reports. 

10. CRÊPERIE OPERATING STANDARDS. 
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10.1 Importance of Uniformity.  By signing this Agreement, you indicate that you 
understand and acknowledge that every detail of the Crêperie is important – not only to you, but 
to us and to other Sweet Paris Crêperie franchisees – in order to develop and maintain high and 
uniform operating standards, to increase the demand for the products and services sold by all 
franchisees, to establish and maintain a reputation for operating uniform, efficient, high quality 
Crêperies, and to protect the goodwill of all Sweet Paris Crêperies.  You also acknowledge that a 
fundamental requirement of the System, this Agreement, and other Sweet Paris Crêperie 
franchises is adherence by all franchisees to the Company’s uniform standards and policies, 
except for certain regional or individual differences we may from time to time approve or 
require. 

10.2 Condition and Appearance of the Crêperie.  You agree that: 

(a) neither the Crêperie nor the Premises will be used for any purpose other 
than the operation of a Sweet Paris Crêperie in compliance with this Agreement; 

(b) you will maintain the condition and appearance of the Crêperie, its 
equipment, furniture, furnishings, signs, and the Premises in accordance with our 
standards and consistent with the image of a Sweet Paris Crêperie as an efficiently 
operated business offering high quality products and services, and observing the highest 
standards of cleanliness, sanitation, efficiency, courteous service and fun ambiance, and 
in connection will take, without limitation, the following actions during the term of this 
Agreement:  (1) thorough cleaning, repainting and redecorating of the interior and 
exterior of the Premises at reasonable intervals; (2) interior and exterior repair of the 
Premises; and (3) repair or replacement of damaged, worn out or obsolete equipment, 
furniture, furnishings and signs; 

(c) you will not make any material alterations to the Premises, or to the 
appearance of the Crêperie, as originally developed, without our advance approval; 

(d) you will replace or add new equipment when we reasonably specify in 
order to meet changing standards; 

(e) on notice from us, you will engage in remodeling, expansion, 
redecorating, re-equipping and/or refurnishing of the Premises and the Crêperie to reflect 
changes in the operations of Sweet Paris Crêperies which we prescribe and require of 
new franchisees, provided that no material changes shall be required more than every 5 
years, and you will not be required to spend more than $150,000 on such changes every 5 
years, and provided further that we will not require that you undertake such changes 
unless we have completed or undertaken a plan to complete the proposed changes in at 
least 50% of all similarly Company or affiliate-owned Sweet Paris Crêperies (all actual 
changes will be subject to our approval); 

(f) you will place or display at the Premises (interior and exterior) only those 
signs, emblems, designs, artwork, lettering, logos, and display and advertising materials 
that we from time to time approve; and 
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(g) if at any time in our reasonable judgment, the general state of repair, 
appearance or cleanliness of the Premises, Crêperie or its fixtures, equipment, furniture or 
signs do not meet our standards, we have the right to notify you, specifying the action 
you must take to correct the deficiency. 

10.3 Menu Items and Service Methods.  You agree that: 

(a) the Crêperie will offer for sale all menu items directed by us from time to 
time, and other products and services that we from time to time authorize;  

(b) the Crêperie will offer and sell approved products and services only in the 
manner we have prescribed;  

(c) you will not offer for sale or sell at the Crêperie, the Premises or any other 
location any menu items or other products or services we have not approved;  

(d) you will discontinue selling and offering for sale any products or services 
that we at any time decide (in our sole discretion) to disapprove in writing;  

(e) you will maintain sound and lighting at volume and intensity levels we 
specify from time to time;  

(f) you will maintain an inventory of approved products, beverages, 
ingredients and other products sufficient in quantity and variety to realize the full 
potential of the Crêperie; and 

(g) you will not operate a catering service or off-Premises business or offer 
such services, without our prior written consent.  In the case that we provide consent to 
operate a catering service or off-Premises business, you may do so only in accordance 
with the requirements of this Agreement and the procedures and policies set forth in the 
Operations Manual, and only in geographical areas that we designate.  We currently 
require that you operate the Crêperie in accordance with our standards, policies and 
procedures for a period of 6 months prior to requesting our consent to operate a catering 
service or off-Premises business, provided this requirement is subject to modification.  If 
we grant you this consent, you will be required to purchase a catering/delivery vehicle of 
the make, color and model with signage wrap that we specify in the Operations Manual 
or otherwise in writing, in addition to all required equipment and small wares. 

(h) we reserve the right to require that you hire a dedicated catering manager, 
based upon factors we determine in our sole discretion. 

(i) you will not host Private Events on the Premises of the Crêperie or off-
Premises, without our prior written consent.  We determine what constitutes a “Private 
Event” in our sole discretion.  In the case that we provide consent to host a Private Event, 
you may do so only in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement and the 
procedures and policies set forth in the Operations Manual. 
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(j) you will acquire and use the audio systems we require at Sweet Paris 
Crêperies, including the type and content of music played at the Crêperie. 

We may, from time to time, conduct market research and testing to determine consumer 
trends and the saleability of new products and services.  You agree to cooperate by participating 
in our market research programs, and by providing us with timely reports and other relevant 
information regarding that market research.  In connection with any such test marketing, you 
agree to purchase a reasonable quantity of the tested products and effectively promote and make 
a reasonable effort to sell them. 

10.4 Approved Suppliers.  The reputation and goodwill of Sweet Paris Crêperies is 
based on, and can be maintained only by, the sale of distinctive, high quality food and beverage 
products, and the preparation and presentation of those products in an efficient and appealing 
manner.  We have developed or may develop various unique products which may be prepared by 
or for us according to our secret recipes and formulas.  We have also developed standards and 
specifications for menu items, ingredients, beverages, materials and supplies incorporated in or 
used in the preparation, presentation and delivery of prepared food and beverage products 
authorized for sale at Sweet Paris Crêperies.  We have and will continue to periodically approve 
suppliers and distributors of the above products that meet our standards and requirements, 
including, without limitation, standards and requirements relating to product quality, prices, 
consistency, reliability, financial capability, labor relations and customer relations.  We may also 
approve certain suppliers of services necessary for the development and operation of Sweet Paris 
Crêperies, including, without limitation, Brand Technology services, architect and engineering 
services, insurance services, real estate leasing services, merchant services and linen services. 

We may approve a single distributor or other supplier (collectively “supplier”) for any 
product or service (which may be us or our affiliates) and may approve a supplier only as to 
certain products or services.  You agree that the Crêperie will:   

(a) purchase products for sale from the Crêperie in such quantities as we 
designate;  

(b) utilize such formats, formulas and containers for products as we prescribe; 
and   

(c) purchase all products, services, beverages, menus, serving baskets, plates, 
napkin, glassware, flatware, paper and plastic products, packaging or other materials, and 
utensils only from distributors and other suppliers we have approved.  

We may concentrate purchases with one or more suppliers to obtain lower costs and 
prices or the best advertising support or services for any group of Sweet Paris Crêperies 
franchised or operated by us or our affiliates.  Approval of a supplier may be conditioned on 
requirements relating to the frequency of delivery, concentration of purchases, standards of 
service, including prompt attention to complaints, or other criteria and may be temporary, 
pending our continued evaluation of the supplier from time to time. 
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If you would like to purchase any items from any unapproved supplier for products or 
services that are not exclusively available from us, our affiliates or a designated supplier, you 
must submit to us a written request for approval of the proposed supplier.  (Or the proposed 
supplier may submit its own request.)  We have the right to inspect the proposed supplier’s 
facilities, and to require product samples from the proposed supplier to be delivered at our option 
either directly to us or to any independent, certified laboratory which we designate for testing.  
Either you or the proposed supplier must pay us a fee (not to exceed the reasonable cost of the 
inspection and the actual cost of the test) to make the evaluation.  We reserve the right to 
periodically re-inspect the facilities and products of any approved supplier and to revoke our 
approval if the supplier does not continue to meet any of our criteria.  (Please note: Do not 
construe the new-supplier approval process just explained as requiring us to approve any 
proposed supplier.) 

We reserve the right to retain any rebates, commissions or similar payments paid by 
third-party suppliers on products or services sold to Sweet Paris Crêperies. 

10.5 Hours of Operation.  You agree to keep the Crêperie open for business at such 
times and during such hours as we may prescribe from time to time. 

10.6 Specifications, Standards and Procedures.  You agree to comply with all 
mandatory specifications, standards, and operating procedures relating to the appearance, 
function, cleanliness, sanitation and operation of a Sweet Paris Crêperie.  Mandatory 
specifications, standards, and operating procedures we prescribe from time to time in the 
Operations Manual, or otherwise communicated to you in writing, will constitute provisions of 
this Agreement as if fully set forth in this Agreement.  All references to “this Agreement” 
include all such mandatory specifications, standards, and operating procedures. 

10.7 Compliance with Laws and Good Business Practices.  You agree to secure and 
maintain in force in your name all required licenses, permits, and certificates relating to the 
operation of the Crêperie, including all liquor licenses.  You also agree to operate the Crêperie in 
full compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations, including, without 
limitation, all government regulations relating to worker’s compensation insurance, 
unemployment insurance, and withholding and payment of federal and state income taxes, social 
security taxes and sales taxes. 

All advertising you employ must be completely factual, in good taste (in our judgment), 
and must conform to the highest standards of ethical advertising.  You agree that in all dealings 
with us, your customers, your suppliers, and with public officials, you will adhere to the highest 
standards of honesty, integrity, fair dealing and ethical conduct.  You further agree to refrain 
from any business or advertising practice which may be harmful to the business of the Company 
and the goodwill associated with the Marks and other Sweet Paris Crêperies. 

You must notify us in writing within 5 days of the commencement of any action, suit, or 
proceeding, and of the issuance of any order, writ, injunction, award, or decree of any court, 
agency, or other governmental unit, which may adversely affect your operation or financial 
condition or that of the Crêperie, or of any notice of violation of any law, ordinance, or 
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regulation relating to health or safety. 

10.8 Management and Personnel of the Crêperie.  The Crêperie at all times must be 
under the direct, on-premises supervision of you (or your designated Principal Owner that we 
approve) or your Designated Operator (as defined below) and a management team which has 
completed our required training programs, all of whom devote full time and efforts to the 
management of the Crêperie.  The designated Principal Owner we approve shall have at all times 
at least a 10% ownership interest in you.  You agree to be solely responsible for all employment 
decisions and functions of the Crêperie, including those related to hiring, training, firing, wage 
and hour requirements, recordkeeping, supervision, and discipline of employees, in addition to 
compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules and regulations.  You agree to 
establish at the Crêperie a training program for all employees using our Operations Manual.  You 
agree to require all employees to maintain a neat and clean appearance and to conform to the 
standards of dress and/or uniforms we specify from time to time for Sweet Paris Crêperies.  All 
employees shall render prompt, efficient and courteous service to all customers of the Crêperie.    
Your “Designate Operator” must be experienced in food service operations and subject to our 
approval.  In the event you appoint a Designated Operator for the direct, on-premises supervision 
of the Crêperie, he or she must have at all times at least a 10% ownership interest (or other equity 
agreement, subject to our approval) in you.  The Designated Operator must complete all training 
programs that we require to our satisfaction.  You and your management team must utilize the 
System email accounts or addresses provided by us when conducting business in connection with 
the Crêperie. Such email accounts or addresses shall be used for no other purpose.  You 
acknowledge that we will maintain ownership of all email accounts and addresses provided to 
you and your management team, including all contents and associated files of such email 
accounts and addresses, and further that we will have the unlimited right to actively review and 
monitor each such email account and address at our discretion. 

10.9 Insurance.  Prior to the opening of the Crêperie to the public, you must obtain 
insurance coverage that we designate from time to time, including general liability, liquor 
liability, business interruption, property damage and worker’s compensation insurance.  We may 
periodically increase or decrease the amounts of coverage required under these insurance policies 
and require different or additional kinds of insurance at any time, including excess liability 
insurance, to reflect inflation, identification of new risks, changes in law or standards of liability, 
higher damage awards or other relevant changes in circumstances.  Each insurance policy must 
name us (and, if we request it, our directors, employees, owners and affiliates) as an additional 
insured and must provide us with 30 days advance written notice of any material modification, 
cancellation, or expiration of the policy.  You must maintain these policies in force during the 
entire term of this Agreement.  Before the expiration of the term of each insurance policy, you 
must furnish us with a copy of each policy you are to maintain for the upcoming term, along with 
evidence of the payment of the premium for each.  Your obligation to maintain insurance 
coverage as described in this Agreement will not be reduced in any manner by reason of any 
separate insurance we maintain on our own behalf, nor will our maintenance of that insurance 
relieve you of any obligations under Section 7 of this Agreement. 

10.10 Participation in Promotions.  You agree to participate in promotional programs 
developed by us for the System, in the manner directed in the Operations Manual or otherwise in 
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writing.  In no way limiting the foregoing, you agree that if required by us: 

(a) You shall participate in all programs, offers and services for loyal/frequent 
customers and other categories, which may include providing discounts.   

(b) You shall offer any and all specialty menu crepes or waffles. 

(c) You shall participate in all charitable donation and/or alliance programs. 

(d) In no way limiting this Section 10.10, you must contribute to, participate 
in, and/or endorse a local charity(ies) approved by us within your market area which 
supports underprivileged children, as we direct in the Operations Manual or otherwise in 
writing.  Any monetary contributions made in accordance with this Section 10.10 (d) will 
apply towards your marketing, advertising and promotional spending requirements in 
your local market area under Section 11.2. 

(e) You shall sell or otherwise issue gift cards or certificates (together “Gift 
Cards”) that have been prepared utilizing the standard form of Gift Card provided or 
designated by us, and only in the manner specified in the Operations Manual or otherwise 
in writing.  You shall fully honor all Gift Cards that are in the form provided or approved 
by us regardless of whether a Gift Card was issued by you or another Sweet Paris 
Crêperie.  You shall sell, issue, and redeem (without any offset against any Royalty Fee, 
Marketing Fee or other required payment) Gift Cards in accordance with procedures and 
policies specified by us in the Operations Manual or otherwise in writing, including those 
relating to procedures by which we shall request reimbursement for Gift Cards issued by 
other Sweet Paris Crêperies and for making timely payment to us, other operators of 
Sweet Paris Crêperies, or a third-party service provider for Gift Cards issued from the 
Crêperie that are honored by us or other Sweet Paris Crêperie operators.  In no way 
limiting the foregoing, you expressly understand and acknowledge that we will control all 
revenue received through the sale or issuance of Gift Cards regardless of whether such 
Gift Cards were sold or issued by you or us, and you are not entitled to any of this 
revenue unless a Gift Card is redeemed in the Crêperie.  All unredeemed Gift Card 
revenue received by us shall inure solely and exclusively to our benefit. 

10.11 Mystery Shopper Program.  We may, from time to time, conduct or cause to be 
conducted mystery shopper programs to determine customer satisfaction with Sweet Paris 
Crêperies.  You agree to reimburse us for your allocable share of the expenses we incur or our 
authorized representatives incur in administering and conducting the mystery shopper programs. 

10.12 Quality Assurance Programs.  We may engage a third party vendor to conduct 
quality assurance inspections or visits of Sweet Paris Crêperies.  If we do, you agree to reimburse 
us for your allocable share of the cost of any such programs. 

10.13 Credit Cards and Other Methods of Payment.  You must at all times have 
arrangements in existence with credit and debit card issuers or sponsors and electronic fund 
transfer systems that we designate from time to time in the Operations Manual or otherwise in 
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writing in order that the Crêperie may accept customers’ credit and debit cards and other 
methods of payment. 

10.14 Pricing.  We reserve the right, to the fullest extent allowed by applicable law, to 
establish maximum, minimum, or other pricing requirements with respect to the prices you may 
charge for products and services, including pricing we prescribe from time to time for any 
national, regional or local advertising or promotion. 

11. MARKETING. 

11.1 By Company.  As stated earlier, due to the value of marketing and the importance 
of promoting the public image of Sweet Paris Crêperies, we will maintain and administer one or 
more national or regional advertising fund(s) (the “Marketing Fund”).  In Section 9.4, you agreed 
to contribute to that Marketing Fund.  We agree that the Sweet Paris Crêperies owned by us and 
our affiliates may, in our sole judgment, contribute to the Marketing Fund on the same basis as 
you do. 

We will be entitled to direct all marketing, advertising and promotion administered by the 
Marketing Fund, with sole discretion over the creative concepts, materials, and endorsements 
used in them.  You agree that the Marketing Fund may be used to meet any and all costs of 
maintaining, administering, directing, conducting, and preparing marketing, advertising, public 
relations, and/or promotional programs and materials, and any other activities including socially 
responsible and charitable activities, which we believe will enhance the image of the System, 
including, among other things, the costs of preparing and conducting media marketing 
campaigns; direct mail advertising; internet and social media advertising and marketing; website 
development/maintenance, providing System email accounts, and search engine optimization; 
marketing surveys and other public relations activities; employing assistance of advertising 
and/or public relations agencies; sponsorship of organizations and events; purchasing 
promotional items; conducting and administering in-store promotions; and providing 
promotional and other marketing materials and services to the Sweet Paris Crêperies operating 
under the System.  Any modifications or customizations to these materials made by you shall 
require our prior written approval.  You further agree that the Marketing Fund may be used for 
the protection of the Sweet Paris Crêperies brand, trademarks, trade secrets, trade dress and the 
like, including, without limitation, in connection with all legal proceedings and actions such as 
trademark disputes, cease and desist letters, restraining orders, injunctions and other legal 
proceedings in defense and protection of the Sweet Paris Crêperies brand.   

The Marketing Fund will be accounted for separately from our other funds and will not 
be used to defray any of our general operating expenses, except for any reasonable salaries, 
administrative costs and overhead we may incur in activities reasonably related to the 
administration of the Marketing Fund and its marketing, advertising and promotional programs 
(including, without limitation, conducting market research, preparing advertising and marketing 
materials, and collecting and accounting for contributions to the Marketing Fund).  We may 
spend in any fiscal year an amount greater or less than the total contribution of Sweet Paris 
Crêperies to the Marketing Fund in that year.  We may cause the Marketing Fund to borrow from 
us or other lenders to cover deficits of the Marketing Fund or cause the Marketing Fund to invest 
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any surplus for future use by the Marketing Fund.  All interest earned on monies contributed to 
the Marketing Fund will be used to pay costs of the Marketing Fund before other assets of the 
Marketing Fund are expended.  We will prepare an annual unaudited statement of monies 
collected and costs incurred by the Marketing Fund and will make it available to you on written 
request. 

You understand and acknowledge that the Marketing Fund is intended to maximize 
recognition of the Marks and patronage of Sweet Paris Crêperies.  Although we will endeavor to 
use the Marketing Fund to develop advertising and marketing materials for the System, we 
undertake no obligation to ensure that expenditures by the Marketing Fund in or affecting any 
geographic area are proportionate or equivalent to contributions to the Marketing Fund by Sweet 
Paris Crêperies operating in that geographic area or that any Sweet Paris Crêperie will benefit 
directly or in proportion to its contribution to the Marketing Fund from the development of 
advertising and marketing materials.  Except as expressly provided in this Section 11.1, we 
assume no direct or indirect liability or obligation to you with respect to the maintenance, 
direction, or administration of the Marketing Fund.  Your contributions to the Marketing Fund 
are not refundable under any circumstance. 

We shall have the right to terminate the Marketing Fund by giving you 30 days’ prior 
written notice.  All unspent monies on the date of termination shall be divided between the 
Company and franchisees in proportion to our and their respective contributions.  At any time 
thereafter, we shall have the right to reinstate the Marketing Fund under the same terms and 
conditions as described in this Section 11.1 (including the rights to terminate and reinstate), by 
giving you 30 days’ prior written notice of reinstatement. 

11.2 By Franchise Owner.  During the term of this Agreement, you shall spend 
annually (or during such other period we designate) at least 2% of your Gross Sales on 
marketing, advertising and promotion in your local market area, provided that any amount you 
are required to contribute to us in excess of 1% of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie for the 
Marketing Fee will count toward your expenditure obligations under this Section 11.2.  In 
addition, you agree to list and advertise the Crêperie in online directories, as we may prescribe 
from time to time. 

On each occasion before you use them, samples of all local marketing, advertising and 
promotional materials not prepared or previously approved by us must be submitted to us for 
approval.  If you do not receive our written disapproval within 15 days from the date we receive 
the materials, the materials will be deemed to have been approved.  You agree not to use any 
marketing, advertising or promotional materials that we have disapproved.  Within 30 days 
following the end of each calendar year (and any interim periods as we may otherwise prescribe), 
you agree to submit to us a marketing expenditure report accurately reflecting your local 
marketing, advertising and promotional expenditures for the preceding year (or other periods we 
prescribe). 

We will require that you utilize a public relations promotional strategy to market the 
Crêperie as part of your Grand Opening Marketing and on an ongoing basis.  In the case of any 
public relations promotion, you shall not act as the spokesperson for the Company or the 



 

27 
Franchise Agreement-Sweet Paris-1112 
 

Crêperie.  We will provide a Company representative to act as the public relations spokesperson 
who will be responsible for conducting all media interviews on behalf of you, the Company and 
the Crêperie.  

11.3 Local and Regional Advertising Cooperatives.  We reserve the right to require 
that you participate in local and regional advertising cooperatives in connection with the 
marketing, advertising and promotional programs administered by us or by other Sweet Paris 
Crêperie franchisees.  You agree to pay any contributions that we require you to make for 
expenditure by these local or regional advertising cooperatives or that may be otherwise 
approved by these cooperatives, provided that you will not be obligated to pay more than 2% of 
the Gross Sales of the Crêperie to such cooperatives.  Any contribution you are required to make 
to any local or regional advertising cooperatives will count toward your expenditure obligations 
under Section 11.2. 

11.4 Websites.  You acknowledge and agree that any Website (as defined below) will 
be deemed “advertising” under this Agreement, and will be subject to, among other things, our 
approval under this Section 11.4.  As used in this Agreement, the term “Website” means an 
interactive electronic document, contained in a network of computers linked by communications 
software, that you operate or authorize others to operate and that refers to the Crêperie, the 
Marks, us, and/or the System.  The term “Website” includes, but is not limited to, Internet and 
World Wide Web home pages.  In connection with any Website, you agree to the following: 

(a) You will not establish or use any Website without our prior written 
approval. 

(b) Before establishing any Website we approve, you will submit to us a 
sample of the Website format and information in the form and manner we may 
reasonably require. 

(c) In addition to any other applicable requirements, you will comply with our 
standards and specifications for Websites as we prescribe in the operating materials or 
otherwise in writing, including elements and features placed on the Website.  If we 
require, you will establish your Website as part of our website and/or establish electronic 
links to our website. 

(d) If you propose any material revision to the Website or any of the 
information contained in the Website, you will submit each such revision to us for our 
prior written approval. 

 Any costs you may incur relating to creating, hosting or updating any Website will not be 
considered local advertising for purposes of your local advertising responsibilities, provided that 
we may use funds in the Marketing Fund to offset the cost of any Website.  
 

12. ACCOUNTING, REPORTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

(a) You agree to keep full and accurate books of account and other records 
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reflecting the results of operation of the Crêperie on a calendar year basis (or, if we 
request, consistent with our yearly accounting periods) in a format we prescribe.  You 
agree to establish and maintain at your own expense a bookkeeping, accounting, and 
recordkeeping system conforming to the requirements, data processing and cash register 
systems and formats we prescribe from time to time, including our standard chart of 
accounts.  These systems may include capability of being polled by our central Brand 
Technology.  With respect to the operation and financial condition of the Crêperie, you 
agree to furnish us in the form we prescribe from time to time: 

(b) if we request it daily, an e-mail report of the Gross Sales for the preceding 
day;  

(c) by the 3rd business day after the close of the sales week as designated by 
us an e-mail report of the Gross Sales of the Crêperie for such sales week and any other 
data, information, and supporting records that we reasonably require;  

(d) by the 10th day following each month (or the 4-week accounting period 
prescribed by us), a profit and loss statement for that accounting period and a year to date 
profit and loss statement and balance sheet;  

(e) within 120 days after the end of each calendar year (or, if we request, our 
yearly accounting period), a year-end balance sheet and an annual profit and loss 
statement for that year, reflecting all year-end adjustments; and  

(f) such other sales reports and information as we shall reasonably prescribe 
from time to time for any reporting period or otherwise.   

You must specify and sign each report and financial statement required by this Section in the 
manner we prescribe.  You agree to maintain and furnish, if we request it, complete copies of 
federal and state income tax returns you file with the Internal Revenue Service and state tax 
departments reflecting sales and income of the Crêperie or the corporation, limited liability 
company or partnership that holds the Franchise.  We reserve the right to require you to have 
audited or reviewed financial statements prepared by a certified public accountant on an annual 
basis. 

13. INSPECTIONS AND AUDITS. 

13.1 Company’s Right to Inspect the Crêperie.  To determine whether you and the 
Crêperie are complying with this Agreement, and with specifications, standards, and operating 
procedures we prescribe for the operation of Sweet Paris Crêperies, we or our agents have the 
right, at any reasonable time and without advance notice to you, to:   

(a) inspect the Premises;  

(b) observe the operations of the Crêperie for such consecutive or intermittent 
periods as we deem necessary;  
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(c) interview personnel of the Crêperie;  

(d) interview customers of the Crêperie; and  

(e) inspect and copy any books, records and documents relating to the 
operation of the Crêperie.   

You agree to fully cooperate with us in connection with any of those inspections, observations 
and interviews.  You agree to present to your customers any evaluation forms we periodically 
prescribe and agree to participate and/or request your customers to participate in any surveys 
performed by or on our behalf.  In no way limiting the foregoing, we may require that you 
provide us with “view only” access to your operating bank account for the Crêperie. 

13.2 Company’s Right to Audit.  We have the right at any time during business 
hours, and upon 24 hours’ notice to you, to inspect and audit, or cause to be inspected and 
audited, the business records, bookkeeping and accounting records, sales and income tax records 
and returns and other records of the Crêperie and the books and records of any corporation, 
limited liability company or partnership which holds the Franchise.  You agree to fully cooperate 
with our representatives and independent accountants we may hire to conduct any inspection or 
audit.  If the inspection or audit is made necessary by your failure to furnish the reports, 
supporting records, other information or financial statements, required by this Agreement, or to 
furnish those reports, records, information or financial statements on a timely basis, or if an 
understatement of Gross Sales for any period is determined by an audit or inspection to be 
greater than 2%, you agree to pay us all monies owed, plus interest, and reimburse us for the cost 
of such inspection or audit, including, without limitation, the charges of attorneys and any 
independent accountants, and the travel expenses, room and board and applicable per diem 
charges for our employees.  The above remedies are in addition to all our other remedies and 
rights under this Agreement or under applicable law. 

14. TRANSFER REQUIREMENTS. 

14.1 Interests in Franchise Owner.  You and each Principal Owner represent, 
warrant and agree that all Interests in Franchise Owner are owned in the amount and manner 
disclosed to us in Exhibit C and that no change will be made in the ownership of an Interest other 
than as expressly permitted by this Agreement or as we may otherwise approve in writing.  You 
and each Principal Owner agree to furnish us with evidence as we may request from time to time 
to assure ourselves that the Interests in Franchise Owner remain as permitted by this Agreement, 
including a list of all persons owning any Interest.  No Interest in Franchise Owner will, during 
the term of this Agreement, be “public securities” (i.e., securities which require, for their 
issuance, registration with any state or federal authority).  An “Interest” is defined to mean any 
shares, partnership or other ownership interests in or of Franchise Owner and any other equitable 
or legal right in any of Franchise Owner’s stock, revenues, profits, rights or assets.   

You and each Principal Owner represent, warrant and agree, except as otherwise 
permitted in Section 14.3, that neither the Crêperie, its assets, this Agreement nor any Interest of 
a Principal has or will be given as security or pledged for any obligation. 
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14.2 Transfer by Company.  This Agreement is fully transferable by us, without the 
need for your consent, and will inure to the benefit of any person or entity to whom it is 
transferred, or to any other legal successor to our interests in this Agreement. 

14.3 No Transfer Without Approval.  You understand and acknowledge that the 
rights and duties created by this Agreement are personal to you and your Principal Owners and 
that we have entered into this Agreement in reliance on the individual or collective character, 
skill, aptitude, attitude, business ability, and financial capacity of you and your Principal Owners.  
Accordingly, neither this Agreement, the Crêperie, nor any Interest of a Principal Owner, may be 
transferred without our advance written approval.  Any Transfer that is made without our 
approval will constitute a breach of this Agreement and convey no rights to or interests in this 
Agreement, in you, or in the Crêperie. 

As used in this Agreement, the term “Transfer” means any voluntary, involuntary, direct 
or indirect assignment, sale, gift, exchange, grant of a security interest in this Agreement, the 
Crêperie or its assets, or the occurrence of any event which would or might change the 
ownership of any Interest, and includes, without limitation:   

(a) Transfer of ownership of capital stock, partnership interest or other 
ownership interests;  

(b) merger or consolidation, or issuance of additional securities representing 
an ownership interest in Franchise Owner;  

(c) sale of common stock of Franchise Owner sold pursuant to a private 
placement or registered public offering;  

(d) Transfer of an Interest in a divorce proceeding or otherwise by operation 
of law; or  

(e) Transfer of an Interest by will, declaration of or transfer in trust, or under 
the laws of intestate succession. 

We will not unreasonably withhold consent to a Transfer of an Interest by a Principal 
Owner to a member of his immediate family or to your key employees, so long as all Principal 
Owners retain a “controlling Interest” in you, although we reserve the right to impose reasonable 
conditions on the Transfer as a requirement for our consent. 

We will not unreasonably withhold consent to the granting of a lien on the assets of the 
Crêperie or a Principal Owner’s Interest to a bank or other lending institution which is providing 
financing to you. 

14.4 Conditions for Approval of Transfer.  If you and your Principal Owners are in 
full compliance with this Agreement, we will not unreasonably withhold our approval of a 
Transfer that meets all the applicable requirements of this Section.  The person or entity to whom 
you wish to make the Transfer and principal owners (“Proposed New Owner”) must be 
individuals of good moral character and otherwise meet our then current standards for Sweet 
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Paris Crêperie franchisees and owners.  If you propose to Transfer this Agreement, the Crêperie 
or a controlling Interest in you, or make a Transfer that is one of a series of Transfers which 
taken together would constitute the Transfer of this Agreement, the Crêperie or a controlling 
Interest in you, all of the following conditions must be met before or at the time of the Transfer: 

(a) the Proposed New Owner must have sufficient business experience, 
aptitude, and financial resources to operate the Crêperie; 

(b) you must pay any amounts owed for purchases from us and our affiliates, 
and any other amounts owed to us or our affiliates which are unpaid; 

(c) the Proposed New Owner and its management team must have 
successfully completed our training program; 

(d) if your lease for the Premises requires it, the lessor must have consented to 
the assignment or sublease of the Premises to the Proposed New Owner; 

(e) you shall have paid to us a transfer fee equal to 50% of our then current 
initial franchise fee for a Sweet Paris Crêperie franchise; 

(f) you and your Principal Owners must execute a general release (in a form 
satisfactory to us) of any and all claims against us and our owners, officers, directors, 
employees, and agents; 

(g) we must approve the material terms and conditions of the proposed 
Transfer, including, without limitation, that the price and terms of payment are not so 
burdensome as to adversely affect the operation of the Crêperie; 

(h) The Crêperie shall have been left in an attractive, neat and sanitary 
condition; 

(i) The Crêperie shall have been determined by us to contain all equipment 
and fixtures in good working condition, as were required at the initial opening of the 
Crêperie.  At our request, the Proposed New Owner shall have agreed, in writing, to 
make such reasonable capital expenditures to remodel, equip, modernize and redecorate 
the interior and exterior of the premises in accordance with our then existing plans and 
specifications for Sweet Paris Crêperies; 

(j) Upon receiving our consent for the Transfer, the Proposed New Owner 
shall agree to assume all of your obligations under this Agreement in a form acceptable to 
us, or at our option, shall agree to execute a new franchise agreement and related 
agreements with us in the form then being used by us; 

(k) The Proposed New Owner shall be responsible for the travel and living 
expenses (including all transportation costs, room, board and meals) incurred during the 
training program.  You shall reimburse us for any reasonable expenses incurred by us in 
investigation and processing any Proposed New Owner where the Transfer is not 
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consummated for any reason; and 

(l) You or your Principal Owners must have properly offered us the 
opportunity to exercise our right of first refusal as described in Section 14.7, and we must 
have declined to exercise it. 

You further agree and understand that the Crêperie or its assets may not be transferred, sold or 
assigned except in connection with a Transfer of this Agreement. 

14.5 Death and Disability.  Upon your death or permanent disability (or the death or 
permanent disability of a Principal Owner), the executor, administrator, conservator or other 
personal representative of such person shall transfer his/her interest within a reasonable time, not 
to exceed 12 months from the date of death or permanent disability, to a person approved by us.  
Such transfers, including, without limitation, transfers by devise or inheritance, shall be subject 
to all the terms and conditions for assignments and transfers contained in this Agreement.  
Failure to so dispose of such interest within said period of time shall constitute grounds for 
termination under this Agreement.  If the Crêperie is not being managed properly in our 
reasonable judgment after the death or permanent disability of you or a Principal Owner, we 
shall have the right, but not the obligation, to manage the Crêperie until an approved assignee 
shall be able to assume the management and operation of the Crêperie.  We shall have the right 
to charge a reasonable fee for such management services. 

14.6 Effect of Consent to Transfer.  Our consent to a proposed Transfer pursuant to 
this Section will not constitute a waiver of any claims we may have against you, nor will it be 
deemed a waiver of our right to demand exact compliance with any of the terms or conditions of 
this Agreement by the Proposed New Owner. 

14.7 Company’s Right of First Refusal.  If you wish to sell the Crêperie or if any 
Principal Owner wishes to sell an Interest, we will have a right of first refusal to purchase the 
Crêperie or that Interest.  The party proposing the Transfer (the “Transferor”) must obtain a bona 
fide, executed written offer (accompanied by a “good faith” earnest money deposit of at least 5% 
of the purchase price) from a responsible and fully disclosed purchaser and must submit an exact 
copy of the offer to us.  You also agree to provide us with any other information we need to 
evaluate the offer, if we request it within 15 days of receipt of the offer.  We have the right, 
exercisable by delivering written notice to the Transferor within 30 days from the date of last 
delivery to us of the offer and any other documents we have requested, to purchase the Crêperie 
or the Interest for the price and on the terms and conditions contained in the offer, except that we 
may substitute cash for any form of payment proposed in the offer and we will not be obligated 
to pay any “finder’s” or broker’s fees that are a part of the proposed Transfer.  We will consider 
requests which you or any Principal Owner may make as to the method of completing the 
transaction, but we will not be obligated to complete the transaction in a form other than an 
“asset” purchase.  Our credit will be deemed equal to the credit of any other proposed purchaser, 
and we will have at least 60 days to prepare for closing.  We will be entitled to all customary 
representations and warranties.  If the proposed Transfer includes assets not related to the 
operation of the Crêperie, we may purchase only the assets related to the operation of the 
Crêperie or may also purchase the other assets.  (An equitable purchase price will be allocated to 
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each asset included in the Transfer.) 

If we do not exercise our right of first refusal, the Transferor may complete the sale to the 
Proposed New Owner pursuant to and on the terms of the offer, as long as we have approved the 
Transfer as provided in Sections 14.3 or 14.4.  You must immediately notify us of any changes in 
the terms of an offer.  Any material change in the terms of an offer before closing will make it a 
new offer, revoking any previous approval or previously made election to purchase and giving us 
a new right of first refusal effective as of the day we receive formal notice of a material change 
in the terms.  If the sale to the Proposed New Owner is not completed within 120 days after we 
have approved the sale, our approval of the proposed sale will expire.  Any later proposal to 
complete that proposed sale will be deemed a new offer, giving us a new right of approval and 
right of first refusal effective as of the day we receive formal notice of the new (or continuing) 
proposal.  We will not exercise a right of first refusal with respect to a proposed sale of less than 
a controlling Interest to a member of a Principal Owner’s immediate family or to your key 
employees. 

15. TERMINATION OF THE FRANCHISE. 

15.1 Company’s Right to Terminate.  We shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement effective upon delivery of notice of termination to you, if:   

(a) you fail to purchase or lease the Premises for the Crêperie or develop or 
open the Crêperie as provided in this Agreement;  

(b) you or your Principal Owner fails to satisfactorily complete our training 
program;  

(c) you abandon, surrender, transfer control of, lose the right to occupy the 
Premises of or fail to actively operate the Crêperie, or the lease for the location of the 
Crêperie is terminated because of your default thereunder;  

(d) you or any of your Principal Owners assign or transfer this Agreement, the 
Crêperie or its assets or any Interest or without compliance with the provisions of 
Section 14;  

(e) you are adjudged as bankrupt, become insolvent or make a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors;  

(f) you or any of your Principal Owners are convicted of or plead no contest 
to a felony or are convicted or plead no contest to any crime or offense that is likely to 
adversely affect the reputation of the Crêperie and the goodwill associated with the 
Marks;  

(g) you violate any health or safety law, ordinance or regulation or operate the 
Crêperie in a manner that presents a health or safety hazard to its customers or the public 
or any law, ordinance or regulation governing the sale of alcohol;  
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(h) you knowingly maintain false books or records, or knowingly submit any 
false statements or reports to us; 

(i) you or any of your Principal Owners disclose or divulge the contents of 
the Operations Manual or other confidential information provided to you by us, contrary 
to Sections 8.1 or 8.2, or fail to comply with the covenant required under Section 8.3; 

(j) you or any of your Principal Owners misuse or make any unauthorized use 
of the Marks or any other identifying characteristics of the System, or if you otherwise 
operate the Crêperie or conduct yourself in a manner that materially impairs the 
reputation or goodwill associated with the System and Marks, or our rights therein; 

(k) you fail to pay when due any monies owed to us or our affiliates or any 
supplier and do not correct such failure within 10 days after written notice thereof is 
given to you;  

(l) you or your Principal Owners fail to comply with any other provision of 
this Agreement or any mandatory specification, standard or operating procedure within 
30 days after written notice of such failure to comply is given to you or your Principal 
Owners; or  

(m) you fail on 2 or more separate occasions within any 12 consecutive month 
period to submit when due financial statements, reports or other data, information or 
supporting records, to pay when due the Royalty Fees or Marketing Fees, advertising 
contributions, amounts due for purchases from us or our affiliates, or other payments due 
to us, or otherwise fail to comply with this Agreement, whether or not such failures to 
comply are corrected after notice is given to you. 

15.2 Step in Rights.    In order to prevent any interruption of the operations which 
would cause harm to the Crêperie, we have the right, but not the obligation, to step-in and 
designate an individual of our choosing (an “Interim Manager”) to temporarily manage the 
Crêperie in the event that: (a) you fail to comply with any provision of this Agreement and do 
not cure this failure; (b) we determine that the operation of the Crêperie is in jeopardy; (c) we 
determine that operational problems and deficiencies require that we operate the Crêperie; (d) 
you abandon or fail to actively operate the Crêperie; (e) your designated Principal Owner or 
Designated Operator dies or is determined to be temporarily or permanently disabled; or (f) we 
deem you incapable of operating the Crêperie (“Step-in Rights”).  If we exercise our Step-in 
Rights, then: (a) we will keep in a separate account all monies generated by the operation of the 
Crêperie, less the expenses of the Crêperie, including reasonable compensation and expenses for 
our representatives (including an Interim Manager) as well as other expenses incurred; (b) you 
agree to hold us and our representatives harmless for all actions occurring during the course of 
such temporary management of the Crêperie and acknowledge that the Interim Manager and 
such representatives will have no liability to you, except to the extent directly caused by gross 
negligence or willful misconduct; (c) you agree to pay us our then current management fee; (d) 
you agree to pay us, in addition to the management fee, all of our reasonable costs and expenses, 
including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees incurred as a consequence of exercising our Step-in 



 

35 
Franchise Agreement-Sweet Paris-1112 
 

Rights; and (e) you acknowledge that us and our representatives (including an Interim Manager) 
will have a duty to utilize only reasonable efforts and will not be liable to you or your owners for 
any debts, losses, damages, or obligations you or the Crêperie incur, or to any of your or the 
Crêperie’s suppliers, vendors or creditors for any supplies, products, or other assets or services 
you or the Crêperie purchases, while managed by us or an Interim Manager.  Nothing contained 
herein shall prevent us from exercising any other right which we may have under this 
Agreement, including, without limitation, termination.  The foregoing shall be in addition to all 
other remedies available to us under this Agreement and at law.   

16. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF COMPANY AND FRANCHISE OWNER 
UPON TERMINATION OR EXPIRATION OF THE FRANCHISE. 

16.1 Liquidated Damages.  You confirm that we will suffer substantial damages by 
virtue of the termination of this Agreement, including, without limitation, lost Royalty Fees, lost 
market penetration and goodwill in the Protected Area, lost opportunity costs and the expense we 
will incur in developing another franchise for the Protected Area, which damages are impractical 
and extremely difficult to ascertain and/or calculate accurately, and the proof of which would be 
burdensome and costly, although such damages are real and meaningful to us and the System.  
Accordingly, in the event that we terminate this Agreement for your default hereunder, you agree 
to pay to us in a lump sum on the effective date of termination, liquidated damages, which 
represents a fair and reasonable estimate of our foreseeable losses as a result of such termination, 
and which are not in any way intended to be a penalty, in an amount equal to the average of the 
monthly Royalty Fees paid (or payable) over the past twelve (12) months times the lesser of 
twenty-four (24) or the number of full calendar months remaining in the term of this Agreement 
at the time of termination.  If you had not operated the Crêperie for at least twelve (12) months, 
then the average of the monthly Royalty Fees will be calculated during the period that you 
operated the Crêperie. Your payment to us under this Section will be in lieu of any direct 
monetary damages that we may incur as a result of our loss of Royalty Fees that would have 
been owed to us after the date of termination; however, such payment shall be in addition to all 
damages and other amounts arising under this Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 
15 and Section 16, our right to injunctive relief, and any attorneys’ fees and other costs and 
expenses to which we are entitled under this Agreement.  The foregoing shall be in addition to all 
other remedies available to us under this Agreement and at law. 

16.2 Payment of Amounts Owed to Company.  You agree to pay us within 5 days 
after the effective date of termination or expiration of the Franchise, or any later date that the 
amounts due to us are determined, all amounts owed to us or our affiliates which are then unpaid. 

16.3 Marks.  You and your Principal Owners agree that after the termination or 
expiration of the Franchise you will: 

(a) not directly or indirectly at any time identify any business with which you 
are associated as a current or former Sweet Paris Crêperie franchise (other than another 
Sweet Paris Crêperie under a franchise agreement with us); 

(b) not use any Mark or any colorable imitation of any Mark in any manner or 
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for any purpose, or use for any purpose any trademark or other commercial symbol that 
suggests or indicates an association with us; 

(c) return to us any proprietary software and return to us or destroy 
(whichever we specify) all forms and materials containing any Mark or otherwise relating 
to a Sweet Paris Crêperie; 

(d) remove all Marks affixed to uniforms or, at our direction, cease to use 
those uniforms; 

(e) take any action that may be required to cancel all fictitious or assumed 
name or equivalent registrations relating to your use of any Mark; and 

(f) notify the telephone company and all listing agencies of the termination or 
expiration of your right to use any telephone number and any regular, classified or other 
telephone directory listings associated with any Mark and promptly execute such 
documents or take such steps as may be necessary or appropriate to enable us to utilize all 
such telephone numbers. 

16.4 De-Identification.  If you retain possession of the Premises, you agree to 
completely remove or modify, at your sole expense, any part of the interior and exterior decor 
that we deem necessary to disassociate the Premises with the image of a Sweet Paris Crêperie, 
including any signage bearing the Marks.  If you do not take the actions we request within 30 
days after notice from us, we have the right to enter the Premises and make the required changes 
at your expense, and you agree to reimburse us for those expenses on demand. 

16.5 Confidential Information.  You agree that on termination or expiration of the 
Franchise you will immediately cease to use any of the Confidential Information, and agree not 
to use it in any business or for any other purpose.  You further agree to immediately return to us 
all copies of the Operations Manual and any other confidential materials which we have loaned 
to you. 

16.6 Covenant Not to Compete.  On termination or expiration of this Agreement in 
accordance with its terms, you and your Principal Owners agree that for a period of 3 years after 
the effective date of termination or expiration, or the date on which you stop operating the 
Crêperie, whichever is later, neither you nor your Principal Owners will provide services to or 
have any direct or indirect interest (through a member of your immediate family or that of a 
Principal Owner, or otherwise) as a disclosed or beneficial owner, investor, manager, or 
consultant, in any Competitive Business located or operating at or within a radius of 50 miles of 
the Premises, or within 50 miles of any other Sweet Paris Crêperie then in existence or under 
construction. 

16.7 Company’s Option to Purchase Crêperie.  Upon the termination or expiration 
of the Franchise, we shall have the option, but not the obligation, exercisable for 30 days upon 
written notice to you, to purchase all of the assets of the Crêperie including all approved 
equipment, fixtures, furniture and signs and all glassware, utensils, supplies, materials and other 
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items imprinted with any Mark.  The cost for such items shall be determined based upon a 5 year 
straight-line depreciation of original costs.  For equipment that is 5 or more years old, it is agreed 
that fair market value shall be deemed to be 10% of the equipment’s original cost.  We shall not 
assume any liabilities, debts or obligations of the Crêperie in connection with any such transfer 
and you shall indemnify us from any and all claims made against us arising out of any such 
transfer of the assets of the Crêperie.  The parties shall comply with all applicable laws in 
connection with any such transfer and you shall cooperate with the Company in complying with 
all such requirements.  At the closing of the purchase of the Crêperie, as provided above, both of 
us shall execute and deliver all documents necessary to vest title in the Company or its nominee 
free and clear of all liens and encumbrances.  We shall have the right to set off against the 
purchase price of the assets of the Crêperie all amounts due to the Company under this 
Agreement or any other agreement between the parties. 

16.8 Real Property.  In the event you own the real property on which the Crêperie is 
located, we will also have the option to purchase this property for a period of 30 days following 
expiration or termination of this Agreement.  If we and you cannot agree on the fair market value 
of the property within a reasonable period of time, such value shall be determined by an 
independent appraiser selected by the Company.  The purchase price will be payable in full at the 
closing, minus customary prorations, including the pay-off of existing mortgage.  If you lease the 
real property on which the Crêperie is located, we also have the option to assume the lease from 
you on a prospective basis under the original terms and conditions negotiated by you and the 
landlord. 

16.9 Continuing Obligations.  All obligations of this Agreement (whether yours or 
ours) which expressly or by their nature survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement 
will continue in full force and effect after and notwithstanding its expiration or termination until 
they are satisfied in full or by their nature expire. 

17. ENFORCEMENT. 

17.1 Invalid Provisions; Substitution of Valid Provisions.  To the extent that either 
Section 8.3 or 16.5 is deemed unenforceable because of its scope in terms of area, business 
activity prohibited, or length of time, you agree that the invalid provision will be deemed 
modified or limited to the extent or manner necessary to make that particular provision valid and 
enforceable to the greatest extent possible in light of the intent of the parties expressed in that 
provision under the laws applied in the forum in which we are seeking to enforce it.  If any 
lawful requirement or court order of any jurisdiction requires a greater advance notice of the 
termination or non-renewal of this Agreement than is required under this Agreement, or the 
taking of some other action which is not required by this Agreement, or makes any provision of 
this Agreement or any specification, standard or operating procedure we prescribed invalid or 
unenforceable, the advance notice and/or other action required or revision of the specification, 
standard or operating procedure will be substituted for the comparable provisions of this 
Agreement in order to make the modified provision enforceable to the greatest extent possible.  
You agree to be bound by the modification to the greatest extent lawfully permitted. 

17.2 Written Consents from Company.  Whenever this Agreement requires our 
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advance approval or consent, you agree to make a timely written request for it.  Our approval or 
consent will not be valid unless it is in writing. 

17.3 No Guarantees.  If, in connection with this Agreement, we provide to you any 
waiver, approval, consent, or suggestion, or if we neglect or delay our response or deny any 
request for any of those, we will not be deemed to have made any warranties or guarantees which 
you may rely on, and will not assume any liability or obligation to you. 

17.4 No Waiver.  If at any time we do not exercise a right or power available to us 
under this Agreement or do not insist on your strict compliance with the terms of the Agreement, 
or if there develops a custom or practice which is at variance with the terms of this Agreement, 
we will not be deemed to have waived our right to demand exact compliance with any of the 
terms of this Agreement at a later time.  Similarly, our waiver of any particular breach or series 
of breaches under this Agreement or of any similar term in any other agreement between the 
Company and any franchisee will not affect our rights with respect to any later breach.  It will 
also not be deemed to be a waiver of any breach of this Agreement for us to accept payments 
which are due to us under this Agreement. 

17.5 Cumulative Remedies.  The rights and remedies specifically granted to either 
you or us by this Agreement will not be deemed to prohibit either of you or us from exercising 
any other right or remedy provided under this Agreement or permitted by law or equity. 

17.6 Specific Performance; Injunctive Relief.  Provided we give you the appropriate 
notice, we will be entitled, without being required to post a bond, to the entry of temporary and 
permanent injunctions and orders of specific performance (1) to enforce the provisions of this 
Agreement relating to your use of the Marks and your non-disclosure and non-competition 
obligations under this Agreement; (2) to prohibit any act or omission by you or your employees 
that constitutes a violation of any applicable law, ordinance or regulation, constitutes a danger to 
the public, or may impair the goodwill associated with the Marks or the Crêperie; or (3) to 
prevent any other irreparable harm to our interests.  If we obtain an injunction or order of 
specific performance, you agree to pay us an amount equal to the total of our costs of obtaining 
it, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ and expert witness fees, costs of 
investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other litigation expenses and travel and living 
expenses, and any damages we incur as a result of the breach of any such provision. 

17.7 Arbitration.  Except insofar as we elect to enforce this Agreement or any other 
related agreement, all controversies, disputes or claims arising between the Company, its 
affiliates, officers, directors, agents and employees (in their representative capacity) and 
Franchise Owner (and its Principal Owners) arising out of or related to:   

(a) this Agreement or any provisions thereof or any related agreement (except 
for any sublease with any affiliates of the Company);  

(b) the relationship of the parties hereto;  

(c) the validity of this Agreement or any related agreement, or any provision 
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thereof; or  

(d) any specification, standard or operating procedure relating to the 
establishment or operation of the franchise shall be submitted for arbitration to be 
administered by the American Arbitration Association on demand of either party.   

 Such arbitration proceedings shall be conducted in the city in which our principal office 
is located and, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, shall be conducted by one 
arbitrator in accordance with then current commercial arbitration rules of the American 
Arbitration Association.  The arbitrator shall have no authority to select a different hearing 
locale.  The arbitrator shall have the right to award or include in his award any relief which he 
deems proper in the circumstances, including without limitation, money damages (with interest 
on unpaid amounts from date due), specific performance, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and 
costs.  The award and decision of the arbitrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties 
to this Agreement, and judgment on the award may be entered in any court of competent 
jurisdiction.  Each party waives any right to contest the validity or enforceability of such award.  
The parties agree to be bound by the provisions of any applicable limitation on the period of time 
in which claims must be brought.  The parties further agree that in connection with any such 
arbitration proceeding each will file any compulsory counterclaim (as defined by Rule 13 of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure) within 30 days of the date of the filing of the claim to which it 
relates.  This provision will continue in full force and effect subsequent to and notwithstanding 
expiration or termination of this Agreement.  The parties agree that arbitration shall be conducted 
on an individual, not a class-wide basis. 

Notwithstanding our agreement to arbitrate, either party will have the right to seek 
temporary restraining orders and temporary or preliminary injunctive relief from a court of 
competent jurisdiction with respect to any dispute subject to arbitration; provided, however, that 
such party must contemporaneously submit the dispute for arbitration on the merits as provided 
in this Section. 

17.8 Jurisdiction and Venue.  Subject to the arbitration obligations in Sections 17.7, 
any judicial action must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state, and in (or 
closest to) the county, where our headquarters are then located.  Each of the parties irrevocably 
submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to such jurisdiction or venue.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may bring an action for a temporary restraining order or for 
temporary or preliminary injunctive relief, or to enforce an arbitration award or judicial decision, 
in any federal or state court in the county in which you reside or the Crêperie is located. 

17.9 Governing Law.  Except to the extent governed by the United States Trademark 
Act of 1946, this Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and construed under Texas law 
(except for Texas conflict of law rules); provided, however, that the laws of the state in which 
the Crêperie is located shall govern the interpretation and enforcement of the non-competition 
covenants contained in Sections 8.3 and 16.5 of this Agreement.  Nothing in this Section 17.9 is 
intended by the parties to subject this Agreement to (i) any franchise or similar law, rule or 
regulation of the State of Texas or of any other state to which it would not otherwise be subject 
or (ii) any laws of the State of Texas which would affect the enforceability of Section 17.18 to 
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which it would not otherwise be subject. 

17.10 Waiver of Punitive Damages and Jury Trial.  The parties to this Agreement 
hereby waive to the fullest extent permitted by law any right to or claim for any punitive or 
exemplary damages against the other and agree that in the event of a dispute between them each 
shall be limited to the recovery, upon proof, of actual damages.  The parties irrevocably waive 
trial by jury on any action, proceeding or counterclaim, whether at law or equity, brought by 
either of them. 

17.11 Binding Effect.  This Agreement is binding on and will inure to the benefit of our 
successors and assigns and will be binding on and inure to the benefit of your successors and 
assigns, and if you are an individual, on and to your heirs, executors and administrators. 

17.12 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with the introduction and exhibits 
to it, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter of this 
Agreement, and there are no other oral or written understandings or agreements between the 
parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be modified only 
by written agreement signed by both you and us.  Nothing in this Agreement shall disclaim or 
require you to waive reliance on any representation that we made in the most recent disclosure 
document (including its exhibits and amendments) that we delivered to you or your 
representative. 

17.13 No Liability to Others; No Other Beneficiaries.  We will not, because of this 
Agreement or by virtue of any approvals, advice or services provided to you, be liable to any 
person or legal entity who is not a party to this Agreement, and no other party shall have any 
rights because of this Agreement. 

17.14 Construction.  All headings of the various sections and paragraphs of this 
Agreement are for convenience only and do not affect the meaning or construction of any 
provision.  All references in this Agreement to masculine, neuter or singular usage will be 
construed to include the masculine, feminine, neuter or plural, wherever applicable.  Except 
where this Agreement expressly obligates us to reasonably approve or not unreasonably withhold 
our approval of any of your actions or requests, we have the absolute right to refuse any request 
by you or to withhold our approval of any action or omission by you.  The term “affiliate” as 
used in this Agreement is applicable to any company directly or indirectly owned or controlled 
by us that sells products or otherwise transacts business with you. 

17.15 Joint and Several Liability.  If two or more persons are the Franchisee under this 
Agreement, their obligation and liability to us shall be joint and several. 

17.16 Multiple Originals.  This Agreement will be executed using multiple copies, 
each of which will be deemed an original. 

17.17 Timing Is Important.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement.  (“Time is of 
the essence” is a legal term that emphasizes the strictness of time limits.  In this case, it means it 
will be a material breach of this Agreement to fail to perform any obligation within the time 
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required or permitted by this Agreement.) 

17.18 Limitation.  The parties agree that, except as provided below, no mediation or 
arbitration proceeding, action or suit (whether by way of claim, counterclaim, cross-complaint, 
raised as an affirmative defense or otherwise) by either party will lie against the other (nor will 
any action or suit by youFranchisee against any person and/or entity affiliated with usCompany), 
whether for damages, rescission, injunctive or any other legal and/or equitable relief, in respect 
of any alleged breach of this Agreement, or any other claim of any type, unless such party will 
have commenced such mediation or arbitration proceeding, action or suit before the expiration of 
the earlier of:  (a)  180 days after the date upon which the state of facts giving rise to the cause of 
action comes to the attention of, or should reasonably have come to the attention of, such party; 
or (b)  1 year after the initial occurrence of any act or omission giving rise to the cause of action, 
whenever discoveredtwo (2) years and a day after the cause of action has accrued. 

(a) Notwithstanding the foregoing limitations, where any federal, state or 
provincial law provides for a shorter limitation period than above described, whether 
upon notice or otherwise, such shorter period will govern. 

(b) The foregoing limitations may, where brought into effect by our failure to 
commence an action within the time periods specified, operate to exclude our right to sue 
for damages but will in no case, even upon expiration or lapse of the periods specified or 
referenced above, operate to prevent us from terminating your rights and our obligations 
under this Agreement as provided herein and under applicable law nor prevent us from 
obtaining any appropriate court judgment, order or otherwise which enforces and/or is 
otherwise consistent with such termination. 

(c) The foregoing limitations shall not apply to our claims arising from or 
related to: (1) your under-reporting of Gross Sales; (2) your under-payment or non-
payment of any amounts owed to us or any affiliated or otherwise related entity; 
(3) indemnification by you; (4) your confidentiality, non-competition or other exclusive 
relationship obligations; and/or (5) your unauthorized use of the Marks. 

(d) In the event that any law of the State of Texas affecting the enforceability 
of this Section 17.18 is found applicable, the first sentence of this Section 17.18 shall be 
amended to read as follows:  The parties agree that, except as provided below, no 
mediation or arbitration proceeding, action or suit (whether by way of claim, 
counterclaim, cross-complaint, raised as an affirmative defense or otherwise) by either 
party will lie against the other (nor will any action or suit by you against any person 
and/or entity affiliated with us), whether for damages, rescission, injunctive or any other 
legal and/or equitable relief, in respect of any alleged breach of this Agreement, or any 
other claim of any type, unless such party will have commenced such mediation or 
arbitration proceeding, action or suit before expiration of two (2) years and a day after the 
cause of action has accrued. 

(e)(d) In no way limiting Section 17.1, if any lawful requirement or court order 
of any jurisdiction makes any provision of this Section 17.18 invalid, void or 
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unenforceable, such provision shall be modified in order to make the modified provision 
enforceable to the greatest extent possible.  The parties agree to be bound by the modified 
provision to the greatest extent lawfully permitted. 

17.19 Independent Provisions.  The provisions of this Agreement are deemed to be 
severable.  In other words, the parties agree that each provision of this Agreement will be 
construed as independent of any other provision of this Agreement. 

17.20 Release.  By executing this Agreement, Franchise Owner, for itself and its 
affiliates, and for its and its affiliates’ directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, 
managers, employees and agents, and for the predecessors, successors, assigns, heirs, 
administrators and executors of it and any and all of them (collectively, the “Franchise Owner 
Parties”), hereby release, remise, acquit, and forever discharge Company, its affiliates, its and its 
affiliates’ directors, officers, shareholders, partners, members, managers, employees and agents, 
and the predecessors, successors, assigns, heirs, administrators and executors of it and any or all 
of them (collectively, the “Company Parties”), from and against any and all obligations, debts, 
liabilities, demands, claims, actions, causes of action, loss, losses, damage and damages (actual, 
consequential, multiplied, exemplary, enhanced, punitive, or otherwise), of any nature or kind, 
contingent or fixed, known or unknown, at law or in equity or otherwise, for any matter, of 
whatever source or origin, arising out of or related to any and all transactions of any kind or 
character, at any time prior to and including the Agreement Date, including, but not limited to, 
any and all claims arising under the franchise, securities or antitrust laws of the United States or 
of any state, province or territory thereof.  Franchise Owner covenants, warrants, and agrees that 
it has the authority to bind the Franchise Owner Parties (as herein defined) as provided herein.  
Franchise Owner, on behalf of itself and the Franchise Owner Parties, further covenants not to 
sue any of the Company Parties on any of the claims released by the foregoing and represents 
that it has not assigned any such claims to any individual or entity who is not bound by the 
foregoing. 

18. NOTICES AND PAYMENTS. 

All written notices, reports and payments permitted or required under this Agreement will 
be deemed delivered at the time of delivery by express courier or messenger service, 1 business 
day after sending by facsimile transmission or comparable electronic system and 3 business days 
after placed in the United States Mail by Registered or Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, 
postage prepaid and addressed to the party to be notified or paid at its most current principal 
business address of which the notifying party has been advised, or to any other place designated 
by either party.  Any required notice, payment or report which we do not actually receive during 
regular business hours on the date due (or postmarked by postal authorities at least 2 days before 
it is due) will be deemed delinquent. 

19. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

19.1 Receipt of FDD and Complete Agreement.  You acknowledge that you received 
the disclosure document required by the Trade Regulation Rule of the Federal Trade 
Commission entitled “Disclosure Requirements and Prohibitions Concerning Franchising”, 
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otherwise known as the Franchise Disclosure Document (“FDD”), at least fourteen (14) calendar 
days prior to the date on which this Agreement was executed or any payment was made by you 
for the franchise rights granted under this Agreement. You further acknowledge that prior to 
receiving our FDD, we advised you of the formats in which the FDD is made available, and any 
conditions necessary for reviewing the FDD in a particular format.  

19.2 You Read the Agreement and Consulted.  You acknowledge that you have read 
and understood our FDD and this Agreement, the attachments hereto, and agreements relating 
thereto, if any, and that we have accorded you ample time and opportunity to consult with 
advisors of your own choosing about the potential benefits and risks of entering into this 
Agreement. 

19.3 Your Responsibility for Operation of Business.  Although we retain the right to 
establish and periodically modify System standards, which you have agreed to maintain in the 
operation of the Crêperie, you retain the right and sole responsibility for the day-to-day 
management and operation of the Crêperie and the implementation and maintenance of System 
standards.  You acknowledges that you are solely responsible for all aspects of the Crêperies’ 
operations, including employee and human resources matters.  You further acknowledge that any 
controls implemented by us are for the protection of the System and the Marks and not to 
exercise any control over the day-to-day operation of the Crêperie. 

19.4 Sole and Exclusive Employer of Your Employees.   

(a) You hereby irrevocably affirm, attest and covenant your understanding 
that your employees are employed exclusively by you and in no fashion are any such 
employees employed, jointly employed or co-employed by us. You further affirm and 
attest that each of your employees is under your exclusive dominion and control and 
never under our direct or indirect control in any fashion whatsoever. You alone hire each 
of your employees; set their schedules; establish their compensation rates; and pay all 
salaries, benefits and employment-related liabilities (such as workers’ compensation 
insurance premiums/payroll taxes/Social Security contributions/unemployment insurance 
premiums). You alone have the ability to discipline or terminate your employees to the 
exclusion of us, and you acknowledge that we have no such authority or ability. You 
further attest and affirm that any minimum staffing requirements established by us are 
solely for the purpose of ensuring that the Crêperie is at all times staffed at those levels 
necessary to operate the Crêperie in conformity with the System and the products, 
services, standards of quality and efficiency, and other Sweet Paris brand attributes 
known to and desired by the consuming public and associated with the Marks. You 
affirm, warrant and understand that you may staff the Crêperie with as many employees 
as you desire at any time so long as our minimal staffing levels are achieved. You also 
affirm and attest that any recommendations you may receive from us regarding salaries, 
hourly wages or other compensation for employees are recommendations only, designed 
to assist you to efficiently operate your Crêperie, and that you are entirely free to 
disregard our recommendations regarding such employee compensation.  Moreover, you 
affirm and attest that any training provided by us for your employees is geared to impart 
to those employees, with your ultimate authority, the various procedures, protocols, 
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systems and operations of a Sweet Paris Crêperie and in no fashion reflects any 
employment relationship between us and such employees. Finally, should it ever be 
asserted that we are the employer, joint employer or co-employer of any of your 
employees in any private or government investigation, action, proceeding, arbitration or 
other setting, you irrevocably agree to assist us in defending said allegation, including (if 
necessary) appearing at any venue requested by us to testify on our behalf (and, as may 
be necessary, submitting yourself to depositions, other appearances and/or preparing 
affidavits dismissive of any allegation that we are the employer, joint employer or co-
employer of any of your employees). To the extent we are the only named party in any 
such investigation, action, proceeding, arbitration or other setting to the exclusion of you, 
should any such appearance by you be required or requested by us, we will recompense 
you the reasonable costs associated with your appearing at any such venue.  

(b) Immediately upon their hire, you shall obtain from each and every 
management personnel, staff and any other personnel hired at the Crêperie the Non-
Disclosure and Non-Compete Agreement, which form shall be in substantially the same 
form attached hereto as Exhibit E.  

19.5 Different Franchise Offerings to Others.  You acknowledge and agree that we 
may modify the offer of our franchise to other franchisees in any manner and at any time, which 
offers and agreements have or may have terms, conditions, and obligations that may differ from 
the terms, conditions, and obligations in this Agreement. 

19.6 Good Faith.  We and you acknowledge that each provision in this Agreement has 
been negotiated by the parties hereto in good faith and the Agreement shall be deemed to have 
been drafted by both parties.  It is further acknowledged that both parties intend to enforce every 
provision of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions related to arbitration 
and choice of venue, regardless of any state law or regulation purporting to void or nullify any 
such provision. 

19.7 Patriot Act.  You represent and warrant that to your actual knowledge: (i) neither 
you, nor your officers, directors, managers, members, partners or other individual who manages 
the affairs of you, nor any affiliate or related party, or any funding source for the Crêperie, is 
identified on the lists of Blocked Persons, Specially Designated Nationals, Specially Designated 
Terrorists, Specially Designated Global Terrorists, Foreign Terrorists Organizations, and 
Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers at the United States Department of Treasury’s Office 
of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), or the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing 
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, commonly known 
as the “USA Patriot Act,” as such lists may be amended from time to time (collectively, 
“Blocked Person(s)”); (ii) neither you nor any affiliate or related party is directly or indirectly 
owned or controlled by the government of any country that is subject to an embargo imposed by 
the United States government; (iii) neither you nor any affiliate or related party is acting on 
behalf of the government of, or is involved in business arrangements or other transactions with, 
any country that is subject to such an embargo; (iv) neither you nor any affiliate or related party 
are on the United States Department of Commerce Denied Persons, Entity and Unverified Lists, 
or the United States Departments of State’s Debarred List, as such lists may be amended from 
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time to time (collectively, the “Lists”); (v) neither you nor any affiliate or related party, during 
the term of this Agreement, will be on any of the Lists or identified as a Blocked Person; and (vi) 
during the term of this Agreement, neither you nor any affiliate or related party will sell 
products, goods or services to, or otherwise enter into a business arrangement with, any person or 
entity on any of the Lists or identified as a Blocked Person. You agree to notify us in writing 
immediately upon the occurrence of any act or event that would render any of these 
representations incorrect 

19.8 Signature.  Delivery of a copy of this Agreement bearing (i) an original signature 
by facsimile transmission, (ii) an original signature by electronic mail in “portable document 
format” form or (iii) an electronic signature facilitated by a digital transaction management 
services provider (such as DocuSign), shall have the same effect as physical delivery of the paper 
document bearing the original signature. 

 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

SIGNATURE PAGE 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement in multiple 

counterparts to be effective as of the Agreement Date. 
 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

FRANCHISE OWNER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

Address for Notices: 
 
Ivan Chavez 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 
4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250 
Houston, Texas 77027 
Telephone:  (713) 266-2219 
Fax:  (___) ____________ 
 
With copy to: 
 
Wayne P. Bunch, Jr., Esq. 
FisherBroylesPierson Ferdinand, LLP 
2925 Richmond Avenue 
5850 San Felipe, Suite 1200500 
Houston, Texas 7709877057 
Telephone: (713) 955-4080 
Fax: (940) 241-9482 

Address for Notices: 
 
____________________________________ 
  
  
Telephone:  
Fax:  
Attn:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT A 
PRINCIPAL OWNER’S GUARANTY 

 
In consideration of, and as an inducement to, the execution of the foregoing Franchise 

Agreement (the “Agreement”) by Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC (“us”), each of the Principal 
Owners (“you,” for purposes of this Guaranty only) signing this document hereby personally and 
unconditionally (1) guarantees to us and our successors and assigns that the Franchise Owner 
will punctually pay and perform each and every undertaking, agreement and covenant set forth in 
the Agreement; and (2) agrees to be personally bound by, and personally liable for the breach of, 
each and every provision in the Agreement, including, without limitation, the non-competition 
provisions of Sections 8.3 and 16.5 of the Agreement and the arbitration, jurisdiction and venue 
provisions of Sections 17.7 and 17.8 of the Agreement. 

Each of you waives: 

(a) protest and notice of default, demand for payment or nonperformance of 
any obligations guaranteed by this Guaranty;  

(b) any right you may have to require that an action be brought against 
Franchisee or any other person as a condition of your liability; and  

(c) any and all other notices and legal or equitable defenses to which you may 
be entitled in your capacity as guarantor. 

Each of you consents and agrees that: 

(a) your direct and immediate liability under this Guaranty shall be joint and 
several;  

(b) you will make any payment or render any performance required under the 
Agreement on demand if Franchise Owner fails or refuses to do so when required;  

(c) your liability will not be contingent or conditioned on our pursuit of any 
remedies against Franchise Owner or any other person;  

(d) your liability will not be diminished, relieved or otherwise affected by any 
extension of time, credit or other indulgence which we may from time to time grant to 
Franchise Owner or to any other person, including without limitation, the acceptance of 
any partial payment or performance, or the compromise or release of any claims; and  

(e) this Guaranty will continue and be irrevocable during the term of the 
Agreement and if required by the Agreement, after its termination or expiration. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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This Guaranty is now executed as of the Agreement Date. 

   
PRINCIPAL OWNERS: 
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT B 
 

SITE SELECTION AREA 
 
 The Site Selection Area referred to in Section 2.3 of the Franchise Agreement shall be: 
 
 
 
 
 
PREMISES 
 
 The Premises referred to in Section 2.1 of the Franchise Agreement shall be: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROTECTED AREA 
 
 The Protected Area referred to in Section 2.4 of the Franchise Agreement shall be: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

FRANCHISE OWNER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT C 
PRINCIPAL OWNERS INTERESTS IN FRANCHISE OWNER 

 
 
Name of Principal Owner 

 
Address, Telephone, E-mail 

 
Interest (%) with Description  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
DESIGNATED PRINCIPAL OWNER 

 
Name of Designated 

Principal Owner 
 
Address, Telephone, E-mail 

 
Interest (%) with Description  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

FRANCHISE OWNER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT D 
AUTHORIZATION AGREEMENT FOR PREARRANGED PAYMENTS 

 
As part of the “Franchise Agreement” with  Sweet Paris Franchise (the “Franchisor”), the “Franchisee” 
understands that it is required to submit weekly detailed Sales Reports for processing and payment of 
Royalty Fees and Marketing Fees.  The Franchisee also understands that all Royalty Fees, Marketing 
Fees, and all other fees and payments due under the Franchise Agreement will be debited from the bank 
account listed below on a weekly basis.   
 
Royalty Fees and Marketing Fees will be processed by Electronic Funds Transfer (“EFT”) using the 
Automated Clearing House (“ACH”) method.  The EFT/ACH debit will move funds directly from 
Franchisee’s account into certain Franchisor accounts.  Debits that result in insufficient funds will result 
in late fee penalties, and reimbursement of any fees incurred by Franchisor. 
 
The Franchisee hereby authorizes its bank to pay and charge to its account EFT/ACH debits and drafts 
drawn by and payable to the order of the Franchisor at the Royalty Fee and Marketing Fee rates under 
the Franchise Agreement, provided there are sufficient collected funds in said account to pay same.  This 
authorization remains in full force and effective until sixty (60) days after the Franchisor has received 
written notification from the Franchisee of its termination.  Should the bank dishonor any draft or 
EFT/ACH debit with or without cause, the Franchisee releases the bank from any and all liability. 
 
Franchisee:             
Principal Owner:             
Address:              
City, State, and Zip:            
 
Please provide two E-mail addresses for Draft Notices 
 
E-mail:       E-mail:      
 
Please sign the acknowledgement below and return original via mail along with a VOIDED check sent 
to the attention of:  Ivan Chavez, 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027. 
 
                
Financial Institution   Routing Number   Account Number 
 
Signature of Authorized Signer:      Date:     

 
Please Attach Actual VOIDED CHECK
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT E 
OPTION FOR ASSIGNMENT OF LEASE 

 
This Option for Assignment of Lease (the “Assignment”) made this _____day of 

_____________, 20___ by and between Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, 
located at 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027 (the “Company”), 
________________________ (“Franchisee”) and ____________________(“Landlord”) involving the 
Sweet Paris Crêperie (“Crêperie”) to be located at 
____________________________________(“Franchise Location”), with reference to the following facts: 
 

On _____________, 20___, Franchisee and Landlord entered into a lease agreement 
(“Lease”), a fully executed copy of which is to be attached hereto as Exhibit A, pursuant to the 
terms of which Franchisee leased the Franchise Location from Landlord to operate the Crêperie 
thereon. 
 

On _____________, 20___, the Company and Franchisee executed a Franchise 
Agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”) pursuant to the terms of which Franchisee obtained a 
franchise from the Company to operate the Crêperie at the Franchise Location. 
 

The Company, Franchisee and Landlord desire to enter into this Assignment to define the 
rights of the Company in and to the Franchise Location and to protect the interests of the 
Company in the continued operation of a Crêperie at the Franchise Location during the entire 
term of the Lease, and any and all renewals and extensions thereof, and Landlord desires to 
consent to this Assignment on the terms and conditions set forth herein.  This Assignment shall 
be construed with, and as an integral part of, the Lease. 
 

1. Assignment.  Franchisee hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to the Company, 
or its nominee, all of Franchisee’s right, title and interest in and to the Lease, without additional 
charge; however, this Assignment shall become effective only upon the Company’s exercise of 
the option granted to the Company in Section 3 herein subsequent to the occurrence of any of the 
following events (“Option Event(s)”): 
 

(a) Default of Lease.  If Franchisee shall be in default in the performance of 
any of the terms of the Lease, unless such default is cured within the period required in the Lease 
or within ten (10) days following written demand given by the Company, whichever is sooner. 
 

(b) Default or Expiration of Franchise Agreement.  The occurrence of any 
acts of default which would result in the immediate termination of the Franchise Agreement, or 
the continuance beyond the period or periods specified in the Franchise Agreement for cure of 
any default by Franchisee in the performance or payments required under the Franchise 
Agreement, or the expiration of the Franchise Agreement. 
 

(c) Sale of the Crêperie.  Upon Franchisee’s sale of Franchisee’s right, title 
and interest in and to the Crêperie conducted at the Franchise Location. 
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2. Consent to Assignment.  Landlord hereby consents to this Assignment, which 

consent shall remain in effect during the entire term of the Lease and any and all renewals or 
extensions thereof, and agrees that the Lease shall not be amended, assigned, extended or 
renewed, nor shall the Franchise Location be sublet by Franchisee, without the prior written 
consent of the Company. 
 

3. Exercise of Option by the Company.  The Company may exercise the option 
granted herein for a period of thirty (30) days after any Option Event and thereby make this 
Assignment unconditional by giving written notice to Franchisee and Landlord of its exercise of 
such option in the manner specified in Section 8 hereof and by thereafter delivering to Landlord, 
within ten (10) business days after Landlord requests same, a written assumption of the 
obligations of the Lease. 

 
In no event shall the Company be or become liable for any liability or obligation of 

Franchisee accruing or applicable to the period prior to the date of the Company signing a 
written assumption of the obligations of the Lease.  All rents and other obligations under the 
Lease shall be prorated as of such date.  The Company shall have no liability or obligation to the 
Landlord under the Lease unless and until it executes a written assumption of the obligations of 
the Lease. 
 

The Company shall have the right, concurrently with or subsequent to the Company’s 
exercise of the option granted herein, to assign and transfer its rights under this Assignment and 
the Lease to an entity owned or controlled by the Company, or to a new franchisee selected by 
the Company to operate the Crêperie, without the prior consent of Landlord, provided that such 
new entity or franchisee shall have a credit rating and a net worth adequate for the operation of 
the Crêperie.  In such event, such new entity or franchisee shall assume the obligations of the 
Lease in place and instead of the Company. 

 
Through the term of the Franchise Agreement and any renewals thereof, Franchisee 

agrees that it shall elect and exercise all options to extend the term of or renew the Lease not less 
than thirty (30) days prior to the last day that such option must be exercised.  Upon failure of 
Franchisee to so extend or renew the Lease as stated herein, Franchisee hereby appoints the 
Company as its true and lawful attorney-in fact to exercise such extension or renewal options in 
the name, place and stead of Franchisee for the sole purpose of effecting such extension or 
renewal. 
 

4. Termination of Rights of Franchisee.  Upon the exercise of the option granted 
to the Company herein, Franchisee shall no longer be entitled to the use or occupancy of the 
Franchise Location and all of Franchisee’s prior rights in and to the Lease will have been, in all 
respects, terminated and, by the terms of this Assignment, assigned to the Company or its 
assignee. 
 

5. Vacate Franchise Location.  Franchisee shall immediately vacate the Franchise 
Location within the period permitted by the Lease; however, in the event that Franchisee shall 
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fail or refuse to do so, the Company shall have the right to enter the Franchise Location and take 
possession of the Franchise Location without being guilty of trespass or any other tort. 
 

6. Indemnification.  Franchisee hereby covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold 
Landlord and the Company harmless from and against any and all loss, costs, expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees), damages, claims and liabilities, however caused, resulting directly or 
indirectly from or pertaining to the exercise by the Company and/or Landlord of the rights and 
remedies granted under this Assignment. 
 

7. Remedies Cumulative.  The remedies granted pursuant to this Assignment are in 
addition to and not in substitution of any or all other remedies available at law or in equity to the 
Company or Landlord. 
 

8. Notices. 
 

(a) Writing.  All notices, requests, demands, payments, consents and other 
communications hereunder shall be transmitted in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given 
when sent by registered or certified United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

 
The Company:   4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250 
    Houston, Texas 77027 

 
Franchisee:        
         
         

 
Landlord:        
         
         

 
(b) Change of Address.  Any party may change its address by giving notice 

of such change of address to the other parties. 
 

(c) Mailed Notice.  Mailed notices shall be deemed communicated within 
three (3) days from the time of mailing if mailed as provided in this Section 8. 
 

9. Miscellaneous. 
 

(a) Injunction.  Franchisee and Landlord recognize the unique value and 
secondary meaning attached to the Company’s trademarks, trade names, service marks, insignia 
and logo designs and the Franchise Location displaying same and agree that any noncompliance 
with the terms of this Assignment will cause irreparable damage to the Company and its 
franchisees.  Franchisee and Landlord therefore agree that in the event of any noncompliance 
with the terms of this Assignment, the Company shall be entitled to seek both permanent and 
temporary injunctive relief from any court of competent jurisdiction in addition to any other 
remedies prescribed by law. 
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(b) Further Acts.  The parties agree to execute such other documents and 
perform such further acts as may be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this 
Assignment. 
 

(c) Heirs and Successors.  This Assignment shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the parties, their heirs, successors and assigns. 
 

(d) Entire Agreement.  This Assignment represents the entire understanding 
between the parties concerning the assignment of the Lease and supersedes all other negotiations, 
agreements, representations or covenants, oral or written, except any other agreement executed 
by the Company, Landlord and Franchisee in connection herewith.  This Assignment may not be 
modified except by a written instrument signed by the party to be charged.  The parties intend 
this Assignment to be the entire integration of all of their agreements in connection herewith.  No 
other agreements, representations, promises, commitments or the like, of any nature, exist 
between the parties, except as set forth or otherwise referenced herein. 
 

(e) Waiver.  Failure by any party to enforce any rights under this Assignment 
shall not be construed as a waiver of such rights.  Any waiver, including waiver of default, in any 
one (1) instance shall not constitute a continuing waiver or a waiver in any other instance. 
 

(f) Validity.  Any invalidity of any portion of this Assignment shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portion and unless substantial performance of this Assignment is 
frustrated by any such invalidity, this Assignment shall continue in full force and effect. 
 

(g) Execution by the Company.  This Assignment shall not be binding on 
the Company unless and until it shall have been accepted and signed by an authorized officer of 
the Company. 
 

(h) Attorneys’ Fees.  If any party commences an action against any other 
party arising out of or in connection with this Assignment, the prevailing party shall be entitled 
to have and recover from the other party its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, including 
costs and fees on appeal. 
 

10. Governing Law.  This Assignment shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas; however, if this Assignment concerns a Crêperie 
located in a state other than Texas and the laws of that state require terms other than those or in 
addition to those contained herein, then this Assignment shall be deemed modified so as to 
comply with the appropriate laws of such state, but only to the extent necessary to prevent the 
invalidity of this Assignment or any provision hereof, the imposition of fines or penalties, or the 
creation of civil or criminal liability on account thereof.  Any provision of this Assignment 
which may be determined by competent authority to be prohibited or unenforceable in any 
jurisdiction shall, as to that jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of the prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Assignment.  Any 
prohibition against or unenforceability of any provision of this Assignment in any jurisdiction 
shall not invalidate the provision or render it unenforceable in any other jurisdiction.  To the 
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extent permitted by law, Franchisee and Landlord waive any provision of law which renders any 
provision of this Assignment prohibited or unenforceable in any respect.  Any litigation arising 
out of or related to this Assignment, or any breach thereof, shall be instituted in a court of 
competent jurisdiction in the County of Harris, State of Texas. 
 

DATED the date first written above. 
 

THE COMPANY:   SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
      
 

By:      
Name:      
Title:      

 
LANDLORD:          

 
 

By:      
Name:      
Title:      

 
 

FRANCHISEE:         
 
 

By:      
Name:      
Title:     
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT F 
NON-DISCLOSURE AND NON-COMPETE FOR FRANCHISEE’S EMPLOYEES 

 
THIS NON-DISCLOSURE AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT 

(“Agreement”) is made this _____ day of _________, 20___, by and between  ____________ 
(“us” “we” “our” or the “Franchisee”), and  ___________________________, an employee of  
Franchisee (“you” or the “Employee”). 

Introduction 
 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC (the “Franchisor”) and its affiliates developed and own a format 
and system (the “System”) for the establishment and operation of crêperie & cafés featuring 
crêpes, waffles, coffees, and other specialty menu items, along with related products and services 
under the name “Sweet Paris” (each is referred to as a “Sweet Paris Crêperie”).   
 
Franchisor and Franchisee have executed a Franchise Agreement (“Franchise Agreement”) 
granting Franchisee the right to operate a Sweet Paris Crêperie (the “Crêperie”) under the terms 
and conditions of the Franchise Agreement. 
 
In connection with starting or continuing your employment with Franchisee, you will be trained 
by us and you will learn of Franchisor’s confidential information and know-how concerning the 
methods of operation of a Sweet Paris Crêperie and the System.  

Now, therefore, it is agreed that as a consideration of starting or continuing your employment, as 
a condition to your employment and the compensation that we have paid to you (and/or will pay 
you after today), you acknowledge and agree that you will comply with all of the following 
obligations: 

1. Confidential Information.  You agree that you will not, at any time (whether during or 
after your time of employment with us), communicate or divulge Confidential Information to any 
Person, and that you will not use Confidential Information for your own benefit or for the benefit 
of any other Person.   

2. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms are agreed to have the 
following meanings: 

a. The term “Confidential Information” means any information, knowledge, or 
know-how concerning the methods of operation of the Crêperie and the System that you may 
learn of or that otherwise becomes known to you during the time of your employment with us 
(whether or not the Franchisor or we have specifically designated that information as 
“confidential”).  Confidential Information may include, among other things, operational, sales, 
promotional, marketing, and administrative methods, procedures, and techniques.  However, 
Confidential Information does not include information that you can show came to your attention 
before it was disclosed to you by us or Franchisor; and Confidential Information also does not 
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include information that, at or after the time when we disclosed it to you, is a part of the public 
domain through no act on your part or through publication or communication by other Persons 
who are lawfully entitled to publish or communicate that information.   

b. The term “Person” means any person, persons, partnership, entity, association, or 
corporation (other than the Company or Franchisor). 

c. The term “Post-Term Period” means a continuous uninterrupted period of (check 
as applicable)  one (1) year if you are a manager or perform managerial responsibilities, or  
six (6) months if you are a non-managerial employee, from the date of:  (a)  termination of your 
employment with us for any reason; and/or (b) a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction 
enforcing this Agreement. 

3. Covenants Not to Compete.  

a. You understand and acknowledge that due to your employment with us, you will 
receive valuable specialized training and access to Confidential Information. 

b. You covenant and agree that during the term of your employment, unless 
Franchisor gives you its prior written approval, you shall not, either directly or indirectly, for 
yourself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any Person: 

i. Divert or attempt to divert any current or potential business account or 
customer of the Crêperie (or of any Sweet Paris Crêperie) to any Person, 
whether by direct or indirect suggestion, referral, inducement, or 
otherwise; 

ii. Do or perform, directly or indirectly, any act that might injure or be 
harmful to the goodwill associated with Franchisor and the System; and/or 

iii. Directly or indirectly for yourself or on behalf of, or in conjunction with 
any Person, own, maintain, operate, engage in, be employed by, or have 
any interest in any business that is the same as or similar to the Crêperie. 

c. You covenant and agree that during the term Post-Term Period, unless Franchisor 
gives you its prior written approval, you shall not, either directly or indirectly, for yourself, or 
through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any Person, own, maintain, operate, engage in, be 
employed by, or have any interest in any business that is the same as or similar to the Crêperie, if 
that business is located (or if it is intended to be located) within a radius of twenty-five (25) 
miles of any Sweet Paris Crêperie located anywhere at that time.   
 
4.  Acknowledgement.  You acknowledge that you are an employee of us as the Franchisee 
and independent owner of a Sweet Paris Crêperie franchise, and you are not an employee of 
Franchisor.  You further acknowledge that (i) one of our key roles and responsibilities is to 
properly train our employees; (ii) neither the training program that you attend or any other 
training or direction you receive, nor any recommendations, guidelines or suggestions received 
from Franchisor or its representatives in any way modifies our training obligations or is intended 
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to exert or exercise any direct, indirect or potential control over our employees, our training 
obligations or any aspect of our employment relationship with you or any other employees.  The 
training program that you attend or any other training or direction you receive is not intended in 
any way to change or modify your employment relationship with us.  Franchisor is not an 
employer or joint employer of any of our employees. 
 
5. Legal and Equitable Remedies.  You understand, acknowledge, and agree that if you do 
not comply with the requirements of this Agreement, you will cause irreparable injury to 
Franchisor, and that:  

a. We will have the right to enforce this Agreement and any of its provisions by 
going to a court and obtaining an injunction, specific performance, or other equitable relief, 
without prejudice to any other rights and remedies that we may have for breach of this 
Agreement;  

b. You will not raise wrongful termination or other defenses to the enforcement of 
this Agreement (although you will have the right to raise those issues in a separate legal action); 
and 

c. You must reimburse Franchisor for any court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees 
that Franchisor incurs as a result of your violation of this Agreement and having to go to court to 
seek enforcement.  

6.  Severability.  Each of the provisions of this Agreement may be considered severable 
from the others.  If a court should find that we or Franchisor may not enforce a clause in this 
Agreement as written, but the court would allow us or Franchisor to enforce that clause in a way 
that is less burdensome to you, then you agree that you will comply with the court’s less-
restrictive interpretation of that clause. 

7. Delay.  No delay or failure by us or Franchisor to exercise any right under this 
Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, shall constitute a waiver of that right or 
any other right set out in this Agreement.  No waiver of any violation of any terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any succeeding violation of the 
same or any other provision of this Agreement. 
 
8. Third-Party Beneficiary.  You acknowledge and agree that Franchisor is an intended 
third-party beneficiary of this Agreement with the right to enforce it, independently or jointly 
with us. 
 
9. Jurisdiction; Applicable Law.  You agree that any lawsuit brought by Franchisor to 
enforce its rights under this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the county where 
Franchisor has its then current principal place of business, and you agree and consent to the 
jurisdiction of such court to resolve all disputes which arise out of this Agreement or any alleged 
breach thereof, regardless of your residency at the time such lawsuit is filed.  This Agreement 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.  In the event of any conflict of law, the laws 
of Texas shall prevail, without regard to, and without giving effect to, the application of Texas 
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conflict of law rules. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employee has read and understands the terms of this 
Agreement, and voluntarily signed this Agreement on the date first written above. 
 
EMPLOYEE 
 
 
Signature:  
 
Printed Name:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT G 
FRANCHISEE DISCLOSURE ACKNOWLEDGMENT STATEMENT 

 As you know, Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC (the “Franchisor”) and you are preparing to 
enter into a franchise agreement (the “Franchise Agreement”) for the establishment and 
operation of a “Sweet Paris Crêperie.”  The purpose of this Questionnaire is to determine 
whether any statements or promises were made to you by employees or authorized 
representatives of the Franchisor, or by employees or authorized representatives of a broker 
acting on behalf of the Franchisor (“Broker”) that have not been authorized, or that were not 
disclosed in the Franchise Disclosure Document or that may be untrue, inaccurate or misleading.  
The Franchisor, through the use of this document, desires to ascertain (a) that the undersigned, 
individually and as a representative of any legal entity established to acquire the franchise rights, 
fully understands and comprehends that the purchase of a franchise is a business decision, 
complete with its associated risks, and (b) that you are not relying upon any oral statement, 
representations, promises or assurances during the negotiations for the purchase of the franchise 
which have not been authorized by Franchisor. 
 
 In the event that you are intending to purchase an existing Sweet Paris Crêperie from an 
existing Franchisee, you may have received information from the transferring Franchisee, who is 
not an employee or representative of the Franchisor.  The questions below do not apply to any 
communications that you had with the transferring Franchisee.  Please review each of the 
following questions and statements carefully and provide honest and complete responses to each. 
 
 1. Are you seeking to enter into the Franchise Agreement in connection with a 
purchase or transfer of an existing Sweet Paris Crêperie from an existing Franchisee? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 2. Have you received and personally reviewed the Franchise Agreement, each 
addendum, and/or related agreement provided to you? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 3. Do you understand all of the information contained in the Franchise Agreement, 
each addendum, and/or related agreement provided to you? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 If no, what parts of the Franchise Agreement, any Addendum, and/or related agreement 
do you not understand?  (Attach additional pages, if necessary.) 
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 4. Have you received and personally reviewed the Franchisor’s Franchise Disclosure 
Document (“Disclosure Document”) that was provided to you? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 5. Did you sign a receipt for the Disclosure Document indicating the date you 
received it? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 6. Do you understand all of the information contained in the Disclosure Document 
and any state-specific Addendum to the Disclosure Document? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 If No, what parts of the Disclosure Document and/or Addendum do you not understand?  
(Attach additional pages, if necessary.) 
             
             
             
             
             
              
 
 7. Have you discussed the benefits and risks of establishing and operating a Sweet 
Paris Crêperie with an attorney, accountant, or other professional advisor? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 If No, do you wish to have more time to do so? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 8. Do you understand that the success or failure of your Sweet Paris Crêperie will 
depend in large part upon your skills and abilities, competition from other businesses, interest 
rates, inflation, labor and supply costs, location, lease terms, your management capabilities and 
other economic, and business factors? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 9. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement or promise concerning the actual or potential revenues, profits or 
operating costs of any particular Sweet Paris Crêperie operated by the Franchisor or its 
franchisees (or of any group of such businesses), that is contrary to or different from the 
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information contained in the Disclosure Document? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 10. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement or promise regarding the amount of money you may earn in 
operating a Sweet Paris Crêperie that is contrary to or different from the information contained in 
the Disclosure Document? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 11. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement or promise concerning the total amount of revenue a Sweet Paris 
Crêperie will generate, that is contrary to or different from the information contained in the 
Disclosure Document? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 12. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement or promise regarding the costs you may incur in operating a 
Sweet Paris Crêperie that is contrary to or different from the information contained in the 
Disclosure Document? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 13. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement or promise concerning the likelihood of success that you should 
or might expect to achieve from operating a Sweet Paris Crêperie? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 14. Has any employee of a Broker or other person speaking on behalf of the 
Franchisor made any statement, promise or agreement concerning the advertising, marketing, 
training, support service or assistance that the Franchisor will furnish to you that is contrary to, 
or different from, the information contained in the Disclosure Document or franchise agreement? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 15. Have you entered into any binding agreement with the Franchisor concerning the 
purchase of this franchise prior to today? 
 
 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 16. Have you paid any money to the Franchisor concerning the purchase of this 
franchise prior to today? 
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 Yes _____ No _____ 
 
 17. Have you spoken to any other franchisee(s) of this system before deciding to 
purchase this franchise?  If so, who?          
              
 
 If you have answered No to question 8, or Yes to any one of questions 9-16, please 
provide a full explanation of each answer in the following blank lines.  (Attach additional pages, 
if necessary, and refer to them below.)  If you have answered Yes to question 8, and No to each 
of questions 9-16, please leave the following lines blank. 
 
             
             
             
              
 
 I signed the Franchise Agreement and Addendum (if any) on _______________, 20___, 
and acknowledge that no Agreement or Addendum is effective until signed and dated by the 
Franchisor. 
 
 The name of the sales person or salespersons that handled this franchise sale was: 
              

 
Please understand that your responses to these questions are important to us and that we 

will rely on them.  By signing this Questionnaire, you are representing that you have responded 
truthfully to the above questions.  In addition, by signing this Questionnaire, you also 
acknowledge that: 

 
 A. You recognize and understand that business risks, which exist in 

connection with the purchase of any business, make the success or failure of the franchise subject 
to many variables, including among other things, your skills and abilities, the hours worked by 
you, competition, interest rates, the economy, inflation, franchise location, operation costs, lease 
terms and costs and the marketplace.  You hereby acknowledge your awareness of and 
willingness to undertake these business risks. 

 
 B. You agree and state that the decision to enter into this business risk is in 

no manner predicated upon any oral representation, assurances, warranties, guarantees or 
promises made by Franchisor or any of its officers, employees or agents (including the Broker or 
any other broker) as to the likelihood of success of the franchise.  Except as contained in the 
Disclosure Document, you acknowledge that you have not received any information from the 
Franchisor or any of its officers, employees or agents (including the Broker or any other broker) 
concerning actual, projected or forecasted franchise sales, profits or earnings.  If you believe that 
you have received any information concerning actual, average, projected or forecasted franchise 
sales, profits or earnings other than those contained in the Disclosure Document, please describe 
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those in the space provided below or write “None”. 
             
             
              

 C. You further acknowledge that the President of the United States of 
America has issued Executive Order 13224 (the “Executive Order”) prohibiting transactions with 
terrorists and terrorist organizations and that the United States government has adopted, and in 
the future may adopt, other anti-terrorism measures (the “Anti-Terrorism Measures”).  The 
Franchisor therefore requires certain certifications that the parties with whom it deals are not 
directly involved in terrorism.  For that reason, you hereby certify that neither you nor any of 
your employees, agents or representatives, nor any other person or entity associated with you, is: 

 (i) a person or entity listed in the Annex to the Executive Order; 

 (ii) a person or entity otherwise determined by the Executive Order to have 
committed acts of terrorism or to pose a significant risk of committing acts of terrorism; 

 

 (iii) a person or entity who assists, sponsors, or supports terrorists or acts of 
terrorism; or 

 (iv) owned or controlled by terrorists or sponsors of terrorism. 
 
 You further covenant that neither you nor any of your employees, agents or 

representatives, nor any other person or entity associated with you, will during the term of the 
Franchise Agreement become a person or entity described above or otherwise become a target of 
any Anti-Terrorism Measure. 

 
Acknowledged this _____ day of ________________, 20____. 
 
       CORPORATION, LIMITED LIABILITY 
INDIVIDUAL      COMPANY OR PARTNERSHIP 
 
              
Signature      Print Name of Legal Entity 
Print Name:       
         

By:       
       Print Name:      
Signature      Title:       
Print Name:       
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
This Development Agreement (this “Agreement”) is being entered into as of 

___________________________, 20___ (the “Agreement Date”).  The parties to this Agreement 
are you, _________________________________________________________ (sometimes 
referred to as “Developer”) and us, Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a Texas corporation, 
(sometimes referred to as “the Company”).  

1. INTRODUCTION.  This Agreement is being presented to you because of the 
desire you have expressed to obtain the right to develop, own and be franchised to operate, Sweet 
Paris Crêperie & Cafés (each a “Sweet Paris Crêperie”) featuring crêpes, waffles, coffees, and 
other specialty menu items.  Sweet Paris Crêperies operate under a system developed by us and 
our affiliates (the “System”) and certain trademarks, service marks and other commercial 
symbols (the “Marks”).  In signing this Agreement, you acknowledge your understanding of the 
importance of our high standards of quality and service and the necessity of operating your 
Sweet Paris Crêperies in strict conformity with our standards and specifications.  You also 
acknowledge that you have conducted an independent investigation of the Sweet Paris Crêperie 
business contemplated by this Agreement and recognize that, like any other business, the nature 
of it may evolve and change over time, that an investment in Sweet Paris Crêperies involves 
business risks, and that the success of this business venture is primarily dependent on your 
business abilities and efforts.  We expressly disclaim making, and you acknowledge that you 
have not received or relied on, any guarantee, express or implied, as to the revenues, profits, or 
likelihood of success of the Sweet Paris Crêperie venture contemplated by this Agreement.  You 
acknowledge that there have been no representations by us or our officers, directors, 
shareholders, employees, or agents, that are inconsistent with the statements made in our 
franchise disclosure document or the provisions of this Agreement.   

2. GRANT OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS.  Subject to the provisions of this 
Agreement, we grant you the right to develop _______ Sweet Paris Crêperies (the “Crêperies”) 
within the geographical area described in Exhibit A to this Agreement (the “Development 
Area”). 

3. RIGHTS IN DEVELOPMENT AREA.  Provided you are in full compliance 
with all the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, including, without limitation, your 
development obligations contained in Section 4, and are in full compliance with all of your 
obligations under franchise agreements entered into between us and you, then during the term of 
this Agreement, we will not operate or grant a franchise for the operation of a Sweet Paris 
Crêperie to be located within the Development Area, except such franchises as are granted to you 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 3, we 
retain the right to own, acquire, establish and/or operate and license others to establish and 
operate other retail or restaurant outlets or enter into other lines of businesses offering similar or 
dissimilar products or services under trademarks or service marks other than the Marks, and the 
right to own, acquire, establish and/or operate and license others to establish and operate Sweet 
Paris Crêperies at Non-Traditional Sites (as defined below) at any location within the 
Development Area.  As used in this Agreement, “Non-Traditional Sites” shall mean outlets that 
serve primarily the customers located within a facility, such as captive audience facilities 
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(examples include, but are not limited to, parks charging admission, stadiums, amusement parks 
and centers, theaters and art centers), limited purpose facilities (examples include, but are not 
limited to, airports, transportation centers, department stores, in-door shopping centers or malls, 
business and industrial complexes, museums, educational facilities, hospitals, art centers, and 
recreational parks), limited access facilities (examples include, but are not limited to, military 
complexes, buyer club businesses, educational facilities, business and industrial complexes), and 
other types of institutional accounts.  

4. DEVELOPMENT OBLIGATIONS.  To maintain your rights under this 
Agreement, you must, by the dates set forth under the development schedule attached hereto as 
Exhibit B (the “Development Schedule”), have executed the lease or purchase contracts for the 
Approved Sites of your Crêperies and have opened and in operation your Crêperies in 
accordance with the Development Schedule.  Each Crêperie will be operated under a separate 
franchise agreement with us.  The franchise agreement for each such Crêperie (“Franchise 
Agreement”) will be our then current form of franchise agreement, which may be substantially 
different from the form of franchise agreement currently in use.  However, the initial franchise 
fee payable pursuant to the Franchise Agreement will be $_____________ for each Crêperie to 
be developed under this Agreement.  You will have no right under this Agreement to license or 
sublicense others to operate Crêperies or use the System or the Marks. 

5. DEVELOPMENT FEE.  As consideration for the rights granted under this 
Agreement, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, you will pay us 
$_____________ corresponding to an amount equal to 100% of the initial franchise fee payable 
for the first Crêperie you will develop and 50% of each subsequent initial franchise fee payable 
for the remaining number of Crêperies to be developed by you.  The amount which you must pay 
us upon execution of this Agreement is referred to as the “Development Fee.”  The Development 
Fee is consideration for the rights granted to you in this Agreement and not consideration for any 
Franchise Agreement and is non-refundable in recognition of administrative and other expenses 
incurred by us and for the development opportunities lost or deferred as a result of the rights granted 
herein to you, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in any Franchise 
Agreement.  We will apply $_____________ of the Development Fee to the initial franchise fee 
payable under the first Franchise Agreement executed pursuant to this Agreement, and 
increments of $_____________ of the Development Fee will be applied to each of the other 
Franchise Agreements executed pursuant to this Agreement.  The balance of the initial franchise 
fee payable under each Franchise Agreement shall be paid at the time the Franchise Agreement 
is executed. 

6. GRANT OF FRANCHISES.  We will grant you franchises for the operation of 
the Crêperies within the Development Area, subject to the following requirements: 

(a) For each site at which you propose to establish and operate a Crêperie and 
which you believe in good faith to conform to site selection criteria established by us 
from time to time (a “Proposed Site”), you must submit to us, in a form specified by us, a 
complete site approval package (the “SAP”).  The SAP must include: (i) a site approval 
form prescribed by us; (ii) a trade area and/or site marketing research analysis (prepared 
by a company approved in advance by us); (iii) an option contract, letter of intent, or 
other evidence satisfactory to us which describes your favorable prospects for obtaining 
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such site; (iv) photographs of the site; (v) demographic statistics; (vi) the lease or 
purchase contract; and (vii) such other information or materials as we may reasonably 
require.  We will have 30 days after receipt of the SAP from you to approve or 
disapprove, in our sole discretion, the Proposed Site for the Crêperie.  In the event we do 
not approve a Proposed Site by written notice to you within this 30 day period, such site 
and lease or purchase contract shall be deemed disapproved.  No site shall be deemed 
approved unless it has been expressly approved in writing by us.   

(b) Upon our approval of a Proposed Site for a Crêperie, you must obtain 
lawful possession of the Approved Site through purchase or lease.  Any lease or purchase 
contract for an Approved Site must be approved by us.  You agree to give us not less than 
30 days written notice before you execute a lease or purchase contract for an Approved 
Site which notice shall include a copy of the proposed lease or purchase contract for the 
Approved Site.  Following such notice, we will deliver to you a Franchise Agreement and 
such other documents as we then customarily use when granting franchises in form for 
execution by you (and, if you are a corporation, partnership or limited liability company, 
your owners, as applicable).  Concurrently with the purchase of an Approved Site or the 
execution of a lease for an Approved Site, you (and your owners) must sign and deliver 
to us the Franchise Agreement and, as applicable, such other documents delivered to you 
for the Crêperie to be developed at the Approved Site together with the balance of the 
initial franchise fee due.  An “Approved Site” is a Proposed Site for which you have 
submitted to us a complete SAP and any other information we may reasonably require 
and which we have approved for development of a Crêperie.  If you have not obtained 
lawful possession of an Approved Site within 90 days of delivery of our approval of a 
Proposed Site, we may, at our sole discretion, withdraw approval of such Proposed Site.  
You acknowledge that our approval of a Proposed Site will not constitute a representation 
or warranty, express or implied, as to the suitability of the Proposed Site for a Sweet Paris 
Crêperie or for any other purpose.  You further acknowledge that neither our acceptance 
of the Proposed Site nor any assistance in negotiation of the lease for the Proposed Site 
constitutes any assurance that the Crêperie will be profitable or more profitable in 
comparison to other locations.  Our acceptance and any assistance is only an indication 
that the Proposed Site meets our minimum criteria.   

(c) You must furnish to us such financial statements and other information 
regarding the development and operation of a proposed Crêperie as we may reasonably 
require.  You understand and agree that we may refuse to grant to you a franchise for a 
proposed Crêperie unless you, in our reasonable judgment, have demonstrated sufficient 
financial capabilities to properly develop and operate the proposed Crêperie. 

(d) You agree to maintain sufficient financial resources to fulfill your 
obligations under this Agreement and under Franchise Agreements executed under this 
Agreement.  You must submit for approval, from time to time at our request, a written 
plan for your financing, which plan shall be reasonably acceptable to us and which shall 
include details of the sources and terms of such financing and such other information or 
documents required by us.  Among other factors, we may consider your proposed 
debt/equity ratio and amount of indebtedness in reviewing such plan.  Once a plan is 
approved by us, you must execute and adhere to the plan.  The plan shall be subject to 
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periodic review by us and we may require, in our sole discretion, modifications to meet 
our then current minimum standards for developer financing plans. 

7. TERM.  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement shall be for 
a term commencing on the Agreement Date and expiring on the date upon which you must 
complete development of the Development Area as set forth in the Development Schedule. 

8. TERMINATION.  We may terminate this Agreement and your rights to further 
develop Crêperies, effective upon delivery of notice of termination to you, if: 

(a) You have failed to make any payments due to us under this Agreement 
and do not correct such failure within 10 days after written notice of that failure is 
delivered to you; 

(b) You fail to comply with any provision of this Agreement, including but 
not limited to your development obligations, and do not correct such failure within 30 
days after written notice is delivered to you; 

(c) You become insolvent, make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
you are unable to pay your debts as they become due; 

(d) You (or any of your owners) have made any material misrepresentation or 
omission in your application for the development rights conferred by this Agreement or 
are convicted of or plead no contest to a felony or other crime or offense that may 
adversely affect the goodwill associated with the Marks; 

(e) You or your owners make an authorized direct or indirect transfer of this 
Agreement or an ownership interest in this Agreement; or 

(f) We have delivered to you a notice of termination of a Franchise 
Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions. 

If this Agreement is terminated for any reason you will lose all rights to further develop 
Crêperies in the Development Area.  However, termination will not affect your right to operate 
any Crêperies in existence or under development provided you are in compliance with the 
Franchise Agreement for any such Crêperie. 

9. ASSIGNMENT BY THE COMPANY.  This Agreement is fully transferable by 
us, without the need for your consent, and will inure to the benefit of any person or entity to 
whom it is transferred, or to any other legal successor to our interests in this Agreement. 

10. ASSIGNMENT BY DEVELOPER.  You understand and acknowledge that the 
rights and duties created by this Agreement are personal to you and your owners and that we 
have entered into this Agreement because of the individual or collective character, skill, aptitude, 
attitude, business ability and financial capacity of you and your owners.  Therefore, neither this 
Agreement nor any part of your interest in it, nor any ownership interest in you may be 
voluntarily, involuntarily, directly or indirectly, assigned, sold or transferred without prior 
written consent, which we will not unreasonably withhold.  You understand and agree that, in 
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connection with any such proposed assignment, sale or transfer, we may refuse to consent to the 
assignment, sale or transfer unless the transaction involves the assignment, sale or transfer of all 
Crêperies in operation or under development to the assignee or transferee (or a controlling 
interest in all entities owning such Crêperies).  You also acknowledge and agree that, during the 
term of this Agreement, we may refuse to consent to an assignment, sale or transfer of any 
Crêperie developed under this Agreement (or a controlling interest in any entity owning any such 
Crêperie) unless the transaction involves the assignment, sale or transfer of all Crêperies 
developed or under development by you under the terms of this Agreement. 

11. NO WARRANTY OR GUARANTEES.  You acknowledge that you have not 
received or relied upon any information, express or implied, as to the revenues, profits or success 
of the business venture contemplated by this Agreement other than as set forth in our Franchise 
Disclosure Document.  You acknowledge that you have no knowledge of any representations by 
us, or by our officers, directors, shareholders, employees or agents that are contrary to the 
statements made in our Franchise Disclosure Document.  You further represent to us, as an 
inducement to our entry into this Agreement, that you have made no misrepresentations to us in 
your application for the rights granted hereunder. 

12. SEVERABILITY AND SUBSTITUTION OF VALID PROVISIONS.  Except 
as expressly provided to the contrary herein, each section, paragraph, term and provision of this 
Agreement, and any portion thereof, will be considered severable, and if, for any reason, any 
such provision is held to be invalid or contrary to or in conflict with any applicable present or 
future law or regulation in a final, unappealable ruling issued by any court, agency or tribunal 
with competent jurisdiction in a proceeding to which we are a party, that ruling will not impair 
the operation of, or have any other effect upon, such other portions of this Agreement as may 
remain otherwise intelligible, which will continue to be given full force and effect and bind the 
parties hereto, although any portion held to be invalid will be deemed not to be a part of this 
Agreement from the date the time for appeal expires, if you are a party thereto, otherwise upon 
your receipt from us of a notice of non-enforcement thereof. 

If any applicable and binding law or rule of any jurisdiction requires a greater prior notice 
than is required hereunder of the termination of this Agreement or of our refusal to enter into a 
successor development agreement, or the taking of some other action not required hereunder, or 
if, under any applicable and binding law or rule of any jurisdiction, any provision of this 
Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the prior notice and/or other action required by such law 
or rule will be substituted for the comparable provisions hereof, and we will have the right, in 
our sole discretion, to modify such invalid or unenforceable provision to the extent required to be 
valid and enforceable.  You agree to be bound by any promise or covenant imposing the 
maximum duty permitted by law which is subsumed within the terms of any provision hereof, as 
though it were separately articulated in and made a part of this Agreement, that may result from 
striking from any of the provisions hereof, any portion or portions which a court or arbitrator 
may hold to be unenforceable in a final decision to which we are a party, or from reducing the 
scope of any promise or covenant to the extent required to comply with such a court order or 
arbitration award.  Such modifications to this Agreement will be effective only in such 
jurisdiction, unless we elect to give them greater applicability, and will be enforced as originally 
made and entered into in all other jurisdictions. 
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13. WAIVER OF OBLIGATIONS.  If at any time we do not exercise a right or 
power available to us under this Agreement or do not insist on your strict compliance with the 
terms of the Agreement, or if there develops a custom or practice which is at variance with the 
terms of this Agreement, we will not be deemed to have waived our right to demand exact 
compliance with any of the terms of this Agreement at a later time.  Similarly, our waiver of any 
particular breach or series of breaches under this Agreement or of any similar term in any other 
agreement between us and any developer will not affect our rights with respect to any later 
breach.  It will also not be deemed to be a waiver of any breach of this Agreement for us to 
accept payments which are due to us under this Agreement. 

14. COSTS AND ATTORNEYS’ FEES.  If we incur expenses in connection with 
your failure to pay when due amounts owed to us or otherwise to comply with this Agreement, 
you agree to reimburse us for any of the costs and expenses which we incur, including, without 
limitation, reasonable accounting, attorneys’, arbitrators’ and related fees. 

15. YOU MAY NOT WITHHOLD PAYMENTS DUE TO US.  You agree that 
you will not withhold payment of any amounts owed to us on the grounds of our alleged 
nonperformance of any of our obligations hereunder.  You agree that all such claims will, if not 
otherwise resolved by us, be submitted to arbitration as provided in Section 17. 

16. RIGHTS OF PARTIES ARE CUMULATIVE.  The rights and remedies 
specifically granted to either you or us by this Agreement will not be deemed to prohibit either of 
us from exercising any other right or remedy provided under this Agreement or permitted by law 
or equity. 

17. ARBITRATION.  Except insofar as we elect to enforce this Agreement or any 
other related agreement, all controversies, disputes or claims arising between the Company, its 
affiliates, officers, directors, agents, employees and attorneys (in their representative capacity) 
and Developer (and your owners) arising out of or related to:  (1) this Agreement or any 
provisions thereof or any related agreement (except for any sublease with any affiliates of the 
Company); (2) the relationship of the parties hereto; or (3) the validity of this Agreement or any 
related agreement, or any provision thereof; shall be submitted for arbitration to be administered 
by the American Arbitration Association on demand of either party.  Such arbitration 
proceedings shall be conducted in the city where our principal office is located and, except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement, shall be conducted in accordance with then current 
commercial arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association.  The arbitrator shall have 
no authority to select a hearing locale other than as described in the prior sentence.  The 
arbitrator shall have the right to award or include in his award any relief which he deems proper 
in the circumstances, including without limitation, money damages (with interest on unpaid 
amounts from date due), specific performance, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and costs.  The 
award and decision of the arbitrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties to this 
Agreement, and judgment on the award may be entered in any court of competent jurisdiction.  
Each party waives any right to contest the validity or enforceability of such award.  The parties 
further agree to be bound by the provisions of any applicable limitation on the period of time in 
which claims must be brought.  The parties further agree that in connection with any such 
arbitration proceeding each will file any compulsory counterclaim (as defined by rule 13 of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure) within 30 days of the date of the filing of the claim to which it 
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relates.  This provision will continue in full force and effect subsequent to and notwithstanding 
expiration or termination of this Agreement.  The parties agree that arbitration shall be conducted 
on an individual, not a class-wide basis. 

18. GOVERNING LAW.  Except to the extent governed by the United States 
Trademark Act of 1946, this Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and construed 
under Texas law (except for Texas conflict of law rules); provided however, that any law 
governing the relationship between you and us shall not apply unless its jurisdictional 
requirements are met independently without reference to this Section.  Nothing in this Section 18 
is intended by the parties to subject this Agreement to (i) any franchise or similar law, rule, or 
regulation of the State of Texas or of any other state to which it would not otherwise be subject 
or (ii) any laws of the State of Texas which would affect the enforceability of Section 22 to 
which it would not otherwise be subject 

19. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION.  Subject to the arbitration obligations in 
Section 17, any judicial action must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state, 
and in (or closest to) the county, where our headquarters are then located.  Each of the parties 
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to such 
jurisdiction or venue.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may bring an action for a temporary 
restraining order or for temporary or preliminary injunctive relief, or to enforce an arbitration 
award or judicial decision, in any federal or state court in the county in which you reside or the 
Development Area is located. 

20. WAIVER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND JURY TRIAL.  The parties to 
this Agreement hereby waive to the fullest extent permitted by law any right to or claim for any 
punitive or exemplary damages against the other and agree that in the event of a dispute between 
them each shall be limited to the recovery, upon proof, of actual damages.  The parties 
irrevocably waive trial by jury on any action, proceeding or counterclaim, whether at law or 
equity, brought by either of them. 

21. NOTICES.  All written notices, reports and payments permitted or required 
under this Agreement will be deemed delivered at the time of delivery by express courier or 
messenger service, 1 business day after sending by facsimile transmission or comparable 
electronic system and 3 business days after placed in the United States Mail by Registered or 
Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, postage prepaid and addressed to the party to be 
notified or paid at its most current principal business address of which the notifying party has 
been advised, or to any other place designated by either party.   

22. LIMITATION.  Any and all claims and actions arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement and/or the relationship of the parties, brought by either party hereto against the other, 
whether in mediation, in arbitration or in court, shall be commenced within two (2) years and a 
day after the cause of action has accrued, or such claim or action shall be forever barred.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing limitation, where any federal, state or provincial law provides for 
a shorter limitation period than above described, whether upon notice or otherwise, such shorter 
period will govern. 
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23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; BINDING EFFECT.  This Agreement, together with 
the introduction, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject 
matter of this Agreement, and there are no other oral or written understandings or agreements 
between the parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement.  This Agreement is binding 
upon us and you and our respective executors, administrators, heirs, beneficiaries, assigns and 
successors in interest and may not be modified except by written agreement signed by you and 
us.  Nothing in this Agreement shall disclaim or require you to waive reliance on any 
representation that we made in the most recent disclosure document (including its exhibits and 
amendments) that we delivered to you or your representative.  

24. CONSTRUCTION.  All headings of the various sections and paragraphs of this 
Agreement are for convenience only and do not affect the meaning or construction of any 
provision.  All references in this Agreement to masculine, neuter or singular usage will be 
construed to include the masculine, feminine, neuter or plural, wherever applicable.  Except 
where this Agreement expressly obligates us to reasonably approve or not unreasonably withhold 
our approval of any of your actions or requests, we have the absolute right to refuse any request 
by you or to withhold our approval of any action or omission by you.  The term “affiliate” as 
used in this Agreement is applicable to any company directly or indirectly owned or controlled 
by us that sells products or otherwise transacts business with you. 

We will not, because of this Agreement or by virtue of any approvals, advice or services 
provided to you, be liable to any person or legal entity who is not a party to this Agreement, and 
no other party shall have any rights because of this Agreement. 

If 2 or more persons are the Developer under this Agreement, their obligation and 
liability to us shall be joint and several. 

This Agreement will be executed using multiple copies, each of which will be deemed an 
original. 

Time is of the essence of this Agreement.  (“Time is of the essence” is a legal term that 
emphasizes the strictness of time limits.  In this case, it means it will be a material breach of this 
Agreement to fail to perform any obligation within the time required or permitted by this 
Agreement.) 

The provisions of this Agreement are deemed to be severable.  In other words, the parties 
agree that each provision of this Agreement will be construed as independent of any other 
provision of this Agreement.   

25. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. 

(a) You acknowledge that you received the disclosure document required by 
the Trade Regulation Rule of the Federal Trade Commission entitled “Disclosure 
Requirements and Prohibitions Concerning Franchising”, otherwise known as the 
Franchise Disclosure Document (“FDD”), at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the 
date on which this Agreement was executed or any payment was made by you for the 
franchise rights granted under this Agreement. You further acknowledge that prior to 
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receiving our FDD, we advised you of the formats in which the FDD is made available, 
and any conditions necessary for reviewing the FDD in a particular format.  

(b) You acknowledge that you have read and understood our FDD and this 
Agreement, the attachments hereto, and agreements relating thereto, if any, and that we 
have accorded you ample time and opportunity to consult with advisors of your own 
choosing about the potential benefits and risks of entering into this Agreement. 

(c) You acknowledge and agree that we may modify the offer of our franchise 
to other area developers and franchisees in any manner and at any time, which offers and 
agreements have or may have terms, conditions, and obligations that may differ from the 
terms, conditions, and obligations in this Agreement. 

(d) We and you acknowledge that each provision in this Agreement has been 
negotiated by the parties hereto in good faith and the Agreement shall be deemed to have 
been drafted by both parties.  It is further acknowledged that both parties intend to 
enforce every provision of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions 
related to arbitration and choice of venue, regardless of any state law or regulation 
purporting to void or nullify any such provision. 

(e) You represent and warrant that to your actual knowledge: (i) neither you, 
nor your officers, directors, managers, members, partners or other individual who 
manages the affairs of you, nor any affiliate or related party, or any funding source for the 
Crêperie, is identified on the lists of Blocked Persons, Specially Designated Nationals, 
Specially Designated Terrorists, Specially Designated Global Terrorists, Foreign 
Terrorists Organizations, and Specially Designated Narcotics Traffickers at the United 
States Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), or the 
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to 
Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, commonly known as the “USA Patriot 
Act,” as such lists may be amended from time to time (collectively, “Blocked 
Person(s)”); (ii) neither you nor any affiliate or related party is directly or indirectly 
owned or controlled by the government of any country that is subject to an embargo 
imposed by the United States government; (iii) neither you nor any affiliate or related 
party is acting on behalf of the government of, or is involved in business arrangements or 
other transactions with, any country that is subject to such an embargo; (iv) neither you 
nor any affiliate or related party are on the United States Department of Commerce 
Denied Persons, Entity and Unverified Lists, or the United States Departments of State’s 
Debarred List, as such lists may be amended from time to time (collectively, the “Lists”); 
(v) neither you nor any affiliate or related party, during the term of this Agreement, will 
be on any of the Lists or identified as a Blocked Person; and (vi) during the term of this 
Agreement, neither you nor any affiliate or related party will sell products, goods or 
services to, or otherwise enter into a business arrangement with, any person or entity on 
any of the Lists or identified as a Blocked Person. You agree to notify us in writing 
immediately upon the occurrence of any act or event that would render any of these 
representations incorrect. 
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(f) Delivery of a copy of this Agreement bearing (i) an original signature by 
facsimile transmission, (ii) an original signature by electronic mail in “portable document 
format” form or (iii) an electronic signature facilitated by a digital transaction 
management services provider (such as DocuSign), shall have the same effect as physical 
delivery of the paper document bearing the original signature. 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

SIGNATURE PAGE 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement in multiple 
counterparts to be effective as of the Agreement Date. 

 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

DEVELOPER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

Address for Notices: 
 
Ivan Chavez 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 
4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250 
Houston, Texas 77027 
Telephone:  (713) 266-2219 
Fax:  (___) ____________ 
 
With copy to: 
 
Wayne P. Bunch, Jr., Esq. 
Pierson Ferdinand, LLP 
5850 San Felipe, Suite 500 
Houston, Texas 77057 
Telephone: (713) 955-4080 
Fax: (940) 241-9482 

Address for Notices: 
 
____________________________________ 
  
  
Telephone:  
Fax:  
Attn:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT A  
DEVELOPMENT AREA 

 
 

The Development Area referred to in Section 2 of the Area Development Agreement 
shall be: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 

DEVELOPER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT B  
DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

 
1. Development.  You agree to develop a total of ____ Sweet Paris Crêperies in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

2. Development Obligations.  You agree to open Sweet Paris Crêperies in 
accordance with the following Development Schedule: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Crêperie 
Number 

 
 
 
 

Franchise 
Agreement 
Executed 
By:  Date 

 
 
 

Lease or Purchase 
Contract for an 
Approved Site 
Executed By:  

Date 

 
 
 
 
 

Crêperie 
Opening 
By:  Date 

Cumulative 
Number 

of Crêperies 
To Be Open and 
In Operation No 

Later 
Than the Opening 

Date 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
COMPANY: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
Date:  
 

 
 
DEVELOPER: 
  
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
Date:  
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT C  
GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS 

 
THIS GUARANTY AND ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATIONS is given this _____ 

day of _________________, 20__, by  . 
 

In consideration of, and as an inducement to, the execution of that certain Area 
Development Agreement of even date herewith (the “Agreement”) by 
________________________________, (the “Company”), each of the undersigned hereby 
personally and unconditionally (a) guarantees to the Company, and its successors and assigns, 
for the term of the Agreement and thereafter as provided in the Agreement, that 
___________________________________________________(“Developer”) shall punctually 
pay and perform each and every undertaking, agreement and covenant set forth in the 
Agreement; and (b) agrees to be personally bound by, and personally liable for the breach of, 
each and every provision in the Agreement, both monetary obligations and obligations to take or 
refrain from taking specific actions or to engage or refrain from engaging in specific activities, 
including without limitation the arbitration provisions of Section 17. 
 

Each of the undersigned consents and agrees that:  (1) his direct and immediate liability 
under this guaranty shall be joint and several; (2) he shall render any payment or performance 
required under the Agreement upon demand if Developer fails or refuses punctually to do so; 
(3) such liability shall not be contingent or conditioned upon pursuit by the Company of any 
remedies against Developer or any other person; and (4) such liability shall not be diminished, 
relieved or otherwise affected by an extension of time, credit or other indulgence which the 
Company may from time to time grant to Developer or to any other person, including without 
limitation, the acceptance of any partial payment or performance, or the compromise or release 
of any claims, none of which shall in any way modify or amend this guaranty, which shall be 
continuing and irrevocable during the term of the Agreement. 
 

Each of the undersigned waives all rights to payments and claims for reimbursement or 
subrogation which any of the undersigned may have against Developer arising as a result of the 
undersigned’s execution of and performance under this guaranty. 
 

If the Company is required to enforce this guaranty in a judicial or arbitration proceeding, 
and prevails in such proceeding, it shall be entitled to reimbursement of its costs and expenses, 
including, but not limited to, reasonable accountants’, attorneys’, attorneys’ assistants’, 
arbitrators’ and expert witness fees, costs of investigation and proof of facts, court costs, other 
litigation expenses and travel and living expenses, whether incurred prior to, in preparation for or 
in contemplation of the filing of any such proceeding.  If the Company is required to engage 
legal counsel in connection with any failure by the undersigned to comply with this guaranty, the 
undersigned shall reimburse the Company for any of the above-listed costs and expenses 
incurred by it. 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has hereunto affixed his signature 
on the same day and year as the Agreement was executed. 
 

GUARANTOR(S)   
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

EXHIBIT D  
STATE-SPECIFIC ADDENDA 

 



 

FDD-Sweet Paris-2023v32024v1 
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David P. Chaney, CPA, P.C. 

2500 E. TC Jester Blvd. 

Suite 258 

Houston, TX  77008 

713-868-1174 
  

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

To the Member: 

Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 

 

Opinion 

 

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, (the 

“Company”) (a Texas limited liability corporation), which comprise the balance sheets as 

of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related statements of operations and member’s 

capital, and cash flows for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes 

to the financial statements. 

 

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the 

results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 

2022, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

I conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America. My responsibilities under those standards are further described 

in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my 

report. I am required to be independent of the Company and to meet my other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to my audits. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my audit opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 

financial statements are available to be issued. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 

but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial 

likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made 

by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, I: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 

regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in 

the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain 

internal control related matters that I identified during the audit. 

 

David P. Chaney, CPA, P.C. 
 

Houston, Texas 

March 11, 2024 
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See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2023 2022

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 755,711$      414,578$      

Accounts receivable 37,616          25,231          

Due from related parties 672,041        41,146          

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs, short-term 20,854          15,075          

Inventory 14,423          797               

Prepaid insurance 18,020          16,310          

Total current assets 1,518,665     513,137        

OTHER ASSETS

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs, long-term 237,208        81,853          

Total other asset 237,208        81,853          

TOTAL ASSETS 1,755,873$   594,990$      

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable 27,881$        3,886$          

Accued expenses 2,884            -               

Credit card payable -               140               

Deferred revenue, short-term 72,500          56,750          

Loans from sister company 10,692          2,208            

Total current liabilities 113,957        62,984          

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue, long-term 1,031,537     355,182        

Total long-term liabilities 1,031,537     355,182        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,145,494     418,166        

MEMBER'S CAPITAL:

Managing member 610,379        176,824        

Total member's capital 610,379        176,824        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S CAPITAL 1,755,873$   594,990$      

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
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See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2023 2022

REVENUE:

Royalties 835,083$   674,550$   

Initial franchise sales 58,174       50,062       

Other income 12,173       -             

Total revenue 905,430     724,612     

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Advertising and promotion 51,620       51,470       

Automobile 7,283         6,523         

Bank fees 600            971            

Cost of franchise acquisition 16,516       13,730       

Dues 14,275       7,895         

Legal and professional fees 310,154     138,997     

Management fees 58,462       29,457       

Meals and entertainment 6,266         2,684         

Office 15,449       7,574         

Travel 3,055         3,556         

Total operating expenses 483,680     262,857     

System ad fund royalties 167,017     134,910     

System ad fund expenses (155,212)    (154,534)    

NET INCOME/(LOSS) 433,555     442,131     

MEMBER'S CAPITAL, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 176,824     34,693       

MEMBER'S CONTRIBUTION/(DISTRIBUTIONS) -             (300,000)    

MEMBER'S CAPITAL, END OF PERIOD 610,379$   176,824$   

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
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See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income/(loss) 433,555$         442,131$    

Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues

  over expenses to net cash provided/(used)

  by operating activities:

     Decrease (increase) in:

Accounts receivable (12,385)            (10,948)      

Due from related parties (630,895)          160,646      

Prepaid insurance (1,710)              (13,312)      

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs (161,134)          (19,529)      

Inventory (13,626)            (797)           

     Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable 23,995             (12,498)      

Accrued expenses 2,884               -             

Credit card payable (140)                 140             

Deferred revenue 692,105           107,439      

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES 332,649           653,272      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans from sister company 8,484               (69,213)      

Member's distribution -                   (300,000)    

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES 8,484               (369,213)    

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 341,133           284,059      

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 414,578           130,519      

CASH AT END OF PERIOD 755,711$         414,578$    

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022
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SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

 

 

 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Nature of Operations 

 

Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC (the Company) is a registered limited liability company organized 

under the laws of the state of Texas.  It was organized on September 1, 2015 in Houston, Texas.  

The Company markets and operates franchise agreements for the “Sweet Paris Creperie” themed 

restaurants. 

   

Estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 

disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

Income Taxes 

 

The Company is treated as an “S” corporation for federal income tax purposes.  Consequently, 

federal income taxes are not payable by or provided for by the Company.  The member is taxed 

individually on the Company’s earnings.  State income taxes are accrued and expensed as incurred. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments 

available for current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist 

principally of temporary cash investments.  The Company places its temporary cash investments 

with banks that are FDIC insured.  As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, deposits exceeded the FDIC 

insurance limit by $505,599 and $174,447, respectively.    

 

Royalty Revenue Recognition 

 

Royalty revenue is recognized weekly when sales reports are submitted by the franchisees. 

 

Accounts Receivable 

 

Accounts receivable consist of contracted amounts based on franchisee balances for royalties and 

franchise fees.  As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, management believes all receivables to be 

collectable.  Therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been established. 
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DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

 

 

Revenue Recognition.  

 

From 2014 through 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued standards to 

provide principles within a single framework for revenue recognition of transactions involving 

contracts with customers across all industries ("Topic 606"). The Company adopted Topic 606 at 

the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2019. Below is a discussion of how the Company’s 

revenues are earned, the accounting policies pertaining to revenue recognition subsequent to the 

adoption of Topic 606 and other required disclosures. 

 

Franchise Revenues 

 

The timing and amount of revenue recognized related to royalties was not impacted by the adoption 

of Topic 606 based on the application of the sales-based royalty exception within Topic 606.  

 

Upon the adoption of Topic 606, the Company determined that the services provided in exchange 

for upfront franchise fees, which primarily relate to pre-opening support, are highly interrelated 

with the franchise right and are not individually distinct from the ongoing services the Company 

provides to the franchisees. As a result, upon the adoption of Topic 606, upfront franchise fees are 

recognized as revenue over the term of each respective franchise. Revenues for these upfront 

franchise fees are recognized on a straight-line basis, which is consistent with the franchisee’s right 

to use and benefit from the intellectual property. 

 

As such, initial franchise fees, are deferred and recognized over the term of the underlying franchise 

agreement. The effect of the required deferral of initial franchise fees received in a given year is 

mitigated by the recognition of revenue from fees retrospectively deferred from prior years and the 

amortization of capitalized incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs. 

 

Capitalized Contract Costs 

 

The benefits received from incentive payments made to brokers to sell franchises and brand-

specific non-transferable training costs related to servicing the franchise agreements are not 

separate and distinct from the benefits received from the franchise right and thus those expenses 

will be amortized as a reduction of revenue over the period of expected cash flows from the 

franchise agreements to which the payment relates. These standards require any such unamortized 

portion of expenses to be presented in the Balance Sheet as an asset. These are classified as 

capitalized contract costs on the Balance Sheet. 

 

System Ad Fund and Franchise Contributions 

 

The Company collects a 1% advertising royalty from its franchisees. This 1% contribution is 

accounted for separately to fund a franchise wide marketing program.  

 

In accordance with the provisions of Topic 606, the Company has determined that it acts as a 

principal in the transactions entered into for advertising services based on its responsibility to define 

the nature of the goods or services provided and/or its responsibility to define which franchisees 

receive the benefit of the goods or services. Additionally, the Company has determined the  
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advertising services provided to franchisees are highly interrelated with the franchise right and 

therefore not distinct. Franchisees remit to the Company a percentage of restaurant sales as 

consideration for providing the advertising services. As a result, revenues for advertising services 

are recognized when the related restaurant sales occur based on the application of the sales-based 

royalty exception within Topic 606. Revenues for these services are typically billed and paid on a 

weekly basis. These revenues are presented as franchise contributions in the revenue section and 

expenses incurred to provide these services are presented as franchise advertising expense in the 

expense section in the Statements of Income and Members’ Equity.  

 

Advertising Costs 

 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Leases  

 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") has issued standards on the recognition and 

measurement of leases that are intended to increase transparency and comparability among 

organizations by requiring that substantially all lease assets and liabilities be recognized on the 

balance sheet and by requiring the disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. The 

Company adopted these standards using a modified retrospective transition approach for leases 

existing at, or entered into after, December 31, 2021, and will not recast the comparative periods 

presented in the Financial Statements upon adoption.  

 

Right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized upon lease commencement for operating and 

finance leases based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Right-of-use assets 

represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities 

represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Subsequent 

amortization of the right-of-use asset and accretion of the lease liability for an operating lease is 

recognized as a single lease cost, on a straight-line basis, over the lease term. For finance leases, 

the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the useful life of the 

leased asset or lease term. Interest on each finance lease liability is determined as the amount that 

results in a constant periodic discount rate on the remaining balance of the liability. As the 

Company’s leases do not provide an implicit discount rate, the Company uses an incremental 

secured borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date, including the 

lease term and currency, in determining the present value of lease payments for both operating and 

finance leases. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded in the Balance 

Sheet; the Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with the Company’s long-lived 

asset impairment policy, which is performed annually or whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a said assets may not be recoverable. 

 

The Company’s leasing activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, is not material. 

As such no right-of-use assets or liabilities have been recognized.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022 

 

 

Subsequent Events 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, management has evaluated subsequent events for potential 

recognition and disclosure through March 11, 2024, which is the date the financial statements were 

available to be issued. 

 

NOTE 2 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

The Company shares an office facility with a related party company.  Additionally, personnel from 

this related party perform many functions of the company such as management and accounting.  A 

management fee in the amount of $58,468 and $29,457 has been recognized for these services as 

of December 31, 2023 and 2022.  As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there is a balance due to 

related parties for $10,692 and $2,208, respectively, for management fees and cash advances. As 

of December 31, 2023 and 2022, there is a balance due from related parties of $672,041 and 

$41,146.  

 

NOTE 3 – SYSTEM ADVERTISING FUND 

 

The Company collects a 1% advertising royalty from its franchisees.  This 1% contribution is 

accounted for separately to fund a franchise wide marketing program. For the year ended December 

31, 2023 and 2022, due to the adoption of Topic 606, these amounts require gross presentation in 

the Statements of Income and Members’ Equity. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 

the Company collected $167,017 and $134,910 in System Advertising Fund revenue and expensed 

$155,212 and $154,534, respectively.  

 

NOTE 4 – CONCENTRATION OF BUSINESS 

 

The Company’s revenue is solely derived from the sale of franchise rights and royalties from 

franchisees.  For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, all royalties were collected from 8 

and 7 locations, respectively, which accounted for 100% of revenue from royalties.    

 

NOTE 5 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the 

Company will continue as a going concern.  

 

In the first quarter of fiscal and calendar year 2020, the World Health Organization recognized the 

novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, as a pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, customers, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an 

economic downturn. A health pandemic is a disease outbreak that spreads rapidly and widely by 

infection and affects many individuals in an area or population at the same time. Customers might 

avoid public gathering places in the event of a health pandemic, and local, regional, or national 

governments might limit or ban public gatherings to halt or delay the spread of disease. 
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The conditions may impact customer traffic and the ability to adequately staff restaurants, receive 

deliveries on a timely basis or perform functions at the corporate level. The Company also may be 

adversely affected if jurisdictions in which the Company has franchises impose mandatory closures, 

seek voluntary closures, or impose restrictions on operations. Even if such measures are not 

implemented, the perceived risk of infection or significant health risk may adversely affect 

business. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the negative impact to the Company's business, 

revenues, financial condition or results of operations. 

 

NOTE 6 – SUMMARY OF FRANCHISE UNITS 

 

The changes in franchise ownership for fiscal years 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

 

 2023 2022  

Number of franchises sold 27 5  

Number of franchises purchased 0 0  

Number of franchised outlets in operation 8 7  

Number of franchisor-owned outlets in 

operation 
5 4  
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David P. Chaney, CPA, P.C. 

2500 E. TC Jester Blvd. 

Suite 258 

Houston, TX  77008 

713-868-1174 
  

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

To the Member: 

Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC 

 

Opinion 

 

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, (the 

“Company”) (a Texas limited liability corporation), which comprise the balance sheets as 

of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related statements of operations and member’s 

capital, and cash flows for years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related notes 

to the financial statements. 

 

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the 

results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 

2021, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

I conducted my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America. My responsibilities under those standards are further described 

in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my 

report. I am required to be independent of the Company and to meet my other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to my audits. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my audit opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 

financial statements are available to be issued. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 

but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial 

likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made 

by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, I: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence 

regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the 

overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in 

the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 

as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain 

internal control related matters that I identified during the audit. 

 

David P. Chaney, CPA, P.C. 
 

Houston, Texas 

March 3, 2023 
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See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2022 2021

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 414,578$    130,519$    

Accounts receivable 25,231        14,283        

Due from related parties 41,146        201,792      

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs, short-term 15,075        10,634        

Inventory 797             -              

Prepaid insurance 16,310        2,998          

Total current assets 513,137      360,226      

OTHER ASSETS

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs, long-term 81,853        66,765        

Total other asset 81,853        66,765        

TOTAL ASSETS 594,990$    426,991$    

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable 3,886$        16,384$      

Credit card payable 140             -              

Deferred revenue, short-term 56,750        41,000        

Loans from sister company 2,208          71,421        

Total current liabilities 62,984        128,805      

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue, long-term 355,182      263,493      

Total long-term liabilities 355,182      263,493      

TOTAL LIABILITIES 418,166      392,298      

MEMBER'S CAPITAL:

Managing member 176,824      34,693        

Total member's capital 176,824      34,693        

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S CAPITAL 594,990$    426,991$    

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021



 

5 

 
 

 

 

See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2022 2021

REVENUE:

Royalties 674,550$  571,877$  

Initial franchise sales 50,062      36,706      

Rebates -            23,327      

Sysco sign-up bonus -            30,000      

Total revenue 724,612    661,910    

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Advertising and promotion 51,470      42,675      

Automobile 6,523        8,974        

Bank fees 971           1,108        

Cost of franchise acquisition 13,730      11,686      

Dues 7,895        10,833      

Legal and professional fees 138,997    108,422    

Licenses and permits -            100           

Management fees 29,457      76,349      

Meals and entertainment 2,684        2,842        

Office 7,574        417           

Travel 3,556        316           

Total operating expenses 262,857    263,722    

System ad fund royalties 134,910    114,375    

System ad fund expenses (154,534)   (110,697)   

NET INCOME/(LOSS) 442,131    401,866    

MEMBER'S CAPITAL, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 34,693      (167,173)   

MEMBER'S CONTRIBUTION/(DISTRIBUTIONS) (300,000)   (200,000)   

MEMBER'S CAPITAL, END OF PERIOD 176,824$  34,693$    

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
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See accompanying notes and auditor’s report. 

2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income/(loss) 442,131$        401,866$  

Adjustments to reconcile excess of revenues

  over expenses to net cash provided/(used)

  by operating activities:

     Decrease (increase) in:

Accounts receivable (10,948)          (11,255)     

Due from related parties 160,646          (201,792)   

Prepaid insurance (13,312)          (2,813)       

Incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs (19,529)          10,570      

Inventory (797)               -            

     Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable (12,498)          6,511        

Credit card payable 140                 -            

Deferred revenue 107,439          24,652      

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES 653,272          227,739    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans from sister company (69,213)          (60,609)     

Member's distribution (300,000)        (200,000)   

NET CASH PROVIDED/(USED) BY

  FINANCING ACTIVITIES (369,213)        (260,609)   

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 284,059          (32,870)     

CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 130,519          163,389    

CASH AT END OF PERIOD 414,578$        130,519$  

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE LLC

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021
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NOTE 1 – NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Nature of Operations 

 

Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC (the Company) is a registered limited liability company organized 

under the laws of the state of Texas.  It was organized on September 1, 2015 in Houston, Texas.  

The Company markets and operates franchise agreements for the “Sweet Paris Creperie” themed 

restaurants. 

   

Estimates 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 

disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

Income Taxes 

 

The Company is treated as an “S” corporation for federal income tax purposes.  Consequently, 

federal income taxes are not payable by or provided for by the Company.  The member is taxed 

individually on the Company’s earnings.  State income taxes are accrued and expensed as incurred. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid investments 

available for current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist 

principally of temporary cash investments.  The Company places its temporary cash investments 

with banks that are FDIC insured.  As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, deposits exceeded the FDIC 

insurance limit by $174,447 and $-0-, respectively.    

 

Royalty Revenue Recognition 

 

Royalty revenue is recognized weekly when sales reports are submitted by the franchisees. 

 

Accounts Receivable 

 

Accounts receivable consist of contracted amounts based on franchisee balances for royalties and 

franchise fees.  As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, management believes all receivables to be 

collectable.  Therefore, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been established. 
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Revenue Recognition.  

 

From 2014 through 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued standards to 

provide principles within a single framework for revenue recognition of transactions involving 

contracts with customers across all industries ("Topic 606"). The Company adopted Topic 606 at 

the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2019. Below is a discussion of how the Company’s 

revenues are earned, the accounting policies pertaining to revenue recognition subsequent to the 

adoption of Topic 606 and other required disclosures. 

 

Franchise Revenues 

 

The timing and amount of revenue recognized related to royalties was not impacted by the adoption 

of Topic 606 based on the application of the sales-based royalty exception within Topic 606.  

 

Upon the adoption of Topic 606, the Company determined that the services provided in exchange 

for upfront franchise fees, which primarily relate to pre-opening support, are highly interrelated 

with the franchise right and are not individually distinct from the ongoing services the Company 

provides to the franchisees. As a result, upon the adoption of Topic 606, upfront franchise fees are 

recognized as revenue over the term of each respective franchise. Revenues for these upfront 

franchise fees are recognized on a straight-line basis, which is consistent with the franchisee’s right 

to use and benefit from the intellectual property. 

 

As such, initial franchise fees, are deferred and recognized over the term of the underlying franchise 

agreement. The effect of the required deferral of initial franchise fees received in a given year is 

mitigated by the recognition of revenue from fees retrospectively deferred from prior years and the 

amortization of capitalized incentive payments and franchisee servicing costs. 

 

Capitalized Contract Costs 

 

The benefits received from incentive payments made to brokers to sell franchises and brand-

specific non-transferable training costs related to servicing the franchise agreements are not 

separate and distinct from the benefits received from the franchise right and thus those expenses 

will be amortized as a reduction of revenue over the period of expected cash flows from the 

franchise agreements to which the payment relates. These standards require any such unamortized 

portion of expenses to be presented in the Balance Sheet as an asset. These are classified as 

capitalized contract costs on the Balance Sheet. 

 

System Ad Fund and Franchise Contributions 

 

The Company collects a 1% advertising royalty from its franchisees. This 1% contribution is 

accounted for separately to fund a franchise wide marketing program.  

 

In accordance with the provisions of Topic 606, the Company has determined that it acts as a 

principal in the transactions entered into for advertising services based on its responsibility to define 

the nature of the goods or services provided and/or its responsibility to define which franchisees 

receive the benefit of the goods or services. Additionally, the Company has determined the  



 

9 

SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 

advertising services provided to franchisees are highly interrelated with the franchise right and 

therefore not distinct. Franchisees remit to the Company a percentage of restaurant sales as 

consideration for providing the advertising services. As a result, revenues for advertising services 

are recognized when the related restaurant sales occur based on the application of the sales-based 

royalty exception within Topic 606. Revenues for these services are typically billed and paid on a 

weekly basis. These revenues are presented as franchise contributions in the revenue section and 

expenses incurred to provide these services are presented as franchise advertising expense in the 

expense section in the Statements of Income and Members’ Equity.  

 

Advertising Costs 

 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

Leases  

 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") has issued standards on the recognition and 

measurement of leases that are intended to increase transparency and comparability among 

organizations by requiring that substantially all lease assets and liabilities be recognized on the 

balance sheet and by requiring the disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. The 

Company adopted these standards using a modified retrospective transition approach for leases 

existing at, or entered into after, December 31, 2021, and will not recast the comparative periods 

presented in the Financial Statements upon adoption.  

 

Right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized upon lease commencement for operating and 

finance leases based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Right-of-use assets 

represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities 

represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Subsequent 

amortization of the right-of-use asset and accretion of the lease liability for an operating lease is 

recognized as a single lease cost, on a straight-line basis, over the lease term. For finance leases, 

the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the useful life of the 

leased asset or lease term. Interest on each finance lease liability is determined as the amount that 

results in a constant periodic discount rate on the remaining balance of the liability. As the 

Company’s leases do not provide an implicit discount rate, the Company uses an incremental 

secured borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date, including the 

lease term and currency, in determining the present value of lease payments for both operating and 

finance leases. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded in the Balance 

Sheet; the Company recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment in accordance with the Company’s long-lived 

asset impairment policy, which is performed annually or whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a said assets may not be recoverable. 

 

The Company’s leasing activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, is not material. As such no 

right-of-use assets or liabilities have been recognized in the current fiscal year.  
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Subsequent Events 

 

For the year ended December 31, 2022, management has evaluated subsequent events for potential 

recognition and disclosure through March 3, 2023, which is the date the financial statements were 

available to be issued. 

 

NOTE 2 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

The Company shares an office facility with a related party company.  Additionally, personnel from 

this related party perform many functions of the company such as management and accounting.  A 

management fee in the amount of $29,457 and $76,349 has been recognized for these services as 

of December 31, 2022 and 2021.  As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is a balance due to 

related parties for $2,208 and $71,421, respectively, for management fees and cash advances. As 

of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is a balance due from related parties of $41,146 and 

$201,792.  

 

NOTE 3 – SYSTEM ADVERTISING FUND 

 

The Company collects a 1% advertising royalty from its franchisees.  This 1% contribution is 

accounted for separately to fund a franchise wide marketing program. For the year ended December 

31, 2022 and 2021, due to the adoption of Topic 606, these amounts require gross presentation in 

the Statements of Income and Members’ Equity. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

the Company collected $134,910 and $114,375 in System Advertising Fund revenue and expensed 

$154,534 and $110,697, respectively.  

 

NOTE 4 – CONCENTRATION OF BUSINESS 

 

The Company’s revenue is solely derived from the sale of franchise rights and royalties from 

franchisees.  For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, all royalties were collected from 7 

and 6 locations, respectively, which accounted for 100% of revenue from royalties.    

 

NOTE 5 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the 

Company will continue as a going concern.  

 

In the first quarter of fiscal and calendar year 2020, the World Health Organization recognized the 

novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, as a pandemic. This contagious disease outbreak, which 

has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health developments, has adversely affected 

workforces, customers, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially leading to an 

economic downturn. A health pandemic is a disease outbreak that spreads rapidly and widely by 

infection and affects many individuals in an area or population at the same time. Customers might 

avoid public gathering places in the event of a health pandemic, and local, regional, or national 

governments might limit or ban public gatherings to halt or delay the spread of disease. 
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DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 

 

 

The conditions may impact customer traffic and the ability to adequately staff restaurants, receive 

deliveries on a timely basis or perform functions at the corporate level. The Company also may be 

adversely affected if jurisdictions in which the Company has franchises impose mandatory closures, 

seek voluntary closures, or impose restrictions on operations. Even if such measures are not 

implemented, the perceived risk of infection or significant health risk may adversely affect 

business. The Company cannot reasonably estimate the negative impact to the Company's business, 

revenues, financial condition or results of operations. 

 

NOTE 6 – SUMMARY OF FRANCHISE UNITS 

 

The changes in franchise ownership for fiscal years 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

 

 2022 2021  

Number of franchises sold 5 5  

Number of franchises purchased 0 0  

Number of franchised outlets in operation 7 6  

Number of franchisor-owned outlets in 

operation 
4 4  
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Franchise, LLC required by various state franchise laws.  Each provision of these additional 
disclosures will only apply to you if the applicable state franchise registration and disclosure law 
applies to you. 
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AMENDMENT TO SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AND AREA DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
1. THE CALIFORNIA FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES THAT A 

COPY OF ALL PROPOSED AGREEMENTS RELATING TO THE SALE OF THE 
FRANCHISE BE DELIVERED TOGETHER WITH THE DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT. 
 

2. SECTION 31125 OF THE FRANCHISE INVESTMENT LAW REQUIRES US TO 
GIVE YOU A DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT APPROVED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF 
FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND INNOVATION BEFORE WE ASK YOU TO CONSIDER 
A MATERIAL MODIFICATION OF YOUR FRANCHISE AGREEMENT. 
 

3. OUR WEBSITE, www.sweetparis.com, HAS NOT BEEN REVIEWED OR 
APPROVED BY THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL PROTECTION AND 
INNOVATION.  ANY COMPLAINTS CONCERNING THE CONTENT OF THE WEBSITE 
MAY BE DIRECTED TO THE CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL 
PROTECTION AND INNOVATION AT www.dfpi.ca.gov. 
 

4. The following is added at the end of Item 3: 
 

Neither we, our parent, predecessor or affiliates nor any person in Item 2 of the 
Disclosure Document is subject to any currently effective order of any national 
securities association or national securities exchange, as defined in the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.A. Sections 78a et seq., suspending or expelling 
such persons from membership in that association or exchange. 

5. Item 6 is amended by adding the following to the Remarks in the “Late Fee and 
Interest on Overdue Payments” section: 

 
The maximum allowable interest rate in California is 10% per annum. 
 
6. The following paragraphs are added at the end of Item 17: 

 
California Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 through 20043 provide 
rights to the franchisee concerning termination, transfer or nonrenewal of a 
franchise.  If the Franchise Agreement contains a provision that is inconsistent 
with the law, and the law applies, the law will control. 

The Franchise Agreement contains a covenant not to compete that extends beyond 
termination of the franchise.  This provision might not be enforceable under 
California law. 



 

3 
FDD-Sweet Paris-2023v32024v1 
 

The Franchise Agreement provides for termination upon bankruptcy.  This 
provision might not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law (11 U.S.C.A. 
Sections 101 et seq.). 

 
The Franchise Agreement requires application of the laws of the State of Texas.  
This provision might not be enforceable under California law. 
 
The Franchise Agreement requires pre-litigation mediation and arbitration.  The 
mediation and arbitration will be conducted at a suitable location chosen by the 
mediator or arbitrator, which is within a five (5) mile radius of our then-current 
principal place of business (currently Houston, Texas).  The Franchise Agreement 
also require that any action you bring be commenced in federal or state courts in 
the state, and in (or closest to) the county, where Franchisor’s headquarters are 
then located (currently Harris County, Texas).  Prospective franchisees are 
encouraged to consult private legal counsel to determine the applicability of 
California and federal laws (such as Business and Professions Code Section 
20040.5, Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281, and the Federal Arbitration Act) 
to any provisions of the Franchise Agreement restricting venue to a forum outside 
the State of California. 
 
The Franchise Agreement requires you to sign a general release of claims upon 
renewal or transfer of the Franchise Agreement.  California Corporations Code 
Section 31512 provides that any condition, stipulation or provision purporting to 
bind any person acquiring any franchise to waive compliance with any provision 
of that law or any rule or order thereunder is void.  Section 31512 might void a 
waiver of your rights under the Franchise Investment Law (California 
Corporations Code Section 31000 – 31516).  Business and Professions Code 
Section 20010 might void a waiver of your rights under the Franchise Relations 
Act (Business and Professions Code Sections 20000 – 20043). 
 
We have agreed that under the Franchise Agreement, the initial franchisee fee 
shall be deferred until we have met all material pre-opening obligations to you.  
The initial franchise fee shall become immediately due and payable at which time 
such material pre-opening obligations to you have been met. 
 
Exhibit G of the Franchise Agreement, titled “Franchisee Disclosure 
Acknowledgment Statement,” is hereby deleted and shall have no force or effect. 
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AMENDMENT TO SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT 

FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND 
 
 

The Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC Disclosure Document is amended as follows: 
 

1. Item 17 (v) is amended to state that a franchisee may bring a lawsuit in Maryland 
for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law.   

 
2. Item 17 is amended to state that any claims arising under the Maryland Franchise 

Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the franchise. 
 
3. Item 17 is amended to the effect that any general release required as a condition of 

renewal, sale, and/or assignment/transfer shall not apply to any liability under the Maryland 
Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

 
4. Any provision in the Agreements which provides for termination upon bankruptcy 

of the franchisee may not be enforceable under federal bankruptcy law. 
 
5. Item 5 is amended to include the following language:  Based upon the franchisor's 

financial condition, the Maryland Securities Commissioner has required a financial assurance. 
Therefore, all initial fees and payments owed by franchisees shall be deferred until the franchisor 
completes its pre-opening obligations under the Franchise Agreement.  In addition, all 
development fees and initial payments by area developers shall be deferred until the first franchise 
under the Area Development Agreement opens. 

 
 



 

5 
FDD-Sweet Paris-2023v32024v1 
 

AMENDMENT TO SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AND AREA DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

FOR THE STATE OF MARYLAND 
 

The Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC Disclosure Document (the “Disclosure Document”) and 
Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement between 
________________________________ (“Franchisee”) and Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a Texas 
limited liability company (“Sweet Paris”), dated ___________________ ___, 20___ (the 
“Agreements”) shall be amended by the addition of the following language, which shall be 
considered an integral part of the Disclosure Document and Agreements (this “Amendment”): 
 

The Maryland Securities Division requires that certain provisions contained in the 
Agreements be amended as follows: 
 

1. The Agreements are amended to permit a franchisee to bring a lawsuit in 
Maryland for claims arising under the Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

 
2. The Agreements are amended to state that any claims arising under the Maryland 

Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law must be brought within 3 years after the grant of the 
franchise. 

 
3. The Agreements are amended to the effect that any general release required as a 

condition of renewal, sale, and/or assignment/transfer shall not apply to any liability under the 
Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

 
4. Based upon the franchisor's financial condition, the Maryland Securities 

Commissioner has required a financial assurance. Therefore, all initial fees and payments owed 
by franchisees shall be deferred until the franchisor completes its pre-opening obligations under 
the Franchise Agreement.  In addition, all development fees and initial payments by area 
developers shall be deferred until the first franchise under the Area Development Agreement 
opens. 

 
5. The Agreements and the Franchisee Disclosure Acknowledgment Statement 

(Exhibit G to the Franchise Agreement) are amended to the effect that all representations 
requiring prospective franchisees to assent to a release, estoppel or waiver of liability are not 
intended to nor shall they act as a release, estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the 
Maryland Franchise Registration and Disclosure Law. 

6. Exhibit G of the Franchise Agreement, titled “Franchisee Disclosure 
Acknowledgment Statement,” is hereby deleted and shall have no force or effect. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have fully executed, sealed and delivered 
this Amendment to the Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreement on the ___ day of 
__________, 20__. 

FRANCHISOR: 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC, 
a Texas limited liability company 

 
 

By:        
Name:        
Title:        

 
FRANCHISEE: 
  

 
 

By:  
Name:  
Title:        
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AMENDMENT TO SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 

DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT, FRANCHISE AGREEMENT AND AREA DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT 

FOR THE STATE OF MINNESOTA 

The Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC Disclosure Document (the “Disclosure Document”) and 
Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement between 
_________________________________ (“Franchisee”) and Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a 
Texas limited liability company (“Sweet Paris”), dated __________________ ____, 20___ (the 
“Agreements”) shall be amended by the addition of the following language, which shall be 
considered an integral part of the Disclosure Document and Agreements (this “Amendment”): 

MINNESOTA LAW MODIFICATIONS 

1. The Minnesota Department of Commerce requires that certain provisions 
contained in franchise documents be amended to be consistent with the Minnesota Franchise 
Law, Minnesota Statute Chapter 80C, which regulates the sale of franchises to be located in 
Minnesota or to be sold to residents of Minnesota.  Registration is required by the franchisor 
offering and selling the franchise.  To the extent that the Disclosure Document and/or 
Agreements contain provisions that are inconsistent with the following, such provisions are 
hereby amended: 

a. The Agreements require the Franchisee to execute a release of claims or to 
acknowledge facts that would negate or remove from judicial review any statement, 
misrepresentation or action of Sweet Paris that would violate the Act, or a rule or order under the 
Act.  Minn. Rule 2860.4400D prohibits requiring a franchisee to assent to a general release.  Any 
release of claims or acknowledgment of fact contained in the Agreements that would negate or 
remove from judicial review any statement, misrepresentation or action that would violate the 
Minnesota Franchises Act or a rule or order promulgated thereunder shall be void with respect to 
claims arising under the Minnesota Franchises Act.   

b. The following language must amend the Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Venue, 
and Choice of Forum sections of the Franchise Disclosure Document and Agreements: 

“Minnesota Statutes, Section 80C.21 and Minnesota Rule 2860.4400(J) 
prohibit the franchisor from requiring litigation to be conducted outside 
Minnesota., requiring waiver of a jury trial, or requiring the franchisee to 
consent to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes.  
In addition, nothing in the Franchise Disclosure Document or 
agreement(s) can abrogate or reduce any of franchisee’s rights as provided 
for in Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 80C, or franchisee’s rights to any 
procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of the 
jurisdiction.” 
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c. The Minnesota Department of Commerce requires that Sweet Paris indemnify you 
against liability to third parties for infringement resulting from your use of the trademarks 
licensed under the Agreements.  Article 6.6 of the Franchise Agreement describes the 
circumstances under which Sweet Paris will indemnify you against third party liability for 
trademark infringement.  Requirements imposed under the Minnesota Franchises Act will 
supersede inconsistent provisions contained in Article 6.6 of the Franchise Agreement. 

d. Sec. 80C.17, Subd. 5 of the Minnesota Franchises Act provides that no action may 
be commenced thereunder more than three (3) years after the cause of action accrues.  To the 
extent that the Agreements conflict with this law, the Minnesota law will control. 

e. The Agreements contain certain provisions regarding termination and non-
renewal of franchise and notice and opportunity to cure.  To the extent any provision of the 
Agreements and/or the Disclosure Document are inconsistent with respect to franchises governed 
by Minnesota law, the franchisor will comply with Minn. Stat. Sec. 80C.14, Subds. 3, 4 and 5 
which require, except in certain specified cases, that a franchisee be given 90 days notice of 
termination (with 60 days to cure) and 180 days notice for non-renewal of the Franchise 
Agreement, those provisions of the Agreements and/or Disclosure Document are hereby 
amended accordingly.  Requirements imposed under the Minnesota Franchise Act will supersede 
inconsistent provisions contained in the Agreements. 

f. Any section of the Agreements (pertaining to liquidated damages) is hereby 
deleted; provided, that such deletion shall not excuse you from liability for actual or other 
damages and the formula for assessing liquidated damages shall be admissible in any litigation or 
proceeding as evidence of actual damages. 

g. Minn. Rule Part 2860.4400J prohibits a franchisee from waiving his rights to a 
jury trial or waiving his rights to any procedure, forum, or remedies provided for by the laws of 
the jurisdiction, or consenting to liquidated damages, termination penalties or judgment notes.  
To the extent that the Agreements conflict with this law, the Minnesota law will control. 

h. NSF checks are governed by Minnesota Statute 604.113, which puts a cap of $30 
on service charges. 

i. Exhibit G of the Franchise Agreement, titled “Franchisee Disclosure 
Acknowledgment Statement,” is hereby deleted and shall have no force or effect. 

2. Each provision of this Amendment shall be effective only to the extent that the 
jurisdictional requirements of Minnesota law applicable to the provisions are met independent of 
this Amendment.  This Amendment shall have no force or effect if such jurisdictional 
requirements are not met. 

3. As to any state law described in this Amendment that declares void or 
unenforceable any provision contained in the Agreements, Sweet Paris reserves the right to 
challenge the enforceability of the state law. 

4. All other provisions of the Agreements are hereby ratified and confirmed. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties acknowledge that they have read and understand 

the contents of this Amendment, that they have had the opportunity to obtain the advice of 
counsel.  Intending to be legally bound, the parties have fully and duly executed, sealed and 
delivered this Amendment on the ___ day of _____________, 20__. 

 FRANCHISOR: 
 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 
a Texas limited liability company 
 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
 
 
FRANCHISEE: 
 
  
 
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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AMENDMENT TO SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC 

DISCLOSURE DOCUMENT AND FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 
FOR THE STATE OF VIRGINIA 

 
 

The Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC Disclosure Document (the “Disclosure Document”) and 
Franchise Agreement and Area Development Agreement between 
________________________________ (“Franchisee”) and Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC, a Texas 
limited liability company (“Sweet Paris”), dated ___________________ ___, 20___ (the 
“Agreements”) shall be amended by the addition of the following language, which shall be 
considered an integral part of the Disclosure Document and Agreements (this “Amendment”): 

 
VIRGINIA LAW MODIFICATIONS 

 
1. The Virginia Securities Division requires that certain provisions contained in 

franchise documents be amended to be consistent with Virginia law, including the Retail 
Franchising Act, Sections 13.1-557 through 13.1-574 of the Virginia Code (the “Act”).  To the 
extent that the Disclosure Document and/or Agreements contain provisions that are inconsistent 
with the following, such provisions are hereby amended: 
 

a. The Agreements require the Franchisee to execute a release of claims or to 
acknowledge facts that would negate or remove from judicial review any statement, 
misrepresentation or action of Sweet Paris that would violate the Act, or a rule or order under the 
Act.  Such release shall exclude claims arising under the Act, and such acknowledgments shall 
be void with respect to claims under the Act. 

 
b. The Agreements designate a jurisdiction and venue outside of the State of 

Virginia.  This requirement shall not be interpreted to limit any rights that Franchisee may have 
under the Act to bring suit in the state of Virginia. 

 
c. The Agreements require prospective Franchisees to disclaim the occurrence and/or 

acknowledge the non-occurrence of acts that would constitute a violation of the Act in order to 
purchase our franchise.  Such representations are not intended to nor shall they act as a release, 
estoppel or waiver of any liability incurred under the Act. 

d. Any claims arising under the Act must be brought within 4 years after the grant of 
the franchise. 

e. The Agreements contain certain provisions regarding the termination and non-
renewal of a franchise.  To the extent any provision of this Agreements and/or the Disclosure 
Document are inconsistent with Section 13.1-565 of the Act, those provisions of the Agreements 
and/or Disclosure Document are hereby amended accordingly. 

g. In recognition of the restrictions contained in Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia 
Retail Franchising Act, the Franchise Disclosure Document for Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC for 
use in the Commonwealth of Virginia shall be amended as follows: 
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 Additional Disclosure.  The following statements are added to Item 17.h. 

 Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful 
for a franchisor to cancel a franchise without reasonable cause.  If any ground for default or 
termination stated in the Franchise Agreement does not constitute “reasonable cause,” as that 
term may be defined in the Virginia Retail Franchising Act or the laws of Virginia, that provision 
may not be enforceable. 

 Pursuant to Section 13.1-564 of the Virginia Retail Franchising Act, it is unlawful 
for a franchisor to use undue influence to induce a franchisee to surrender any right given to him 
under the franchise.  If any provision of the Franchise Agreement involves the use of undue 
influence by the franchisor to induce a franchisee to surrender any rights given to him under the 
franchise, that provision may not be enforceable. 

h. Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise: 

 Estimated Initial Investment. The franchisee will be required to make an 
estimated initial investment ranging from $819,260 to $1,217,550. This amount exceeds the 
franchisor's stockholders’ equity as of December 31, 2022, which is $176,824. 

g. Exhibit G of the Franchise Agreement, titled “Franchisee Disclosure 
Acknowledgment Statement,” is hereby deleted and shall have no force or effect. 

2. Each provision of this Amendment shall be effective only to the extent that the 
jurisdictional requirements of the Act, with respect to each such provision, are met independent 
of this Amendment.  This Amendment shall have no force or effect if such jurisdictional 
requirements are not met. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have fully executed, sealed and delivered 
this Amendment to the Disclosure Document and Franchise Agreement on the ___ day of 
______________, 20__. 

 
FRANCHISOR: 
 
SWEET PARIS FRANCHISE, LLC, 
a Texas limited liability company 

 
 
 

By:        
Name:        
Title:        

 
FRANCHISEE: 
 
  

 
 
 

By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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State Effective Dates 
 

The following states have franchise laws that require that the Franchise Disclosure 
Document be registered or filed with the state, or be exempt from registration: California, 
Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New York, North Dakota, Rhode 
Island, South Dakota, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin.  

 
This document is effective and may be used in the following states, where the document 

is filed, registered or exempt from registration, as of the Effective Date stated below: 
 

State Effective Date 
California   
Hawaii   
Illinois   
Indiana   
Maryland   
Michigan   
Minnesota  May 25, 2023 
New York   
North Dakota   
Rhode Island   
South Dakota   
Virginia  May 31, 2023 
Washington   
Wisconsin   

 
Other states may require registration, filing, or exemption of a franchise under other laws, 

such as those that regulate the offer and sale of business opportunities or seller-assisted 
marketing plans.
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Item 23 
 

RECEIPT 
 

This Disclosure Document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other 
information in plain language.  Read this Disclosure Document and all agreements carefully. 
 
If Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this Disclosure Document to you 
14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an 
affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.  [However, some state franchise laws require 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC to provide this Disclosure Document to you at the first personal meeting 
held to discuss the franchise sale or at least 10 business days before you sign a binding agreement with, 
or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.] 
 
If Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC does not deliver this Disclosure Document on time or if it contains a false 
or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have 
occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the 
appropriate state agency identified on Exhibit A. 
 
The name, principal business address, and telephone number of each franchise seller offering the 
franchise are as follows:  Ivan Chavez, Allison Chavez, Alberto Landero and Scott Haehnel, Sweet Paris 
Franchise, LLC, 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027, (713) 234-6855; and  
             . 
 
Issuance Date:  April 13, 202325, 2024. 
 
We authorize the respective state agents identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process for us in 
the particular states. 
 
I received a Disclosure Document from Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC dated as of April 13, 202325, 2024, 
that included the following Exhibits: 

 
Exhibit A State Administrators/Agents for Service of Process 
Exhibit B Franchise Agreement 
Exhibit C Area Development Agreement 
Exhibit D Financial Statements 
Exhibit E Table of Contents – Operations Manual 
Exhibit F State Specific Addendum 

 
   
Date  Prospective Franchisee [Print Name] 
   
   
(Date, Sign, and Return)  Prospective Franchisee [Signature] 
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Item 23 
 

RECEIPT 
 

This Disclosure Document summarizes certain provisions of the franchise agreement and other 
information in plain language.  Read this Disclosure Document and all agreements carefully. 
 
If Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC offers you a franchise, it must provide this Disclosure Document to you 
14 calendar-days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make a payment to, the franchisor or an 
affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.  [However, some state franchise laws require 
Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC to provide this Disclosure Document to you at the first personal meeting 
held to discuss the franchise sale or at least 10 business days before you sign a binding agreement with, 
or make a payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.] 
 
If Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC does not deliver this Disclosure Document on time or if it contains a false 
or misleading statement, or a material omission, a violation of federal law and state law may have 
occurred and should be reported to the Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C. 20580 and the 
appropriate state agency identified on Exhibit A. 
 
The name, principal business address, and telephone number of each franchise seller offering the 
franchise are as follows:  Ivan Chavez, Allison Chavez, Alberto Landero and Scott Haehnel, Sweet Paris 
Franchise, LLC, 4400 Post Oak Parkway, Suite 2250, Houston, Texas 77027, (713) 234-6855; and  
             . 
 
Issuance Date:  April 13, 202325, 2024. 
 
We authorize the respective state agents identified on Exhibit A to receive service of process for us in 
the particular states. 
 
I received a Disclosure Document from Sweet Paris Franchise, LLC dated as of April 13, 202325, 2024, 
that included the following Exhibits: 

 
Exhibit A State Administrators/Agents for Service of Process 
Exhibit B Franchise Agreement 
Exhibit C Area Development Agreement 
Exhibit D Financial Statements 
Exhibit E Table of Contents – Operations Manual 
Exhibit F State Specific Addendum 

 
   
Date  Prospective Franchisee [Print Name] 
   
   
(Date, Sign, and Keep for your Records)  Prospective Franchisee [Signature] 
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	1. INTRODUCTION.  This Agreement is being presented to you because of the desire you have expressed to obtain the right to develop, own and be franchised to operate, Sweet Paris Crêperie & Cafés (each a “Sweet Paris Crêperie”) featuring crêpes, waffle...
	2. GRANT OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS.  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, we grant you the right to develop _______ Sweet Paris Crêperies (the “Crêperies”) within the geographical area described in Exhibit A to this Agreement (the “Development Are...
	3. RIGHTS IN DEVELOPMENT AREA.  Provided you are in full compliance with all the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement, including, without limitation, your development obligations contained in Section 4, and are in full compliance with all ...
	4. DEVELOPMENT OBLIGATIONS.  To maintain your rights under this Agreement, you must, by the dates set forth under the development schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Development Schedule”), have executed the lease or purchase contracts for the...
	5. DEVELOPMENT FEE.  As consideration for the rights granted under this Agreement, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, you will pay us $_____________ corresponding to an amount equal to 100% of the initial franchise fee payable for th...
	6. GRANT OF FRANCHISES.  We will grant you franchises for the operation of the Crêperies within the Development Area, subject to the following requirements:
	(a) For each site at which you propose to establish and operate a Crêperie and which you believe in good faith to conform to site selection criteria established by us from time to time (a “Proposed Site”), you must submit to us, in a form specified by...
	(b) Upon our approval of a Proposed Site for a Crêperie, you must obtain lawful possession of the Approved Site through purchase or lease.  Any lease or purchase contract for an Approved Site must be approved by us.  You agree to give us not less than...
	(c) You must furnish to us such financial statements and other information regarding the development and operation of a proposed Crêperie as we may reasonably require.  You understand and agree that we may refuse to grant to you a franchise for a prop...
	(d) You agree to maintain sufficient financial resources to fulfill your obligations under this Agreement and under Franchise Agreements executed under this Agreement.  You must submit for approval, from time to time at our request, a written plan for...

	7. TERM.  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement shall be for a term commencing on the Agreement Date and expiring on the date upon which you must complete development of the Development Area as set forth in the Development Schedule.
	8. TERMINATION.  We may terminate this Agreement and your rights to further develop Crêperies, effective upon delivery of notice of termination to you, if:
	(a) You have failed to make any payments due to us under this Agreement and do not correct such failure within 10 days after written notice of that failure is delivered to you;
	(b) You fail to comply with any provision of this Agreement, including but not limited to your development obligations, and do not correct such failure within 30 days after written notice is delivered to you;
	(c) You become insolvent, make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or you are unable to pay your debts as they become due;
	(d) You (or any of your owners) have made any material misrepresentation or omission in your application for the development rights conferred by this Agreement or are convicted of or plead no contest to a felony or other crime or offense that may adve...
	(e) You or your owners make an authorized direct or indirect transfer of this Agreement or an ownership interest in this Agreement; or
	(f) We have delivered to you a notice of termination of a Franchise Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions.

	9. ASSIGNMENT BY THE COMPANY.  This Agreement is fully transferable by us, without the need for your consent, and will inure to the benefit of any person or entity to whom it is transferred, or to any other legal successor to our interests in this Agr...
	10. ASSIGNMENT BY DEVELOPER.  You understand and acknowledge that the rights and duties created by this Agreement are personal to you and your owners and that we have entered into this Agreement because of the individual or collective character, skill...
	11. NO WARRANTY OR GUARANTEES.  You acknowledge that you have not received or relied upon any information, express or implied, as to the revenues, profits or success of the business venture contemplated by this Agreement other than as set forth in our...
	12. SEVERABILITY AND SUBSTITUTION OF VALID PROVISIONS.  Except as expressly provided to the contrary herein, each section, paragraph, term and provision of this Agreement, and any portion thereof, will be considered severable, and if, for any reason, ...
	13. WAIVER OF OBLIGATIONS.  If at any time we do not exercise a right or power available to us under this Agreement or do not insist on your strict compliance with the terms of the Agreement, or if there develops a custom or practice which is at varia...
	14. COSTS AND ATTORNEYS’ FEES.  If we incur expenses in connection with your failure to pay when due amounts owed to us or otherwise to comply with this Agreement, you agree to reimburse us for any of the costs and expenses which we incur, including, ...
	15. YOU MAY NOT WITHHOLD PAYMENTS DUE TO US.  You agree that you will not withhold payment of any amounts owed to us on the grounds of our alleged nonperformance of any of our obligations hereunder.  You agree that all such claims will, if not otherwi...
	16. RIGHTS OF PARTIES ARE CUMULATIVE.  The rights and remedies specifically granted to either you or us by this Agreement will not be deemed to prohibit either of us from exercising any other right or remedy provided under this Agreement or permitted ...
	17. ARBITRATION.  Except insofar as we elect to enforce this Agreement or any other related agreement, all controversies, disputes or claims arising between the Company, its affiliates, officers, directors, agents, employees and attorneys (in their re...
	18. GOVERNING LAW.  Except to the extent governed by the United States Trademark Act of 1946, this Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted and construed under Texas law (except for Texas conflict of law rules); provided however, that any law go...
	19. CONSENT TO JURISDICTION.  Subject to the arbitration obligations in Section 17, any judicial action must be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the state, and in (or closest to) the county, where our headquarters are then located.  Eac...
	20. WAIVER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES AND JURY TRIAL.  The parties to this Agreement hereby waive to the fullest extent permitted by law any right to or claim for any punitive or exemplary damages against the other and agree that in the event of a dispute be...
	21. NOTICES.  All written notices, reports and payments permitted or required under this Agreement will be deemed delivered at the time of delivery by express courier or messenger service, 1 business day after sending by facsimile transmission or comp...
	22. LIMITATION.  Any and all claims and actions arising out of or relating to this Agreement and/or the relationship of the parties, brought by either party hereto against the other, whether in mediation, in arbitration or in court, shall be commenced...
	23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; BINDING EFFECT.  This Agreement, together with the introduction, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter of this Agreement, and there are no other oral or written understandings or agree...
	24. CONSTRUCTION.  All headings of the various sections and paragraphs of this Agreement are for convenience only and do not affect the meaning or construction of any provision.  All references in this Agreement to masculine, neuter or singular usage ...
	25. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS.
	(a) You acknowledge that you received the disclosure document required by the Trade Regulation Rule of the Federal Trade Commission entitled “Disclosure Requirements and Prohibitions Concerning Franchising”, otherwise known as the Franchise Disclosure...
	(b) You acknowledge that you have read and understood our FDD and this Agreement, the attachments hereto, and agreements relating thereto, if any, and that we have accorded you ample time and opportunity to consult with advisors of your own choosing a...
	(c) You acknowledge and agree that we may modify the offer of our franchise to other area developers and franchisees in any manner and at any time, which offers and agreements have or may have terms, conditions, and obligations that may differ from th...
	(d) We and you acknowledge that each provision in this Agreement has been negotiated by the parties hereto in good faith and the Agreement shall be deemed to have been drafted by both parties.  It is further acknowledged that both parties intend to en...
	(e) You represent and warrant that to your actual knowledge: (i) neither you, nor your officers, directors, managers, members, partners or other individual who manages the affairs of you, nor any affiliate or related party, or any funding source for t...
	(f) Delivery of a copy of this Agreement bearing (i) an original signature by facsimile transmission, (ii) an original signature by electronic mail in “portable document format” form or (iii) an electronic signature facilitated by a digital transactio...


	FDD-Sweet Paris-2024v1-REDLINE (No Exhibits)
	Financial Audit-12-31-23
	Financial Audit-12-31-22
	FDD-Sweet Paris-2024v1-REDLINE (No Exhibits)
	Table of Contents-Operating Manuals
	Total Pages – 186
	Food Safety and Sanitation (19 pages)
	Opening and Closing Procedures (12 pages)
	Prepping Produce and Proteins (13 pages)
	Prepping Batters and Sauces (19 pages)
	Preparing Crepe Fillings (9 pages)
	Preparing Crepe of the Month Fillings and Sauces (13 pages)
	Preparing Paninis and Soups (6 pages)
	Making an Order: Breakfast Items (15 pages)
	Making an Order: Waffles (13 pages)
	Making an Order: Savory Crepes (21 pages)
	Making an Order: Sweet Crepes (16 pages)
	Making an Order: Kid’s Crepes (5 pages)
	Making an Order: Crepe of the Month (3 pages)
	Making an Order: Soups, Salads, and Paninis (6 pages)
	Cleaning Procedures (16 pages)

	FDD-Sweet Paris-2024v1-REDLINE (No Exhibits)

